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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

T.R., a minor, individually, by and through hTr
parent, Barbara Galarza, and on behalf of all
others similarly situated,

Barbara Galarza, individually, and on behalf
of all others similarly situated,

A.G., a minor, individually, by and through his
parent, Margarita Peralta, and on behalf of g
others similarly situated,

Civil Action No. 15-04782-MSG
Margarita Peralta, individually, and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiffs,
V.

The School District of Philadelphig

Defendant.

PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE
AMENDED COMPLAINT TO ADD NEW PLAINTIFES

Plaintiffs T.R. and her mother, Barbara Galarzal ArG. and his guardian, Margarita
Peralta (collectively, “Plaintiffs”), by and throhgheir undersigned attorneys and pursuant to
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 15 and 21, hemsbye this Court for leave to file an amended
complaint to add new plaintiffs. In support ofstimnotion, which has been filed in accordance
with the Court’s Scheduling Order, as amended byR#bruary 3, 2017 Stipulation and Order
(Dkt. 42), Plaintiffs incorporate herein by refecerthe accompanying Memorandum of Law and

Exhibits.
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Dated: March 27, 2017

Michael Churchill (1.D. No. 04661)

Dan Urevick-Ackelsberg (I.D. No. 307758)
PUBLIC INTEREST LAW CENTER

1709 Benjamin Franklin Parkway

Second Floor

Philadelphia, PA 19103

Telephone: (215) 627-7100

Facsimile: (215) 627-3183
mchurchill@pilcop.org
dackelsberg@pilcop.org

Maura Mclnerney (1.D. No. 71468)
EDUCATION LAW CENTER
1315 Walnut Street, 4th Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19107
Telephone: 215-238-6970
mmcinerney@elc-pa.org

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Paul H. Saint-Antoine

Paul H. Saint-Antoine (I.D. No. 56224)
Chanda A. Miller (1.D. No. 206491)
Carol F. Trevey (I.D. No. 312087)
Lucas B. Michelen (I.D. No. 318585)
DRINKER BIDDLE & REATH LLP
One Logan Square, Suite 2000
Philadelphia, PA 19103-6996
Telephone: (215) 988-2700
Facsimile: (215) 988-2757
paul.saint-antoine@dbr.com
chanda.miller@dbr.com
carol.trevey@dbr.com
lucas.michelen@dbr.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

T.R., a minor, individually, by and through hTr
parent, Barbara Galarza, and on behalf of all
others similarly situated,

Barbara Galarza, individually, and on behalf
of all others similarly situated,

A.G., a minor, individually, by and through his
parent, Margarita Peralta, and on behalf of g
others similarly situated,

Civil Action No. 15-04782-MSG

Margarita Peralta, individually, and on

behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiffs,

V.

The School District of Philadelphig

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION  FOR
LEAVE TO FILE AMENDED COMPLAINT TO ADD NEW PLAINTIF ES

Plaintiffs submit this memorandum of law in suppafrtheir Motion for Leave to File
Amended Complaint to Add New Plaintiffs, pursuanRules 15(a) and 21 of the Federal Rules
of Civil Proceduré. The proposed additional Plaintiffs are J.R., DLRR., and their mother,
Madeline Perez, and R.H. and his mother, Manqimg Li

As with Plaintiffs T.R. and A.G., the four new “Stent Plaintiffs” have been students in

the School District of Philadelphia with disabéii who are entitled to an Individualized

! The proposed First Amended Complaint with exhitsitattached hereto as Exhibit A, and a redlinepamison to
the original Complaint is attached hereto as Extbi On Friday, March 24, 2017, Plaintiffs reqeesthe
District’s consent to this motion for leave andyded counsel with a copy of the proposed Amendewh@laint
today. Counsel for the District has not yet stategosition on whether it consents or not to thigion for leave.
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Education Program ( “IEP”) pursuant to the Indiatgiwith Disabilities Education Act
(“IDEA”"), 20 U.S.C. § 140Gt seq. Both of the new “Parent Plaintiffs” are Limitechddish
Proficient (or “LEP”). As with Plaintiffs Barbar@alarza and Margarita Peralta, the Defendant
School District of Philadelphia (the “District”) faystematically failed to provide adequate
translation and interpretation services to meenteds of Madeline Perez and Manqing Lin,
including during the IEP process, and thereforeide@d them both of their rights to participate
meaningfully in the process of developing an IEPtheir children. The proposed additional
Plaintiffs seek to assert on behalf of themselvesathers similarly situated in this action the
same claims as the original Plaintiffs under thEADand under other federal and state laws.

This Motion has been filed within the deadline lsgthe Court for “[a]ll motions to
amend the Complaint and to join or add additiomatips,”see Stipulation and Proposed Order
2, Feb. 3, 2017, ECF No. 42, and there is no updejadice to the District. Accordingly,
Plaintiffs respectfully request leave to file th@posed First Amended Class Action Complaint
(“Amended Complaint”) to add the six new Plaintiffs

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On August 21, 2015, the original Plaintiffs, on ailof themselves and others similarly
situated, brought this action against the Schositrigt of Philadelphia (the “District”) to address
its alleged system-wide failure to provide cerfaigally mandated translation and interpretation
services. In particular, the Plaintiffs seek irgtive relief, pursuant to Rule 23(b)(2) of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, to ensure thaegma who have limited English proficiency
can participate meaningfully in the IEP processlif@ir children with disabilities, as mandated
by the IDEA. In the initial Complaint, Plaintiffequested such injunctive relief for members of

a proposed “Parent Class” and a proposed “StudassC based on seven causes of action:
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Counts | and Il (IDEA); Count Il (Section 504 dfe Rehabilitation Act); Count IV (Equal
Education Opportunity Act); Count V (Title VI oféhCivil Rights Act of 1964); Count VI (22
Pennsylvania Code Chapter 14); and Count VII (2iBgvania Code Chapter 15).

The District moved to dismiss each of the Plaistiflaims, based in part on the
argument that the putative members of the Studlsis@Gnd the Parent Class had failed to
exhaust their administrative remedies. On Nover80e2016, following briefing and oral
argument, the Court denied in its entirety the ss motion to dismiss the Complaint. As to
the exhaustion argument, the Court held that:tHiatstage, the Complaint’s allegations must be
accepted as true and, viewed in this light, theeeadequate allegations of a systemic violation
of the IDEA. As such, the members of the Paredt@tudent Class will be excused from
exhausting their administrative remedies.” Mem. O ECF No. 30.

The District filed its Answer, Affirmative Defensesnd Counterclaims to Plaintiffs’
Complaint on December 30, 2016, and the Plairfiig their response to the Counterclaims on
January 20, 2017.

On January 26, 2017, following a preliminary padtaonference, the Court issued its
Scheduling Order (ECF No. 40) in this action. Treler provides that fact discovery on class
and/or merits issues shall close on October 257 2@l Stipulation and Order, dated February
3, 2017, the Court amended paragraph two of thedadimg Order and extended the deadline to
March 27, 2017 to file a motion to amend the Coinpland to join or add additional parties.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 15(a)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Proaedallows a plaintiff to amend its

complaint with the opposing party’s consent ord¢bart’s leave, and “[t]he court should freely

20n January 16, 2016, the United States of Amepigesuant to 28 U.S.C. § 517, filed a statemeinitefest with
respect to the Plaintiffs’ Title VI and EEOA claims

3
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give leave when justice so requires.” The U.S.r&ume Court held that, absent evidence of
“undue delay, bad faith or dilatory motive on ttetpf the movant, repeated failure to cure
deficiencies by amendments previously allowed, erghejudice to the opposing party by virtue
of allowance of the amendment, futility of amendmetc.,” leave to amend should be granted.
Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962¢e also Arthur v. Maersk, Inc., 434 F.3d 196, 202
(3d Cir. 2006) (“Federal Rule of Civil Proceduredmbodies a liberal approach to pleading.”).
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 21 also provides:ttfOn motion or on its own, the
court may at any time, on just terms, add or drppray.”
ARGUMENT

THE PROPOSED NEW NAMED PLAINTIFFS ASSERT THE SAME SYSTEMIC
CLAIMS AGAINST THE DISTRICT FOR LANGUAGE SERVICES.

As described in greater detail below, the proposad Student Plaintiffs are all enrolled
in the District but are younger than the originaldgnt Plaintiffs, T.R. and A.G., and in the case
of proposed new Parent Plaintiff Manqging Lin and $@n, R.H., speak a different language
(Mandarin Chinese) than the original Plaintiffs(@&panish). However, as LEP parents of
children with disabilities, the new Parent Plaiistéssert the same allegations of a systemic
failure on the part of the District to provide adate translation and interpretation services,
which has deprived them of their right to partit@aneaningfully in the IEP process and has
deprived the new Student Plaintiffs of their righta Free and Appropriate Public Education

(“FAPE”). No new counts have been added to th@@sed First Amended Complaint; the legal

% Rule 15(a) amendments can include the additi@nstistitution, or the dropping of partie3e 6 Charles Alan
Wright & Arthur F. Miller, Federal Practice anddeedure § 1474 (3d ed. 2008) (“[A] party may malkuse 15(a)
amendment to add, substitute, or drop partiesé¢@ttion.”). The same standard for such amendnuerttsr Rule
15(a) applies to adding or dropping parties undgeR1. See, e.g., Jackson v. Rohm & Haas Co., No. CIV.A. 05-
4988, 2006 WL 3761981, at *1 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 19,62@Rule 15(a) and Rule 21 employ the same stahfiar
determining whether leave should be granted.”).

4
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claims and legal theories of the proposed new Hfgimre the same as those of the original
Plaintiffs.

A. Madeline Perez and Her Children, J.R., D.R., and IR.

Proposed new Parent Plaintiff Madeline Perez masgdd English proficiency and can
only read simple words or phrases in English. &X¥roposed Am. Compl. §{ 27, 90. Ms.
Perez has three children with disabilities; they/thie proposed new Student Plaintiffs J.R. (age
13), D.R. (age 14), and L.R. (age 1&J. 11 24-27. After moving to Philadelphia from Paert
Rico in 2012, J.R., D.R., and L.R. enrolled in sulkon the District.Id. {1 87, 89, 91. Despite
Ms. Perez’s requests for translations of her caidy evaluation reports and educational plans
into Spanish, the District has failed to do so had informed Ms. Perez that it is unable to
translate more than the section headings of theserdents.ld. 1 88-89, 92-94. Because of
the insufficiency of the District’s translation amderpretation services, Ms. Perez has not been
able to understand the services her children aeviag and has been unable to participate
meaningfully in the IEP processd. 11 90, 95-96.

Ms. Perez is a member of the putative “Parent Classdefined in paragraph 41(A) of
the Complaint and paragraph 51(A) of the proposeddt Bmended Complaint. Her three
children, J.R., D.R. and L.R., are members of ttafve “Student Class,” as defined in
paragraph 41(B) of the Complaint and paragraph pbaf{Bhe proposed First Amended
Complaint. As members of, respectively, the Pa@ass and the Student Class, Ms. Perez and
her children are excused from exhausting their athtnative remedies, because plaintiffs in
IDEA cases may bypass the administrative processenxhaustion would be “futile or
inadequate.”See Honig v. Doe, 484 U.S. 305, 327 (1988). In this case, the iHgaDfficer for
the original Plaintiffs expressly found and thisu@tgpreviously held that the administrative

process does not provide an adequate remedy faildged systemic deficiencies in language

5
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services.See Mem. Op. 11 n.7 (“The Hearing Officer’s finding pides additional support for
my conclusion that the administrative process i;xadequate mechanism for resolving the
supposedly systemic deficiencies Plaintiffs hawenidied.” (citing Komninos by Komninos

v. Upper Saddle River Bd. of Educ., 13 F.3d 775, 778 (3d Cir. 1994))).

B. Manging Lin and Son, R.H.

Proposed new Parent Plaintiff Manqing Lin is theep&of proposed new Student
Plaintiff R.H. (age 5), a Kindergarten student wdikabilities, including autism, and a gift for
mathematics. EX. A, Proposed Am. Confj§l.28-29, 97, 99. For the non-verbal portion ef th
Kaufman Brief Intelligence test, R.H.’s scores pltim in the 99.9% superior range for
aptitude in math.ld. 11 28, 99. Ms. Lin speaks and reads Mandarin Ghiaed has limited
English proficiency; additionally, R.H.’s father derstands very little spoken English and
neither reads nor writes Englishd. 1 29, 100. Since R.H. transitioned to Kindergaftem
early intervention services, the District has faile provide Ms. Lin with complete translations
of forms, evaluations, and educational plans inemtfarin. Am. Compl. 11 100-05. Most
recently, the District has refused to translateopsed evaluation reports or to translate more
than the section titles of proposed educationalglalaiming that it had agree only to translate
“final” documents for her.ld. 1 104-05. Without fully translated proposed eatibns or
educational plans, Ms. Lin is unable to meaningtuticipate in IEP meetings and ensure that
the District addresses R.H.’s special educatiomsiekl. § 106.

Ms. Lin is a member of the putative Parent Claskl. B a member of the putative
Student Class, and for the reasons discussed aéheyare both excused from exhausting their

administrative remedies.
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Il. THE MOTION FOR LEAVE IS TIMELY AND DOES NOT PREJUDI CE THE
DISTRICT

The proposed amendment to the Complaint will noseaany prejudice to the District.
The parties are in the early stages of fact disgov&he District served their responses to the
Plaintiffs’ written discovery on March 8, 2017, athety are still in the process of collecting
responsive documents. The Plaintiffs’ discovegpomses are currently due on April 14, 2017,
and they will promptly supplement any responses e addition of the new Plaintiffs.

Nor will the proposed amendment cause any delélyenmesolution of the action.
Plaintiffs are not seeking any adjustment in therall fact or expect discovery schedules as part
of their motion for leave to file the Amended Coaipt, and they do not foresee any reason why
the addition of the new Parent Plaintiffs and Shtddaintiffs would require such an adjustment.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs respectfudiguest that this Court grant their

Motion for Leave to File Amended Complaint to Adéw Plaintiffs.

Dated: March 27, 2017 Respectfully submitted,

s/ Paul H. Saint-Antoine
Michael Churchill (1.D. No. 04661) Paul H. Saint-Antoine (I.D. No. 56224)
Dan Urevick-Ackelsberg (1.D. No. 307758) Chanda A. Miller (1.D. No. 206491)
PUBLIC INTEREST LAW CENTER Carol F. Trevey (I.D. No. 312087)
1709 Benjamin Franklin Parkway Lucas B. Michelen (1.D. No. 318585)
Second Floor DRINKER BIDDLE & REATH LLP
Philadelphia, PA 19103 One Logan Square, Suite 2000
Telephone: (215) 627-7100 Philadelphia, PA 19103-6996
Facsimile: (215) 627-3183 Telephone: (215) 988-2700
mchurchill@pilcop.org Facsimile: (215) 988-2757
dackelsberg@pilcop.org paul.saint-antoine@dbr.com

chanda.miller@dbr.com

Maura Mclnerney (1.D. No. 71468) carol.trevey@dbr.com
EDUCATION LAW CENTER lucas.michelen@dbr.com

1315 Walnut Street, 4th Floor

Philadelphia, PA 19107

Telephone: 215-238-6970

mmcinerney@elc-pa.org Attorneys for Plaintiffs

7
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| hereby certify that a true and correct copy @litiffs’ Motion for Leave to File
Amended Complaint to Add New Plaintiffs and accompag Memorandum of Law, Exhibits,
and Proposed Order have been filed electronicailyguthe Court’s Electronic Case Filing
("ECF”) System, which sent a notice of filing adtyto all attorneys of record. These

documents are available for viewing and downloadingh the Court’'s ECF System.

Dated: March 27, 2017 s/ Paul H. Saint-Antoine
Paul H. Saint-Antoine
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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

T.R., a minor, individually, by and through hTr
parent, Barbara Galarza, and on behalf of all
others similarly situated,

Barbara Galarza, individually, and on behalf
of all others similarly situated,

A.G., a minor, individually, by and through his
parent, Margarita Peralta, and on behalf of g
others similarly situated,

Civil Action No. 15-04782-MSG
M argarita Peralta, individually, and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiffs,
V.

The School District of Philadelphia,

Defendant.

[PROPOSED] ORDER

AND NOW, this day of 2Qpan consideration of

Plaintiffs’ Motion for Leave to File Amended Compiato Add New Plaintiffs, accompanying
Memorandum of Law and Exhibits, and Defendant'poese thereto, it is HEREBY
ORDERED that Plaintiffs’ Motion is GRANTED. The &k is directed to file Plaintiffs’ First
Amended Complaint with exhibits, attached as ExhAbio their Memorandum of Law; and add
the additional parties identified therein as pgigintiffs on the docket for the above-captioned

matter.

Hon. Mitchell S. Goldberg, J.
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EXHIBIT A
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

T.R., a minor, individually, by and through hTr
parent, Barbara Galarza, and on behalf of all
others similarly situated,

Barbara Galarza, individually, and on behalf
of all others similarly situated,

A.G., a minor, individually, by and through his
parent, Margarita Peralta, and on behalf of 3
others similarly situated,

Margarita Peralta, individually, and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,

[72)

L.R., a minor, individually, by and through hi
parent, Madeline Perez, and on behalf of all
others similarly situated,

D.R., a minor, individually, by and through her
parent, Madeline Perez, and on behalf of all| Civil Action No. 15-04782-MSG
others similarly situated,
J.R., a minor, individually, by and through his FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION
parent, Madeline Perez, and on behalf of alll COMPLAINT

others similarly situated,

Madeline Perez individually, and on behalf of
all others similarly situated,

R.H., a minor, individually, by and through his
parent, Manging Lin, and on behalf of all
others similarly situated,

Manging Lin, individually, and on behalf of
all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,
V.
The School District of Philadelphia,

Defendant.
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l. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. The School District of Philadelphia (“District”)ke the City of Philadelphia, is a
richly diverse community and includes at least 26,6tudents from families who speak
languages other than English. A significant petaga of these families include children with
disabilities who are entitled to individualized edtion programs. Yet, the parents are unable to
participate meaningfully in the development of tledildren’s education programs, because the
District has systematically failed in its legal gud translate essential planning documents and to
provide sufficient interpretation services.

2. Plaintiff T.R., who does not speak English fluenthas improperly evaluated
only in English, leading to her being incorrectgntified as having an intellectual disability.
Her parent, Barbara Galarza, was deprived of sefficoral interpretation and translation of that
evaluation. As a result, T.R. did not receive appiate educational services and was left
without any educational services for a prolongedboleof time.

3. In the case of Plaintiff A.G., the District did nexaluate him for disabilities until
after a Family Court order notified the DistricatiA.G.’s family was Spanish speaking and that
A.G. needed to be evaluated. Despite prior ndite® A.G.’s family requesting that documents
be sent home in Spanish, the District failed to mamicate with his family in Spanish.
Meanwhile, A.G. was wrongly retained in ninth gradeprived of special education services,
and left without any schooling for several monthslevrecuperating from leg surgery.

4. The District has also failed to provide Plaintifelleline Perez with Spanish
translations of the District’s evaluations and edional plans for her son, Plaintiff L.R. Ms.
Perez requested complete translations, but theidikas only translated section titles of some

documents. Although the District had been inforrtiet L.R. was diagnosed as autistic in 2012,
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Ms. Perez did not learn until 2016 that autism hatlbeen addressed in L.R.’s non-translated
educational plans.

5. Ms. Perez is also the mother of Plaintiffs D.R. ari., who, like L.R., have
disabilities and are entitled to special educaservices. As with L.R.’s educational plans, the
District has refused to translate into Spanishl@ngtmore than section titles of the plans it has
provided for D.R. and J.R., despite Ms. Perez'sapd requests for complete translations.

6. Plaintiff R.H. is a kindergarten student who hasrbdiagnosed with autism and
is gifted in mathematics, and he has a number ediapeducation needs. Mandarin is the
language spoken in R.H.’s home, and both of R.paients have limited English proficiency.
Although the District agreed to translate somelfidltcuments into Mandarin, it refuses to
provide translations of more than the headingstilad other limited information for R.H.’s
proposed re-evaluation and proposed individualemuatation program. The District’s refusal
has left his mother, Plaintiff Manging Lin, unaliteparticipate meaningfully in the planning
process for her son.

7. This case is filed on behalf of thousands of stteléke Plaintiffs A.G., T.R.,

L.R, D.R, J.R., and R.H. with disabilities who haearents like Plaintiffs Barbara Galarza,
Margarita Peralta, Madeline Perez, and Mangingwio are “Limited English Proficient”
(“LEP").* To communicate effectively with school persontieése LEP parents and their

children, who often have limited English proficigntbemselves, need oral interpretation

! The term “Limited English proficient” is the termilogy used in both the Elementary and Secondang&tibn
Act, § 9101(25) and the Individuals with Disabé#i Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1401(184). Whenieable to a
student, the term LEP, or its derivative, studeith WiLimited English Proficiency” is synonymous WwiEnglish
Language Learner (“ELL") or English Learner (“EL"While the term ELL or EL is favored and shouldused
because it accurately connotes that a studerdiisitey English rather than labeling the studenitéichor deficient,
the term LEP remains applicable to parents in tmext of identifying and addressing language besrio ensure
parent participation. The term “native languageyen used with respect to an individual who ist@diEnglish
proficient, means the language normally used byrttiidual or, in the case of a child, the langaagrmally used
by the parents of the child. 20 U.S.C. § 1401(20).
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services (the act of restating spoken languageliffexent language) and translation services
(the act of rewriting a document in another lang)agYet, despite the overwhelming and
accumulating evidence of need, the District hasesyatically and with deliberate indifference
denied essential translation and interpretationises to LEP parents of children with
disabilities, as well as to the children themselves

8. By law, meeting the educational needs of childréh @isabilities occurs within
a process of written notice, parent consent, adiscdiminatory evaluation, creation and review
of documents, development of a plan, and meetintissghool staff and parents — all of which
is outlined in the Individuals with Disabilities Echation Act (“IDEA”), 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq.,
and is referred to as the Individualized EducaBoogram (or “IEP”) process. LEP parérasd
their children with disabilities have been depriwddneaningful participation in the IEP process
because the District provides insufficient oraénprretation services and refuses to timely
provide completely translated documents. Theseidaties violate the IDEA, 20 U.S.C.
8 1400 et seq.; 34 C.F.R. Part 300; 22 Pa. Codpté&ha4; the Americans with Disabilities Act
as Amended; Section 504 of the Rehabilitation 22tPa. Code Chapter 15; the Equal
Opportunities Act; and Title VI of the Civil Righi&ct of 1964.

9. Because the special education process is a parngatidystem, LEP parents, like
all parents, must be fully informed in order topd® consent. They also must be able to
participate meaningfully in the IEP process throtightimely receipt of completely translated

documents and sufficient interpretation servicarent participation is essential to ensuring that

2SeeEx. A, FF 1 1, 2. References to the Hearing @ffcexplicit findings in the decisions are referte as “FF”
(findings of fact) or as “CL” (conclusions of lawReferences to the underlying administrative megtianscript are
“N.T.” for Notes of Transcript.

% The word “parent” or “parents” as used in this Qtmnt includes all persons included in the dei@mitof parent
set forth in the IDEA at 20 U.S.C. § 1401(23).
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a child with a disability receives a free appro@ipublic education in the least restrictive
environment.

10.  Throughout the IEP process, school staff and pamaty on certain IEP
documents. These documents include the Individe@lEducation Programs (“IEPs”), Notices
of Recommended Educational Placement (“NOREP”)fRNotten Notice, Procedural
Safeguards Notice, IEP Team Meeting Invitationsni¥éstation Determinations, Permission to
Evaluate, Permission to Re-Evaluate, EvaluatioroRepRe-Evaluation Reports,
Psychoeducational Reports, progress reports, awickid Consent Forms (referred to
collectively as “IEP process documents”). In addit certain regular education form documents
which are readily available to non-LEP parentscattécal to the parent’s knowledge of his or
her child’s educational progress, placement, andcgs. These include: report cards,
homebound forms, pre-English Language class placelegers, and progress reports (referred
to collectively as “regular education forms”).

11. These documents are so essential that they mymsbbigled in writing and in the
native language of the parent or other mode of comeation used by the parent, unless it is
clearly not feasible to do so. In contraventionh&se requirements, the District has refused to
timely and completely translate IEP process docusn@nd regular education forms. The
District also has failed to provide sufficient campensive oral interpretation services and to
conduct bilingual evaluations as required by |as. a result, LEP parents of children with
disabilities have been shut out of the IEP proeesksdenied their right to notice, informed
consent, and meaningful participation, in violatafrgoverning laws and to the significant

detriment of their children.
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12. Named Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and hmisands of members of the
“Parent Class” and the “Student Class,” defined\wefile this action to require the District to
provide legally-mandated translation and intergieteservices, so that LEP parents and their
children can participate meaningfully in the IEBg@ss. Plaintiffs also seek to ensure that alll
students who have disabilities are properly evalliat their native language as required by law.

Il. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

13. The claims in this action arise under the IDEA\28.C. 88 1400 et seq., and 34
C.F.R. Chapter 300; Section 504 of the Rehabilitafict, 29 U.S.C. § 794, the Equal Education
Opportunities Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1703(f); Title VI tife Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C.
8 2000d; and 22 Pa. Code Chapter 14. This Cosrsihbject matter jurisdiction over the federal
law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 20CQ1.88 1415(i)(2) and 1415())(3)(A).

14.  The claims for declaratory and injunctive relie¢ authorized by 28 U.S.C.
88 2201 and 2202.

15.  This Court may exercise supplemental jurisdictioardhe state law claims
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. Chapter 14 of tmn&dvania Code is the state special education
law which implements the IDEA and contains add#igorovisions concerning education for
students with disabilities. 22 Pa. Code § 14 deqt

16. Venue in this district is proper under 28 U.S.A.391(b).

17.  Plaintiffs A.G. and T.R. have exhausted administeatemedies to the extent
required by the IDEA, 20 U.S.C. 88 1415(i)(2) add 4(i)(3)(A). They have completed the
IDEA hearing process, each of them receiving aptoeess hearing decision dated May 26,
2015, attached hereto as Ex. A and Ex. B, respdygtiseeEx. A, T.R. v. SDPODR No.
15181-13-14 and Ex. B\.G. v. SDPODR No. 15166-13-14. In those decisions, theridga
Officer held that Plaintiff Parents Barbara Galasimd Margarita Peralta were denied meaningful

6
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participation in the federally mandated IEP procds® to the District’s failure to provide timely

and complete translations of vital IEP docume@pecifically, the Hearing Officer concluded:
The purpose of an IEP meeting is to develop anftEEhe student. This requires more
than a recitation of an IEP. Rather, it require®aversation about the Student’s needs,
and what program and placement will satisfy thaseds. Reading a mostly-English
document in [Spanish], is not the dialogue conterteal by the IDEA. The Parent’s

ability to follow along in documents while partieifing in the required dialogue is
essential.

District witnesses agreed, and | explicitly findat having the documents in an accessible
form either during the meeting, or prior to the tags when mandated, is critical to
meaningful participation. The Parent was placeahadbvious disadvantage by
effectively not having access to these documents.

Ex. B, CL at 11 (citations omitted3ge alsdx. A, CL at 9-10.

The Hearing Officer also concluded, however, tleatlid not have the power to order a
District-wide systemic change, which is the necesaad appropriate remedyeeEx. C,
Consolidated Pre-Hearing Ordd@tR. v. SDPODR No. 15181-13-14 ard G. v. SDPODR
No. 15166-13-14. As a result, the Hearing Offiaaarded limited compensatory education of
one hour of time for each IEP process team meetheye he determined there were violations
of the parents’ meaningful participation due toglation issues, but did not order any corrective
action, including requiring the District to timedynd completely translate IEPs and other
documents for Plaintiffs in the future. Ex. A, @13 (awarding one hour); Ex. B, CL, at 13
(awarding three hours). Plaintiffs A.G. and T.Bpeal from the administrative proceedings by
this Amended Complaint, which also constitutesagashction lawsuit on behalf of LEP parents
and students with disabilities who are similartyiated.

18.  Exhaustion of administrative remedies is not regplior L.R, D.R, J.R., and R.H.

and for other class members because, as the athativis proceedings of A.G. and T.R. reflect,
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administrative remedies are inadequate to addlasgifs’ allegations of systemic failures and
to afford the system-wide relief requested.

19. The Americans with Disabilities Act as Amended #mel Rehabilitation Act
incorporates the remedies and procedures of Titlef the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C.
88 2000d et segSee29 U.S.C. § 794a; 42 U.S.C. § 12133. The EEOATatid VI have no
exhaustion requirementee20 U.S.C. § 17084erring v. Chichester Sch. DistNo. 06-5525,
2007 WL 3287400 (E.D. Pa. Nov. 6, 2007).

Il THE PARTIES

20. Plaintiff T.R. was a 17-year-old tenth grade studigmg within the boundaries
of the District at the time the Complaint was file8he is not fluent in either English or Spanish,
speaking a mix of the two languages. Ex. A, FBY4. T.R. has ADHD, a learning disability,
and Mood Disorder, and she is currently a spedatation student.

21. Plaintiff Barbara Galarza (“Ms. Galarza”) is T.Rawther. Her native language
is Spanish and she is limited English proficieBk. A, FF § 3. Ms. Galarza speaks and reads
Spanish.

22.  Plaintiff A.G. was an 18-year-old twelfth gradedsguat living within the
boundaries of the District at the time the Comglaias filed. A.G.’s native language is Spanish
and he is limited English proficient within the né®g of the IDEA. See34 C.F.R. § 300.27,
incorporating by reference 8 9101(25) of the Eletagnand Secondary Education Act; Ex. B,
FF 1 4. A.G. has a Specific Learning DisabilitylanSpeech and Language Disorder, and he is
currently a special education student. A.G. stiedj¢p graduate from school and is in the
process of seeking to enroll in an acceleratedathmal program in the District in order to

obtain a diploma.
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23.  Plaintiff Margarita Peralta (“Ms. Peralta”) is A’&aunt and legal guardian. Her
native language is Spanish and she is limited Ehgiroficient. Ex. B, FF 1 6. Ms. Peralta
speaks and reads Spanish.

24.  Plaintiff L.R. is a 13-year-old 7th grade studewihlg within the boundaries of
the District. L.R.’s native language is Spanisid &e was enrolled in ESOL classes for several
years. L.R. has autism and ADHD, and he is culyenspecial education student placed by the
District in a private school.

25.  Plaintiff D.R. is a 14-year-old 9th grade studévinhb within the boundaries of
the District. D.R.’s native language is Spanistd ahe is limited English proficient. D.R. has
Oppositional Defiant Disorder (“ODD”) and ADHD, astie is currently a special education
student. D.R. is enrolled in ESOL classes.

26.  Plaintiff J.R. is a 16-year-old 11th grade studemtg within the boundaries of
the District. J.R.’s native language is Spanisid, lae is limited English proficient. J.R. has
ODD and ADHD, and he is currently a special edueastudent. J.R. is enrolled in ESOL
classes.

27.  Plaintiff Madeline Perez (“Ms. Perez”) is L.R., D.&d J.R.’s mother. Her
native language is Spanish, and she is limited iEmglroficient. Ms. Perez and her children
speak Spanish in her home, and Ms. Perez readsBpan

28.  Plaintiff R.H. is a five-year-old Kindergarten sard living within the boundaries
of the District. R.H.’s native language is Manda@and he is limited English proficient within
the meaning of the IDEA. R.H. has autism, for \ahe requires substantial language therapy
and specially designed instruction to address anhat weaknesses in expressive and pragmatic

language skills, social skills deficits, and sigraht behavioral issues that undermine learning.
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R.H. is currently a special education student. .FsHlso intellectually gifted in Math, having
tested in the 99th percentile for Math problem swmjand 99.5th percentile in overall cognitive
functioning.

29.  Plaintiff Manqging Lin (“Ms. Lin”") is R.H.’s mother.Her native language is
Mandarin, and she is limited English proficients.NLin and R.H. speak Mandarin in their
home, and Ms. Lin reads Mandarin.

30. T.R., AG, LR,D.R,JR., and R.H. are referrec¢dllectively as the “Student
Plaintiffs”; Ms. Galarza, Ms. Peralta, Ms. Peraa] #s. Lin are referred to collectively as the
“Parent Plaintiffs.”

31. Defendant, the School District of Philadelphiaa ischool district within the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania organized pursuatited?ublic School Code of 1949, Act of
March 10, 1949, P.L. 30, as amended, 24 P.S. §8lleiseq. The District's headquarters and
principal place of business is located at 440 NafrStreet, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. The
District receives federal funds pursuant to the ADdnd is bound by the IDEA. The District is
the Local Educational Agency (“LEA”) responsible nsuring that Plaintiffs receive a free
appropriate public education pursuant to the IDBA €hapter 14. The District, as a public
entity, receives federal funds and is subject ®AMmericans with Disabilities Act as Amended,
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, the Equali&tion Opportunities Act, and Title VI of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964. The District is also rgged to comply with state education law within
22 Chapter 14 and 22 Chapter 4 of the Pennsyvamnite.

V. STATUTORY FRAMEWORK

IDEA Statutory Framework

32. The IDEA requires LEAs and other public agencieprtvide a free appropriate

public education (“FAPE”) to all students with did@ies ages 3 to 21. By definition, a FAPE

10
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requires adherence to state agency educationalast#s) The IDEA seeks to prepare students
with disabilities for further education, employmgeand independent living, and specifically
delineates the rights of children with disabiliteasd their parents in the special education IEP
process and based on IEPs developed through thedss.See20 U.S.C. 8§88 1401, 1402,
1412(a)(1)(A), 1414(d), 1415; 34 C.F.R. Part 300e IEP is the “modus operandi”’ of the
IDEA that is to be developed jointly with the patethe student, and the school steiich.
Comm. of Burlington, Mass. v. Mass. Dep’t of EgdZ1 U.S. 359, 368 (1985). The IEP is the
“primary vehicle” for implementing the IDEAHonig v. Doe 484 U.S. 305, 311 (1988).

33.  Student Plaintiffs and members of the Student Glasdify as “child[ren] with a
disability” under the IDEA statute, and each therefmust be provided with an IEP that governs
his or her education and afforded meaningful pigatoon in the IEP processsee20 U.S.C.

§§ 1401(3), 1414(d), 1415.

34. Parent Plaintiffs and members of the Parent Claatifg as “parents” of a child
with a disability as defined by 20 U.S.C. § 140)(2hich includes a natural, adoptive, foster
parent, legal guardian or person acting as a pareéhe absence of a parent with whom the child
lives or individual assigned as a surrogate parent.

35. Each Student Plaintiff and member of the Studeas€has or should be provided
with an IEP team that is comprised of his or heeptand school staff who are to work
collaboratively together to make educational decisifor the child.

36. The IDEA requires that educational decisions alaochild’s evaluation,
educational program, and school placement are medegh the IEP team process with the
parent’s meaningful involvement. 20 U.S.C. § 14kt alsad. § 1415; 34 C.F.R. § 300.327.

The educational program is then detailed in thedB&ument which is legally defined as “a

11
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written statement for each child that is developed, revicarm revised” through the mandated
notice and meeting process. 20 U.S.C. § 1414(@)(@) (emphasis added). The District must
give the parena copyof the child’s IEP at no cost to the paretd. 81414(d)(1)(B)(i); 34
C.F.R. 8 300.322(f). If changes are made to tie Hhd upon request, the parent must be
provided with aevised copyf the IEP with the amendments incorporated. 28.Cl
81414(d)(3)(F).

37. The IDEA expressly includes certain procedural gadeds, requirements, and
duties of the LEA to ensure meaningful parentalipigation, notification, and consent
throughout the special education process, inclughatections for parents whose native
language is not English. 20 U.S.C. 88 1400, 1412&l4, 1415see als84 C.F.R. Part 300.

38.  The District must obtain informed written parentahsent in order to support an
initial evaluation of a student and initial prowisiof special education services. Parental
consent is required to continue to provide speadailcation services and re-evaluations. Parental
consent means the parent has been “fully inforniedl sformation relevant to the activity for
which consent is soughty his or her native languager through other mode of
communication” and that the parent “understandsagmndes” in writing to the carrying out of
the activity for which his or her consent is soughee20 U.S.C. § 1414(a)(1)(D); 34 C.F.R.

§ 300.9 (emphasis added).

39. The District must ensure that the parents of alchith a disability are invited to
each IEP team meeting to decide the program amemiant of a child and that the parents are
afforded the opportunity to participate, including:) notifying parents of the meeting early
enough to ensure that they will have an opportuoitgttend; (2) providing information to

parents; and (3) affording parents the opportuitynow the purpose of the meeting, who will

12
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participate, and to identify other representatiwves should be invited. 20 U.S.C. 88 1400,
1412(a), 1414, 1415ee als®B4 C.F.R. 88 300.321, 300.327, 300.501(c).

40. The District must takewhatever action is necessaryensure that the parent
understands the proceedings of the IEP team meeaticlgding arranging for an interpreteait
the IEP team meeting for paremdth deafness owhose native language is other than English
and the District must give the parentopyof the child’s IEP.See20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(B)(i);
34 C.F.R. 8 300.322 (emphasis added).

41. The IDEA also requires that parents of a child vaittisability receive prior
written notice within a reasonable time beforephblic agency (1) proposes to initiate or
change the identification, evaluation, or educatigulacement of the child or the provision of
FAPE to the child; or (2) refuses to initiate oanje the identification, evaluation, or
educational placement of the child or the provissé#APE to the child.See20 U.S.C.

8 1415(b)(3). In Pennsylvania, the form utilizedorovide prior written notice is called a Notice
of Recommended Educational Placement (“NOREP”).

42.  Such required prior written notice must be (1) tentin language understandable
to the general public; and (Bjovided in the native language of the parent ¢reotmode of
communication used by the pareanless it is clearly not feasible to do $ee20 U.S.C.

8 1415(b)(4); 34 C.F.R. 8 300.503(c). If the nati@nguage or other mode of communication of
the parent is not a written language, the publenag must take steps to ensure that (1) the
notice is translated orally or by other means togarent in his or her native language or other
mode of communication; (2) the parent understanesontent of the notice; and (3) there is

written evidence that the notice requirements Hmaen met.See34 C.F.R. § 300.503(c).

13
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43. The IDEA also requires that a child suspected te lzadisability must be
evaluated “in the child’s native language or otmede of communication and in the form most
likely to yield accurate information on what thaldtknows and can do academically,
developmentally, and functionally, unless it isaclg not feasible to so provide or administer.”
20 U.S.C. § 1414(b)(3)(A); 34 C.F.R. § 300.304({)(1 Federal regulations require an IEP
team to take the language needs of the child intownt. 34 C.F.R. § 300.324(a)(2)(ii).

Section 504 and ADA Statutory Framework

44.  Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act prohibitsabgity discrimination in
federally funded programs. It mandates that “jofleerwise qualified individual with a
disability in the United States . . . shall, solblyreason of her or his disability, be excluded
from the participation in, be denied the beneffto be subjected to discrimination under any
program or activity receiving Federal financialiatmce.” 29 U.S.C. § 794(a). The District is a
federal funds recipient within the meaning of 28IL. § 794(b)(2)(B). Student Plaintiffs and
members of the Student Class are entitled to tbeegtion of Section 504.

45.  The Americans with Disabilities Act prohibits disily discrimination, including
discrimination against those who are associatel witividuals having or suspected of having
disabilities. 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq. The Iists subject to the ADA. Student Plaintiffs and
members of the Student Class are entitled to thieegtion of the ADA.

EEOA Statutory Framework

46. The Equal Education Opportunities Act provides thajo State shall deny equal
educational opportunity to an individual on accoohis or her race, color, sex, or national
origin, by . . . the failure by an educational agyeto take appropriate action to overcome
language barriers that impede equal participatiosbstudents in its instructional programs.”
20 U.S.C. § 1703(f).

14
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Title VI Statutory Framework

47.  Title VI of the Civil Rights Act prohibits discrimation within any program or
activity receiving federal financial assistancestates that “[nJo person in the United States
shall, on the ground of race, color, or nation&ior be excluded from participation in, be
denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discraton under any program or activity receiving
Federal financial assistance.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000k District specifically receives federal
funding for participating in the IDEA, a programsiigned to assist students with disabilities.

Pennsylvania State Code Statutory Framework

48. Title 22, Chapter 14 of the Pennsylvania Code gwatl Pennsylvania school
districts and is the Commonwealth’s affirmationttibavill fully implement the IDEA statute
and accompanying regulations. Section 14.102ssthtd Pennsylvania will adopt federal
regulations to satisfy “the statutory requiremamtder the IDEA.” Sections 14.123 (governing
evaluations) and 14.124 (governing re-evaluatitwosh require that “Copies of the evaluation
report and re-evaluation report shall be disserath&t the parents at least 10 school days prior
to the meeting of the IEP team, unless this requard is waived by a parent in writing.”
Section 14.131(a) of Title 22 adopts 34 C.F.R. @3R0(a), which defines an IEP as “a written
statement for each child with a disability thatles/eloped, reviewed, and revised in a meeting,”
and 34 C.F.R. § 300.27-300.30.

49. Title 22, Chapter 15 of the Pennsylvania Code gwatl Pennsylvania school
districts and requires them to not discriminateirzgjastudents with disabilities. Chapter 15
operationalizes Section 504 and the ADA for schibstricts in Pennsylvania and sets forth
specific protections and procedures to inform parand students of their rights to be provided

an education free from discrimination based orrtthisabilities.
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50. Title 22, Chapter 4 of the Pennsylvania Code gavanademic standards and
curriculum requirements generally in Pennsylvaractions 4.26 and 4.52 of Title 22,
respectively, express the state standards for &infginguage instruction and assessments and are
clarified by the Commonwealth in official guidanceeBasic Educ. Circular, “Educating
Students with Limited English Proficiency (LEP) afdglish Language Learners (ELL),” Pa.

Dep’t of Educ. (July 1, 2001) (hereinafter “BasidUe. Circular”).

V. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

51.  Plaintiffs bring this suit individually and as aaSé Action pursuant to Rule
23(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedurebehalf of all similarly situated individuals.
The classes that Plaintiffs seek to represent@rgosed of:

A. All parents as defined by 34 C.F.R. § 300.30(ahwhited English
proficiency and whose children now or in the futare enrolled in the School District of
Philadelphia and identified or eligible to be id&atl as children with a disability within
the meaning of the IDEA and/or Section 504 andedlatate laws (“Parent Class”); and

B. All students who now or in the future are enroliedhe School District of
Philadelphia in grades kindergarten through thecddegal entitlement who are
identified or eligible to be identified as childresith a disability within the meaning of
the IDEA and/or Section 504 and related state lavisgther or not they are classified as
English language learners and whose parents aseddiy 34 C.F.R. § 300.30(a) are
persons with limited English proficiency (“Studediass”).

52. Each class is so numerous that joinder of all memisempracticable. During
the 2013-2014 school year, the District reported there were approximately 19,670 families
who requested to receive documents in a langudg titan English; approximately 25,990
families who had a primary home language other taglish; over 1,500 ELL students
receiving special education services; and 1,88Jestis with IEPs whose documents stated that
their home language was not English. The exactbeumof members of each class is not fully

known to Plaintiffs at the current time, but themters of each class can be ascertained by the

District.
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53.  There are questions of law and fact common to elads. Specifically, there are
guestions as to whether the District’'s systemiasaifto provide sufficient interpretation services
and to completely and timely translate IEP prockssiments and regular education forms for
parents who are LEP violates the IDEA, ADA, Sect®4, the EEOA, Title VI, and provisions
of Chapter 14, Chapter 15, and Chapter 4 of the®évania School Code. Another common
guestion of law is whether the failure to provideesvaluation of a child with a disability in that
child’s native language violates the IDEA.

54.  Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of thiasses as all members are
similarly treated and affected by the District’sxdact in violation of the law that is complained
of herein.

55. Plaintiffs T.R., A.G., L.R., D.R., J. R., R.H., atletir guardians seek common
injunctive relief to have the District adopt andoiement a new written special education plan
and policy to (1) provide legally mandated translatind interpretation services to members of
the Parent Class and the Student Class, includmgirnely and complete translation of IEP
process documents; and (2) require evaluations ttohducted in a child’s native language
unless it is clearly not feasible to do so.

56. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect th&erests of the classes. Student
Plaintiffs each qualify as a “child with a disatyfiunder the IDEA, and each has or should be
provided an IEP that governs his or her educatkmU.S.C. 88 1401(3), 1414(d), 1415. Parent
Plaintiffs each qualify as “parents” of a child i disability. Id. § 1401(23). All individually
named students and parents are limited Englishgeeat and have experienced a common harm

and seek a common remedy. The District’s failorprovide sufficient interpretation services
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and to completely and timely translate IEP prockssiments extends to all foreign languages,
including but not limited to Spanish.

57. Counsel for Plaintiffs are experienced in handfiederal class action litigation
and will adequately and zealously represent thexasts of the classes. The Public Interest Law
Center and Education Law Center have litigated maogecivil rights claims on behalf of
persons and children with disabilities. Drinked@e & Reath LLP is likewise experienced in
complex federal litigation and class action litigat including representing plaintiffs in class
actions asserting civil rights claims.

58. The District has acted or refused to act on grodnasapply generally to the
classes, so that final injunctive relief or dedarg relief is appropriate respecting the classes a
awhole. T.R. and A.G. filed administrative hegann June 2014 challenging the legality of the
District’s policy regarding sufficiency of intergegion and the translation of IDEA-related
documents. On May 26, 2015, the Hearing Officantbthat the District violated the IDEA by
failing to translate a variety of documents dutiihg IEP process. Ex. A, CL at 10; Ex. B, CL at
11. The Hearing Officer also expressly found thatauthority was limited, and that he could
not issue systemic relief. Ex. C. Subsequently,Qistrict has not changed its policy regarding
the sufficiency of interpretation or the complenel @imely translation of documents critical to
the IEP process.

59.  Upon information and belief, no similar litigati@oncerning the claims herein
has already begun by any Class Member.

60. It would be futile to require these named Plaistof other members of the
Classes to exhaust or re-exhaust administrativedess, pursuant to the IDEA, since the

District has adopted a systemic policy of failimgorovide sufficient interpretation services and
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to timely and completely translate IEP process dwmts and regular education forms. As a
result, Pennsylvania’s special education admirtisgrdnearing system cannot, as expressly noted
by the Hearing Officer, adequately remedy the sy&t@roblem. Furthermore, upon

information and belief, there are not enough spedacation hearing officers available to

handle the number of due process hearing requesdtsvould be necessary.

VI. FACTS

General Facts and District Practices and Policies.

61. As of November 2013, the District reported thatéheere approximately 25,990
families whose primary home language was not Emglied some 19,670 families of students in
the District who had expressly requested documarddanguage other than English.

62. As of November 2013, the District also reported thare were more than 1,500
ELL students receiving special education servioesss the District. At that time, the District
acknowledged that there was a higher than antegpatimber of students who had IEPs and
whose parents were LEP and required translationrdecpretation services. As of November
2013, there were 1,887 students with IEPs whoswdsdndicated that their home language was
not English, but it is not clear that this numbaptured all of the students with IEPs whose LEP
parents required sufficient oral interpretation and tramstl IEP process documents.

63. The District’s data reported that, during the 2@02-3 school year, only 487
special education documentsanfy typehad been orally interpreted. The District’s oral
interpretation services are provided primarily birigual Counseling Assistants (“BCAs”). The
District employs only 54-55 BCAs to serve all scisaacross the District. BCAs, among other
job duties, provide limited interpretation servideg do not provide translation servicedeeEx.

B, FF 1 24.
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64. Additional special education documents might haaertranslated by an outside
contractor during the 2012-2013 school year, botnupformation and belief, the outside
contractor did not translate IEP process docunfentll of the parents who are LEP. Further,
by the 2013-2014 school year (and despite its kadgé that a large number of parents needed
IEP process documents translated for them), thei@iso longer had arrangements with that
outside contractor to assist with translation. M/the District has a Translation and
Interpretation Center which routinely translatesutoents used throughout the school district
for students without disabilities, this office hasver completely translated an IEP in its entirety.
N.T. 422, 461. Moreover, parents cannot requasstation services.

65. Despite these numbers and its knowledge of thelgmglihe District has adopted
a policy in which it does not timely and completenslate IEPs, NOREPS, evaluations, re-
evaluations, progress reports, assessments, aadIBf process documents outlining students’
procedural and educational rights into the natwvegliages spoken and/or read by LEP students
and their parents.

66.  Further, the District does not provide completehnslated evaluations and re-
evaluations to parents at least ten school dags filEP team meetings, in contravention of 22
Pa. Code Chapter 14, the state’s special educiatian

67. As evidenced by the experience of Parent Plairaifig Student Plaintiffs, the
District has attempted to provide some oral intetigdion during some IEP team meetings, but
this incomplete, inconsistent effort has not anahod facilitate the requisite meaningful parent
participation. It also does not comport with state requirements that parents have copies of
the multiple-page evaluations and re-evaluationsast ten school days prior to IEP team

meetings.
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68. Inthe absence of receiving required informatioa imanner they can
comprehend, uninformed parents enter meetingsnitknowledge of evaluation reports, IEPS,
and other documents and are unable to make infodeeigions or provide legally viable
consent. The District’s policy has denied PardainEffs and members of the Parent Class their
right to informed consent, notice, decision makiaegarding program and placement, and
meaningful participation in the IEP process, inahgd EP team meetings.

69. The District also has thereby denied members oSthdent Class who are LEP
equal educational opportunities to participateyfathd equally in the IEP process and in the
District’s educational programs, including programsddress the student’s disabilities. The
District’s policy also has resulted in the inalyilif Student Plaintiffs and members of the
Student Class to receive adequate IEP-relatedcesraind has significantly undermined and
impaired the ability of members of the Student €kasreceive a FAPE or other educational
services available to other students.

70.  The District deliberately and inexplicably chooses to utilize TransAct, which
is a translation program provided by the Commontkeai Pennsylvania to school districts to
enable them to translate documents.

71.  Upon information and belief, the District condubténgual evaluations for some
but not all LEP students in contravention of th&

Class Representatives’ Experiences — T.R. and BartzaGalarza.

72. T.R. attended elementary school in the Districtesgshe was instructed only in
Spanish, and then attended a charter school frarto®th grade. The charter school conducted
a bilingual evaluation of T.R. in the spring of 3)Hetermined that T.R. qualified for special

education services under the “Other Health Impanttheategory based on an ADHD diagnosis,
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and created an IEP for her. The IEP for T.R. idelligoals for improving her reading and math
skills and to decrease truancy. In 2013, Ms. Galaought to transfer T.R. back to the District.
Despite making this request in writing, there wakeky in arranging for T.R. to return to the
District, due in part to the promise of translati&dP process documents. Throughout the fall of
2013, T.R. was deprived entirely of any educatigmagramming at all, and the parties could
not come to an agreement regarding her high sgilacément. Additionally, in the fall of 2013,
T.R. became pregnant and needed services at hdmu were delayed.

73.  On February 26, 2014, the District’s non-bilingaahool psychologist and non-

bilingual speech therapist evaluated T.R. in Ehgli$he District's Reevaluation Report and the
psychologist’'s Psycho Educational Evaluation repate provided to Ms. Galarza in English
only. The report determined that T.R. had an flettual Disability,” a substantial change from
her prior designation of “Other Health Impairmen’follow-up meeting was held nearly a
month later, on March 25, 2014, to discuss the Rle@tion Report and the Psycho Educational
Evaluation. Despite a specific written requesttfer evaluation and all documents to be
provided in Spanish, the District did not provithe Meeting Invitation, Psychoeducational
Report, or Evaluation Report to Ms. Galarza in $gfarither before or during the meeting.
Ms. Galarza was therefore unable to participaty falthe meeting, during which an oral
interpreter informed her for the first time thaRT had an intellectual disability. Additionallyt, a
the meeting, Ms. Galarza requested home instru@mion.R. due to complications related to her
pregnancy. The District provided a Physician’séRefl Form for homebound instruction in
English only, causing delay in the services.

74.  Despite the District’s awareness that Ms. Galardg spoke and read Spanish, at

a subsequent IEP meeting on June 12, 2014, thedDstovided Ms. Galarza with a 52-page
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draft IEP, again in English only. The District pased an Approved Private School for T.R.,
removing her from a regular high school. An intetpr was present at the meeting via
telephone but did not orally interpret the entif2egage IEP and other documents or completely
translate the IEP. The District did not providedments related to T.R,’s placement, such as
the NOREP/PWN, APS Recommendation Form, or APScRirg in Spanish. Ms. Galarza was
therefore unable to understand the IEP or the placé options provided to her and was unable
to participate meaningfully in the meeting.

75.  The District provided a NOREP to Ms. Galarza oreJiii, 2014 in English only.
Ms. Galarza rejected the NOREP and filed a Dueda®€omplaint.

76.  OnJune 27, 2014, four months after the Februayp@s64 evaluation identifying
her daughter as having an intellectual disabititg, District finally provided Ms. Galarza a
Spanish version of the District’s February 2014 Igaaon Reports of her daughter.

77.  Throughout the 2014-2015 school year, and despiteated parental requests, the
District did not completely translate IEP processuments in a timely manner, such that Ms.
Galarza was unable to participate meaningfulhjhgEP process. The District also provided
insufficient oral interpretation services durin@ tlEP team meetings; in particular, the
interpreters did not fully and completely orallyerpret each IEP process document.

78. As partof T.R.’s IEP, she was entitled to receaiviransition assessment” by the
District. Transition services are designed to emsucoordinated set of activities to help the
student move on to postsecondary education, orogmant. The student’s and parent’s
involvement is an important part of this proces& information, however, about transition
services, including a transition services packetamdout, was provided to T.R. or Ms. Galarza

in Spanish, and T.R.’s transition assessment wampleded by an English speaking teacher.
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79. Ms. Galarza has been denied sufficient oral ineggion services to enable her to
speak with school personnel about various evergdagational problems, such as transportation
and math class issues that T.R. has experiencead Gilarza was denied translation of report
cards and ESOL progress reports.

Class Representatives’ Experiences — A.G. and Margt Peralta.

80. A.G. was born in the Dominican Republic on Septan2de 1996. He was
enrolled in ninth grade in the Dominican Republizenw his mother passed away in August 2010.
He came to the United States in 2011 and has livéthiladelphia continuously since the fall of
2012.

81. The District refused to place A.G. into eleventhwelfth grade until May 2015.
Instead, A.G. was assigned to ninth grade in 2032t one high school, and again assigned to
ninth at another high school for the 2013-2014 stiear. Although A.G. was enrolled in
English language classes in the fall of 2012, he mever formally tested for English language
placement until the following year, in November26fL3. In addition, progress testing for his
ESOL classes was done incorrectly.

82. A.G.'s Parent (first his uncle, and currently Mer#&lta, his aunt and legal
guardian), notified the District in October 20121an September 2013, by way of the District’s
Home Language Questionnaire, that the family isn&haspeaking and requested documents be
provided in their native language of Spanish. lardh 2014, Ms. Peralta provided an order
from a Philadelphia Family Court judge and a letbethe District requesting that A.G. be
evaluated for special education services and agaahcitly informing the District that the

family’s native language was Spanish.
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83.  Despite the family’s notifications to the Distrabout their native language and
need for language assistance, and despite A.Qtisipation in ESOL classes, the District failed
to provide sufficient oral interpretation and timeind complete translation of IEP process
documents. For example, in response to the redprespecial education evaluation, Ms. Peralta
met with a non-Spanish speaking teacher, ESOL gegqutats were provided only in English,
and communications about evaluating A.G. for spexdacation were conducted primarily in
English.

84. OnJune 23, 2014, Ms. Peralta filed a Due Processplint on behalf of A.G.,
resulting in the decision at Ex. B.

85.  Even after the filing of the Due Process Compldim, District continued to issue
documents to Ms. Peralta in mostly English or pistin English. Throughout the 2014-2015
school year, Ms. Peralta attended IEP meeting8.1Gr in an effort to establish a program for
him. Despite both oral and written requests, tisridt repeatedly refused to provide complete
and timely translations of IEP process documentisragular education forms and refused to
provide sufficient oral interpretation servicesn September 3, 2014, the District sent
Ms. Peralta a letter, in English, stating that Aweuld be attending another high school “due to
ESOL services [A.G.] require[d].During the 2014-2015 school year, A.G. underwetdnsive
surgery on his leg, necessitating his need for mued instruction provided by the District.
Information about homebound instruction was inlgiabt provided completely in Spanish,
causing a substantial delay in the provision ofises. In addition, Ms. Peralta was not
provided a Spanish version of A.G.’s evaluatiororeprior to the October 16, 2014 IEP team
meeting, and at the meeting, she received a dE&ftin English, with only the generic headings

of the paragraphs translated into Spanish. On ihbee 21, 2014, the District created an
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updated IEP and NOREP, which were again only ghrtisnslated. Despite a prior written
request for a completely translated IEP, on Decerdp2104, the District once again provided
an IEP with headings in Spanish and the majoritthef[EP in English. A District employee
provided on-the-spot, oral interpretation (als@rnefd to as “sight translation”) during the
December 2, 2014 IEP meeting. Because the “sighslation” process took so long, the
District’'s employee had only “sight translated”d¢érof the forty-four pages of the IEP by the
end of the meeting. The pages that were sighsitated related to the Medical Assistance
Program Billing Notice, a standard form, rathemtliae substantive content of the IEP
addressing A.G.’s special education needs and pad@to meet those needs. At the end of the
meeting, Ms. Peralta still did not have a completednslated IEP or a translated copy of the
Medical Assistance Program Billing Notice to readh@ meeting or take home to review.

86. As partof A.G.’s IEP, he was entitled to receivéransition assessment” by the
District, which was completed in January 2015. iformation, however, about transition
services, including a transition services packdtamdout, was provided to A.G. or Ms. Peralta
in Spanish. A.G. stopped attending school in 2@16 he is considering a return to school to
earn his high school diploma. At the time A.Gpgted attending school, the District still
refused to provide him with a completely translated and to ensure such translations would be
provided in the future.

Class Representatives’ Experiences — L.R., D.R.R]l. and Madeline Perez

87. L.R.,D.R. and J.R. attended school in Puerto Riutd they moved to
Philadelphia in 2012. All three received spectl@ation services in Puerto Rico and had IEPs
from Puerto Rico when they enrolled in the District

88. L.R. has ADHD. In 2012, L.R. was evaluated at@®sater for Autism and
additionally diagnosed with autism. The Distria@swnotified of this evaluation and diagnosis,
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which were provided to Ms. Perez in Spanish. Tlgridt then undertook to create a separate
Evaluation Report for L.R. in 2012, but it did ricdinslate its own evaluation into Spanish for
Ms. Perez.

89. L.R. was enrolled in two elementary schools andrarlle school in the District
between 2012 and 2016, and the District has giuaraprivate school placement. The District
has refused to translate L.R.’s IEP process doctsneto Spanish for Ms. Perez, despite her
requests that the District do so. After receivsogne IEP documents with section titles
translated into Spanish, she asked that the Oistainslate the entire documents but was told
that the District could not provide any furthemséation.

90. Because Ms. Perez is limited English proficient aad only read simple words
or phrases in English, she could not understanévhiiation of L.R. or the IEP process
documents provided to her. As a result, she habbe®n able to understand what services the
District was providing to L.R., and she has notrbable to participate meaningfully in the IEP
process for L.R. Furthermore, the District hadttediL.R.’s 2012 diagnosis of autism from his
IEPs. Because Ms. Perez did not understand thenstated IEP documents, she was unaware
of this omission until 2016.

91. Like L.R., D.R. and J.R. also attended two elemgrgahools in the District.

D.R. and J.R. are now enrolled in two differenttbes high schools. D.R. and J.R. have both
been diagnosed with ODD and ADHD.

92. Ms. Perez has attended IEP meetings for D.R. &dAs with L.R.’s IEP
documents, the District did not translate D.R.’d a&rR.’s IEP process documents into Spanish

for Ms. Perez, even though she requested that #tadd do so.
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93. Ms. Perez's most recent IEP meeting for J.R. oecluim January 2017. At this
meeting, she reiterated her request for a fullgdiated IEP for J.R. The District told her that it
could only provide translated caption headings.

94. Ms. Perez's most recent IEP meeting for D.R. oemion March 6, 2017. At this
meeting, Ms. Perez understood the District to legreed to provide a translated copy of D.R.’s
IEP by March 15, 2017. She still has not receadrhnslated copy of D.R.’s IEP.

95.  Absent translations of the IEP process documetdsIpanish, Ms. Perez has
difficulty understanding what services D.R. and. &F receiving and is unable to participate
meaningfully in the IEP planning process for heitdrkn.

96. The District also provided insufficient oral integpation services to Ms. Perez
during the IEP team meetings. At some meetingspDibtrict did not provide any interpreter.

At other meetings, the interpreters did not fulhdaompletely interpret the IEP process
documents orally for Ms. Perez. As a result, MgeP could not understand what was included
and what services her child was being provided,smedwas unable to participate meaningfully
in the IEP planning process for her children.

Class Representatives’ Experiences — R.H. and Mangj Lin

97. R.H. s a Kindergarten student at an elementargadh the District.

98. In 2014, R.H. underwent several evaluations andultasately diagnosed with
Autism Spectrum Disorder. As an infant and toddReH. received early intervention services
that included speech, special instruction, and patanal therapy, and independently received
physical therapy services for poor muscle tone.

99. In a subsequent 2015 evaluation, R.H. was alsodftatbe Mentally Gifted

according to the Kaufman Assessment Battery foldgdm, with a non-verbal standard score
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placing R.H. in the 99.9% superior range for apgetin math and at the age equivalent of a 9-
year-old.

100. Beginning with R.H.’s transition to Kindergartemin early intervention services,
the District has failed to provide Ms. Lin with trilations of forms, evaluations, and IEP
documents into Mandarin or to provide sufficieralanterpretation services. Although Ms. Lin
is able to understand and speak some English weindshas limited English proficiency and
speaks only Mandarin at home with R.H.’s father #adr children. R.H.’s father understands
very little English and does not read or write Esigl

101. At the first meeting Ms. Lin attended in Februa®i@ regarding R.H.’s transition
to Kindergarten, the District gave Ms. Lin formsgluding a “Permission to Evaluate” (“PTE”)
form, in English only and provided no translatidrathand no oral interpretation prior to the
meeting. Ms. Lin had to rely on a friend and aeripreter provided by R.H.’s early intervention
provider for oral interpretation at the meeting,0s@ assistance was nevertheless insufficient to
assist her in understanding how to answer the gumssin the PTE form or whether she had any
choice about whether to permit the proposed evialuatf her son. She later signed the PTE
form without understanding that this gave consenttie District to conduct a limited evaluation
of R.H.

102. Furthermore, due to the lack of translation andrmtetation services, Ms. Lin
had to request assistance from R.H.’s preschoohé&ean completing the required forms she
received. Because she could not understand thignwithout translation to Mandarin, she only
learned later that the teacher had omitted infolonahat was needed to develop appropriate

programming for R.H.
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103. After the District conducted its evaluation of R.Hsent Ms. Lin an Evaluation
Report in English and only later in Mandarin. Teeort concluded only that R.H. qualified for
speech services, and it omitted his needs for @atmnal therapy and physical therapy, a
functional behavior assessment or a behavior pladh gifted programming in math.

104. As a result of a mediation regarding the Distrie¥sluation of R.H. and the need
for an Independent Educational Evaluation (“IEEhg District agreed to provide translated
copies of the IEE and other documents, which altbiMs. Lin and her husband to understand
R.H.’s diagnosis and complex academic and behdwieeds. The District, however, has
refused to provide translations of anything otlhantthe “final” Re-Evaluation Report and
“final” IEP, and continues to refuse to providenskated versions of its proposed Re-Evaluation
and IEP to Ms. Lin.

105. On or about March 3, 2017, the District providegraposed IEP that is to be
discussed at the next IEP meeting for R.H. TheriDigranslated only the section titles and a
few sentences regarding R.H.’s placement into MandaVhen Ms. Lin requested that the
proposed IEP be fully translated, the Districtrolad that it had only agreed to translate the
“final” IEP, and the section titles were the mdst District would translate.

106. Inthe absence of a fully translated proposed RatEvion Report and proposed
IEP, Ms. Lin is unable to participate meaningfulyyEP meetings for R.H. and to ensure that
the District addresses his special education needs.

VII.  LEGAL CLAIMS

Count One: Violation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act:
Failure to Provide Meaningful Parental and StudentParticipation
(On Behalf of the Parent Class and Student Class)

107. Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphthsfComplaint as if set forth in

full herein.
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108. Parent Plaintiffs and members of the Parent Clase hot received legally-
mandated written information regarding their creldls education in their native language and at
times, if written information was received in theative language, it was not provided at the
same time the rest of the IEP team received tlonmdtion and in a manner to ensure
meaningful parent and student participation inl&R process. These documents include IEP-
process documents and regular education formsfexedderein.

109. Student Plaintiffs and members of the Student Giase injured by the inability
of their LEP parents to participate meaningfullyttie IEP process. In addition, Student
Plaintiffs and members of the Student Class whd_&iffe have been deprived of legally-
mandated written information, including evaluatioresevaluations, transition services
information, assessments relating to transitionmilag and services, and their IEPs, prohibiting
them from participating in the IEP process, inchgdéngaging in transition planning.

110. The practice of providing sporadic and incomplata mterpretation of IEP
process documents during an IEP meeting is notleguate substitute for timely receipt of
completely translated, IEP process documents diso contrary to 22 Pa. Code 4.26 and state
educational standard interpretatior&eeBasic Educ. Circular.

111. The District has denied Parent Plaintiffs and memsbéthe Parent Class the
right to participate meaningfully in their childredEP process.

112. The District’s refusal to translate IEPs and otle#? process documents has
resulted in a lack of special education servicesStadent Plaintiffs and members of the Student
Class. As a result of the inability of Parent Rtidfis and members of the Parent Class to
participate adequately in the formation and execudif their IEP plans, Student Plaintiffs and

members of the Student Class have been denieé appropriate public education guaranteed to
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them under the IDEA. Many students have been despecial education services designed to
enable them to make progress, such as speciallyresinstruction, transition planning
services, related services, and proper school mlaneto meet the students’ academic needs.

113. Plaintiffs T.R. and A.G. secured the services efftublic Interest Law Center of
Philadelphia and Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP to regent them in the due process hearings and
are entitled to their fees at same as prevailimggsa in part. 20 U.S.C. § 1415(c). The Law
Center incurred approximately $120,117.00 in regméng T.R. and $78,724.00 in representing
A.G. in the administrative due process hearingaenker Biddle & Reath incurred approximately
$264,617.50 in representing T.R. and A.G. in the pitocess hearings. As Plaintiffs were
prevailing parties, in part, the District is respiite for these fees, which can be resolved after
the merits of this matter.

114. Wherefore, Parent Plaintiffs, members of the Patdas$s, Student Plaintiffs, and
members of the Student Class demand judgment infaver and against the District for
declaratory and injunctive relief, as set forthener

Count Two: Violation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act:

Failure to Conduct Evaluations of Students in Natie Language
(On Behalf of the Parent Class and Student Classlddes Who Are LEP)

115. Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphthisfComplaint as if set forth in
full herein.

116. Student Plaintiffs and some members of the Stu@&ds who are LEP were
never evaluated or were not timely evaluated fecs education services in their native
language. The District’s failure to conduct timelaluations for every LEP child in his or her
native language to determine eligibility for spéeducation services deprived Student Plaintiffs
and members of the Student Class who are LEP wofrigbts under the IDEA to receive a non-
discriminatory, accurate evaluation to inform tB®Iprocess. As a result, Student Plaintiffs and
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members of the Student Class who are LEP were inppptely assessed and failed to receive
needed special education services or said serwesswrongfully delayed.

117. The District’s failure to conduct evaluations istadent’s native language and in
the form most likely to yield accurate informativiolated the IDEA. See20 U.S.C.
§1414(b)(3)(A); 34 C.F.R. 8 300.304(c)(1)(ii).

118. Wherefore, Student Plaintiffs and members of thel&tt Class who are LEP
demand judgment in their favor and against theridbr declaratory and injunctive relief, as
set forth herein.

Count Three: Violation of the Section 504 of the Bhabilitation Act, Americans with

Disabilities Act as Amended, and 22 Pa. Code Chapt&5
(On Behalf of the Student Class)

119. Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphthsfComplaint as if set forth in
full herein.

120. Student Plaintiffs and members of the Student Glasstudents with disabilities
who were otherwise qualified to participate in salhactivities and receive equal benefit from
them as non-disabled students pursuant to thegbiameof Section 504.

121. By failing to translate regular education forms tlee members of the Parent
Class, including homebound forms and informatioowlthose services, the District has
substantially undermined the ability of membershef Student Class to receive equal access to
education services on the same basis as studehtsuvdisabilities.

122. Wherefore, Student Plaintiffs and members of thel&tt Class demand
judgment in their favor and against the Distriatdeclaratory and injunctive relief, as set forth

herein.
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Count Four: Violation of the Equal Education Opportunity Act
(On Behalf of the Student Class)

123. Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphthisfComplaint as if set forth in
full herein.

124. Federal law provides that: “No State shall denyad@ducational opportunity to
an individual on account of his or her race, coders, or national origin, by . . . the failure by a
educational agency to take appropriate action evanme language barriers that impede equal
participation by its students in its instructiopabgrams.” 20 U.S.C. § 1703(f).

125. National origin discrimination has been definednidude but is not limited to,
the denial of equal opportunities due to an indiaits, or his or her ancestor’s, place of origin;
or because an individual has the physical, cultanmalinguistic characteristics of a national
origin group, including limited English proficiencyl he District has denied equal education
opportunity to Student Plaintiffs and members ef 8tudent Class on account of their race
and/or national origin or that of their parentsféing to take appropriate action to overcome
language barriers of these students and/or theenpa This failure has impeded equal
participation by Student Plaintiffs and the memhsrthe Student Class in the District’s special
education and other instructional programs.

126. Wherefore, Student Plaintiffs and members of thel&it Class demand

judgment in their favor and against the Distriatdeclaratory and injunctive relief, as set forth

herein.
Count Five: Violation of Title VI of the Civil Rig hts Act of 1964
(On Behalf of the Parent Class and Student Classlddes Who Are LEP)
127. Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphthsfComplaint as if set forth in
full herein.
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128. The District has been aware of the widespread néeBP parents and LEP
students to obtain timely and complete translat@fi&P process documents in order to
participate meaningfully in the IEP process andrisure access to appropriate education
services for their children. Despite this knowledthe District has acted intentionally,
repeatedly, and with deliberate indifference bysgafg to timely and completely translate IEP
process documents and by refusing to provide seiffioral interpretation services, in order to
ensure meaningful participation by Parent Plaisté#ihd members of the Parent Class and in
order to ensure access to appropriate educatienatss for their children.

129. The District has been and continues to be awatd &R parents and LEP
students need timely and complete translations@ilar education forms that pertain to their
children’s educational placement and needs, sutlo@e instruction forms, ESOL placement
letters, and progress reports. Instead, the Didiais adopted a policy and procedures which are
ineffective to provide adequate support and whidmows does not fulfill its obligations or fails
to meet the needs of Parent Plaintiffs, membeteoParent Class, Student Plaintiffs, and
members of the Student Class who are LEP.

130. The failure to assist Parent Plaintiffs, memberthefParent Class, Student
Plaintiffs, and members of the Student Class wikd &P to participate effectively in or benefit
from federally assisted programs and activitiesat@the prohibition under Title VI of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d, and Titlerggulations prohibiting discrimination
against LEP persons on the basis of race and ahtoigin. Recipients must take appropriate
action to ensure that such persons have meaniagdelss to the programs, services, and

information those recipients provid&ee, e.g.34 C.F.R. Part 100.
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131. Regulations promulgated pursuant to Section 60t VI forbid the District
from utilizing methods of administration which sedj individuals to discrimination because of
race and/or national origin or that have the eftéatefeating or substantially impairing
accomplishment of the objectives of the programeapects individuals of a particular race,
color, or national origin. These regulations pdevin part that no person shall, on the ground of
race or national origin, be excluded from partitip@in, be denied the benefits of, or be
otherwise subjected to discrimination under anygpam; be denied a benefit which is different,
or is provided in a different manner, from that\pded to others under the program; or restrict
an individual from receiving any service, financad, or other benefit under the program. 34
C.F.R. § 100.3.

132. The District failed in its obligation to avoid drsmination against LEP persons
on the grounds of race and/or national origin bynigto take reasonable steps to ensure that
such persons have meaningful access to the progsanvices, and information the District
provides to others.

133. By refusing to completely and timely translate |iBcess documents necessary
for Parent Plaintiffs, members of the Parent Cl&ssdent Plaintiffs, and members of the
Student Class who are LEP to participate meanihgiulthe District’s IEP process on the same
basis as their counterparts who speak and readsEnggfusing to provide sufficient oral
interpretation, and refusing to provide them with hecessary regular education forms in their
native language, the District has intentionallycdiminated against Parent Plaintiffs, members of
the Parent Class, Student Plaintiffs, and membfeitsedStudent Class who are LEP on account
of their race and/or national origin. Such actians also contrary to 22 Pa. Code 8§ 4.26 and

state educational standard interpretatioBseBasic Educ. Circular.
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134. Wherefore, Parent Plaintiffs, members of the Patdas$s, Student Plaintiffs, and
members of the Student Class who are LEP demaxdnjendt in their favor and against the
District for declaratory and injunctive relief, sst forth herein.

Count Six: Violation of 22 Pennsylvania Code Chater 14
(On Behalf of the Student Class and Parent Class)

135. Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphthsfComplaint as if set forth in
full herein.

136. By failing to provide complete and timely transth&valuations and re-
evaluations ten days prior to IEP team meeting) anake any attempt to interpret evaluations
at any time prior to the IEP team meetings, théerldishas violated 22 Pa. Code 88 14.123 and
14.124.

137. By its failure to provide sufficient oral interpegton and complete and timely
translated IEP process documents, the Districvitzdated and is continuing to violate the IDEA
and Chapter 14, especially the state’s educat&taaldards for special education. 20 U.S.C.

§ 1401(9)(A-D); 22 Pa. Code Chapter 14; 22 Pa. Godie6.

138. Wherefore, Parent Plaintiffs, members of the Patdass, Student Plaintiffs, and
members of the Student Class demand judgment infaver and against the District for
declaratory and injunctive relief, as set forthener

Count Seven: Violation of 22 Pennsylvania CodeHlapter 15
(On Behalf of the Student Class and Parent Class)

139. Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphthsfComplaint as if set forth in
full herein.

140. By failing to provide complete and timely transthtegular education forms as
defined herein, including those for home instrugtithe District has violated 22 Pa Code

Chapter 15.
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141. Wherefore, Parent Plaintiffs, members of the Patdas$s, Student Plaintiffs, and
members of the Student Class demand judgment infaver and against the District for
declaratory and injunctive relief, as set forthener

VIIl. RELIEF REQUESTED
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court:

1. Assert jurisdiction over this matter and certifg tfwo classes as defined herein.

2. Order that the District adopt and implement a newiten special education plan
and District policy to provide legally mandatediskation and sufficient
interpretation services to members of the Paream$<Cand the Student Class. This
policy shall delineate all documents to be comfediad timely translated and
the protocol for requesting and obtaining transfaiand interpretation services.

3. Order that the District develop a method and wrifieotocol to proactively
identify all LEP Parents who may need translatiot mterpretation services.

4. Order that the District timely translate and dalia# IEP process documents to
all members of the Parent Class and the Studess@®needed in the
appropriate native language in advance of IEP mgetio ensure meaningful
participation.

5. Order that the District notify all parents at tivag of enroliment of their right to
receive translated IEP process documents and metetjpn services if their child
is entitled to services as a student with a diggbilThis notice shall be provided
in the parent’s native language if the parent restithe District that he or she
does not read English but does read another laegualiernatively, if the parent
notifies the District that he or she does not r@aspbeak English and speaks a

language that is not a written language, this eatied future communications
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shall be provided through sufficient oral interpit&tn, recorded for the parent,
and a copy of the recording provided to the parent.

6. Order that, at any time a student becomes entilesh evaluation for special
education services pursuant to IDEA, or becometeahto a 504 Plan, the
District shall provide notice to the LEP parent ahadent that they are members
of, respectively, the Parent Class and the Studkrsts, and are entitled to certain
documents in his or her native language pursuacaict order.

7. Order that the District shall conduct evaluatiomsiétermine eligibility for
special education services in the native languégieed_ EP student to the extent
required by the IDEA and shall revise its Spec@iiéation Plan and policies

accordingly.
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8. Appoint Plaintiffs’ counsel to monitor the Ordeeittified above.

9. After adjudication of the merits, award Plaintiffeir costs and attorneys’ fees

for the underlying required due process administediearings.

10.  Award to Plaintiffs their costs and attorney feesthe bringing of this action.

11. Retain jurisdiction over this matter until such ¢iras the District demonstrates

full compliance.

12.  Grant such other and further relief as may begunstproper.

Dated: March 27, 2017

Michael Churchill (1.D. No. 04661)

Dan Urevick-Ackelsberg (I.D. No. 307758)
PUBLIC INTEREST LAW CENTER

1709 Benjamin Franklin Parkway

Second Floor

Philadelphia, PA 19103

Telephone: (215) 627-7100

Facsimile: (215) 627-3183
mchurchill@pilcop.org
dackelsberg@pilcop.org

Maura Mclnerney (1.D. No. 71468)
EDUCATION LAW CENTER
1315 Walnut Street, 4th Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19107
Telephone: 215-238-6970
mmcinerney@elc-pa.org

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Paul H. Saint-Antoine
Paul H. Saint-Antoine (I.D. No. 56224)
Chanda A. Miller (1.D. No. 206491)
Carol F. Trevey (I.D. No. 312087)
Lucas B. Michelen (I.D. No. 318585)
DRINKER BIDDLE & REATH LLP
One Logan Square, Suite 2000
Philadelphia, PA 19103-6996
Telephone: (215) 988-2700
Facsimile: (215) 988-2757
paul.saint-antoine@dbr.com
chanda.miller@dbr.com
carol.trevey@dbr.com
lucas.michelen@dbr.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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This is aredacted version of the original decision. Select details have been removed
from the decision to preserve anonymity of the student. The redactions do not affect the
substance of the document.

Pennsylvania

Special Education Hearing Officer

DECISION
Child’s Name: T.R.

Date of Birth: redacted

Dates of Hearing: 8/4/2014, 9/22/2014, 9/24/2014, 11/3/2014, 11/7/2014, 11/10/2014,
11/12/2014, 1/21/2015, 1/22/2015, 1/23/2015, 1/26/2015, 1/27/2015, 1/28/2015, 1/30/2015,
2/23/2015, 2/27/2015, 3/17/2015, 3/23/2015, 3/25/2015, 3/26/2015, 3/31/2015, 4/6/2015 and
4/7/2015

OPEN HEARING
ODR File No. 15181-13-14

Parties to the Hearing: Representative:
Parents Parent Attorney
Parent[s] Sonja Kerr Esq.

Public Interest Law Center

1709 Benjamin Franklin Parkway, 2nd Floor
Philadelphia , PA 19103

215-627-7100 x 229

Local Education Agency LEA Attorney

Philadelphia City School District Sarah Davis Esq.

Office of General Counsel Fox Rothschild LLP, 10 Sentry Parkway
Philadelphia, PA 19130 Suite 200, PO Box 3001

Blue Bell, PA 19422-3001
610-397-3924

Date Record Closed: May 4, 2015
Date of Decision: May 26, 2015
Hearing Officer: Brian Ford, Esquire

Introduction
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This matter arises under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. § 1400
et seq. and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504), 34 C.F.R. Part 104.4. It
is the companion to the case at ODR No. 15166-1314KE. Both hearings were heard together.

The Parent, who speaks [a language other than English], alleges that the District violated the
Parent’s right to meaningfully participate in meetings concerning the provision of FAPE to the
Student. The Parent also alleges that the District failed to implement an IEP that carried over
from the Student’s prior charter school enroliment, failed to properly evaluate the Student,
incorrectly identified the Student as a student with an intellectual disability, and failed to offer an
appropriate program and placement for the Student.

Issues

1. Did the District seriously infringe upon the Parent’s meaningful parental participation in the
IEP Process, by its failure to provide her with vital IEP documents and other school
documents in [her native language] and in a timely manner?

2. Did the District deny the Student a free and appropriate public education during the 2013-14
and/or 2014-15 school year by its overall by failing to implement the Student’s IEP?

3. Did the District err in identifying the Student as having an Intellectual Disability and propose
an inappropriate and unspecified out of district placement in June, 20147

4. What placement is currently appropriate for the Student?
Findings of Fact

The very large record of this hearing and its companion case was carefully reviewed in its
entirety. In special education due process hearings, there is a world of difference between what
is technically admissible and what is truly necessary to resolve the issues presented. | have
limited my findings of fact to what is necessary to resolve the parties’ dispute.

1. “Interpretation” describes the act of restating spoken language in a different language.
Interpretation can either be simultaneous (in which the interpreter restates the
communication as it is said) or consecutive (in which the interpreter restates the
communication just after it is said).

2. “Translation” describes the act of re-writing a document in another language.

3. ltis not disputed that the Parent’s native language is [not English], or that the Parent has
limited English proficiency.

4. Based on the totality of the record, | find that the Student? is best able to communicate using
a combination of [mother’s native language] and English, and switches between the two
depending on the circumstances of the communication and the vocabulary involved.

5. Based on the totality of the record, | find that the Student’s ability to communicate is
impaired if the Student is required to communicate in either [mother’s native language] or
English exclusively.

6. The Student attended a charter school (Charter) within the District during the 2010-11 and
2012-13 school years.

=

Typically, identifying information is not included in due process decisions. For reasons that

will be apparent, the Student’s gender cannot be omitted from this decision without yielding
vague or overly-wrought findings.
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The Student enrolled in the District for the 2013-14 school year. The District became the
Student’s Local Educational Agency (LEA) at that time, and has remained the Student's LEA
since.

The Student was evaluated for special education eligibility shortly before leaving the
Charter. An evaluation report (ER) was drafted on May 23, 2013. The ER concluded that the
Student was a “child with a disability” as defined by the IDEA. S-9C

The ER concluded that the Student fell under the disability category of Other Health
Impairment (OHI). S-9C.

The Charter drafted an IEP for the Student dated June 27, 2013. S-9E.

The Charter’s IEP called for:

a. 2000 minutes (33 hours) a month of counseling support as a related service.
b. 60 minutes of skills training (2 sessions at 30 minutes each) per week.

c. Counseling in the counselor’s office.

d. Implementation of a 5 point rating scale to address behaviors.

e. Implementation of a truancy elimination plan.

The Charter’'s IEP contemplated the immediate development and implementation of a
positive behavior support plan (PBSP). S-9E.

The Student did not receive special education from the Charter but rather transferred to the
District.

On July 30, 2013, parent, via her attorney, placed the District on notice that the Student
would enroll for the coming 2013-14 school year, and requested special education
programming. P-5.

In response to parent’s July 30, 2013 letter, the District convened a meeting. Counsel for
both parties attended.

During the August 20, 2014 meeting, the District offered programming at [a District] High
School (“High School”), the Student’s neighborhood school. More specifically, the District
offered programming at High School if the Student enrolled. S-3, S-7,

Language Line is a service available to District personnel that provides interpreter services
by phone. The District used Language Line during the August 20, 2014 meeting. NT 3086-
3087.

The Parent rejected placement at High School prior to the Student’s enrollment, and
requested other placement options. S-7.

On September 4, and 12, and October 3, 2013, the District proposed five different
alternative placements. Four of those five placements were located on the same campus
(one of the District’s high schools). These placements were proposed prior to the Student’s
enroliment. NT 3061-3062, 3090-3091, S-7.

The Parent did not register the student immediately after receiving the District’s alternative
placement proposals. Id.
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The District translated the Charter's ER and IEP into [mother’s native language] and
provided the translation to the Parent on September 23, 2013. S-5, S-7, S-9, S-21.

On September 25, 2013, the District sent Parent’s attorney a Notice of Recommended
Educational Placement (NOREP) dated September 24, 2013 in English and [mother’s native
language]. The NOREP was an offer of special education. Specifically, the District offered
supplemental learning support with services in accordance with the Charter’'s IEP. NT 1096,
1098-1099, 3090-3091, 3090-3091, 3108, S-6, S-21.

On October 2, 2013, via counsel, the District invited the Parent to participate at an IEP
meeting. The same invitation was sent to the Parent on October 3, 2013. The meeting was
scheduled for October 9, 2013 at High School. The meeting convened as scheduled with
counsel for both parties in attendance. S-9A through S-9J, S-10, S-13.

The District employs Bilingual Counseling Assistants (BCA) who, among other job duties,
provide interpretation services. NT 14014-1405.

A [mother’s native language-speaking] BCA attended the October 9, 2013 IEP meeting.

During the October 9, 2013 IEP meeting, all of the placements previously offered by the
District were still on the table. After the meeting, on October 15 and 16, the Parent and
Student toured two of those placements. The Parent and Student were accompanied by a
[mother’s native language-speaking] BCA on both tours. NT 1415, 1419-1421 3094-3095, S-
10, S-13.

Another meeting convened, with counsel for both parties in attendance, on October 16,
2013. During that meeting, the District proposed [another] High School (Second High
School) a sixth potential placement (or a seventh potential placement including High
School). S-13.

On October 24, 2013, the District sent a Permission to Re-Evaluate (PTRE), seeking the
Parent’s consent for the District to conduct a multidisciplinary evaluation of the Student. The
District also sent a NOREP proposing placement at Second High School. These forms were
sent in both English and [mother’s native language] to both the Parent and the Parent’'s
attorney. S-12, S-13, S-14, P-14.

On November 1, 2013, the District sent additional paperwork (an EH-36 form) to the Parent
to complete as part of the placement into Second High School. The Parent completed and
returned the form on November 8, 2013. Id.

On December 3, 2013, the District sent an invitation to participate in an IEP team meeting,
along with a revised NOREP. The meeting was scheduled for December 19, 2013. The
NOREP proposed implementation of the Charter’s IEP at Second High School (until the
District could complete its own evaluation and offer its own IEP). The revised NOREP also
provided yellow bus service. S-21.

The Parent enrolled the Student on December 3, 2013 and the Student started attending
school on December 4, 2013. S-18, S-21, S-21, S-50, S-61. This enrollment was
accomplished with the help of Second High School's Special Education Liaison (SEL), who
speaks [mother’s native language], and a BCA.

On December 4, 2013, the Parent also approved the NOREP of December 3, 2013. Id.
An IEP meeting convened on December 19, 2013 as scheduled. A [mother’s native

language-speaking] BCA was in attendance. The Parent approved the District's PTRE the
same day.
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The Student [had a physical condition] from December of 2013 through March of 2014.
[Redacted.] NT passim.

The District evaluated the Student on February 26, March 18 and March 25, 2014. Based on
the evaluation, the District concluded that the Student is a student with an Intellectual
Disability (ID), not OHI, an emotional disturbance (ED), or a speech and language
impairment. S-24, S-25, S-29.

Prior to conducting the reevaluation, the District concluded that a bilingual reevaluation was
not necessary, and so the evaluation was conducted in English by English speaking
evaluators. NT passim.

On March 25, 2014, the District convened an IEP meeting with a [mother’s native language-
speaking] BCA in attendance. The District’'s reevaluation, the ID diagnosis, and the
Student’s need for [redacted reason for] homebound instruction were discussed at the
meeting. NT 679, 688-689, 760-761, 1142-1148, 1228-1229, 2775, 2778-2781, 3069-3070,
3073-3075, 3122, S-25, S-26, S-29.

The District translated its evaluation report into [mother’s native language], and provided a
[mother’s native language], copy to the Parent via counsel.

The District offered [redacted] homebound instruction to the Student in April of 2014. S-28,
S-29, S-30, S-32.

The Student returned to Second High School on May 5, 2014.

After the Student’s return in May of 2014, the parties agree that the Student was absent
from school several times. The parties disagree about whether those absences should have
been marked as excused or unexcused.

After the Student’s return in May of 2014, the Student frequently came to class late or
skipped class. The parties disagree about what specifically constitutes a “tardy” or “late” or
“cut” etc. | find that the Student frequently did not attend the entirety of class periods,
regardless of the reason (or the legitimacy of the reason).

On June 6, 2014, the District issued English and [mother’s native language], invitations to
participate in an IEP meeting on June 12, 2014. S-33. The meeting convened as scheduled
with a [mother’s native language-speaking] BCA in attendance.

During the June 12, 2014 IEP meeting, the District provided a draft IEP, offered extended
school year (ESY) services for the summer of 2014, discussed the Student’s current
behavioral needs and strategies for the Student to attend class more frequently, and
discussed various placement options for the 2014-15 school year.

One placement option discussed during the June 12, 2014 IEP meeting was placement at
an approved private school (APS). APSs are private schools in Pennsylvania that have been
approved to educate students with disabilities. The record is ambiguous as to whether
specific APSs were discussed during the meeting, or whether the general idea of an APS
placement was discussed.

The District finalized an IEP and drafted a NOREP on June 17, 2014. Both documents were
provided to the Parent’s counsel and were later translated and provided to the Parent. The
NOREP proposed full time learning support at an unspecified APS. S-35, S-39. Although the
APS was not specified, the District communicated (via counsel) that four specific schools
were under consideration, pending the Student’s acceptance.
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47.0n June 25, 2014, the Parent rejected the NOREP and requested this due process hearing.

48. After this hearing was requested, the Parent obtained an independent educational
evaluation (IEE) at the District’'s expense. The IEE was conducted by a bilingual evaluator.
The bilingual evaluator deviated from standard testing protocols in an effort to obtain
accurate information about the Student’s abilities. P-34, P-42.

Legal Principles
Credibility

During a due process hearing the hearing officer is charged with the responsibility of judging the
credibility of witnesses, weighing evidence and, accordingly, rendering a decision incorporating
findings of fact, discussion and conclusions of law. Hearing officers have the plenary

responsibility to make “express, qualitative determinations regarding the relative credibility and
persuasiveness of the witnesses”. Blount v. Lancaster-Lebanon Intermediate Unit, 2003 LEXIS
21639 at *28 (2003); See also generally David G. v. Council Rock School District, 2009 WL
3064732 (E.D. Pa. 2009).

In this case, | find that all witnesses testified to the best of their ability, relaying facts as they
recalled them. To whatever extent one witness’s testimony is inconsistent with another’s, they
legitimately remembered events differently.

The Burden of Proof

The burden of proof, generally, consists of two elements: the burden of production and the
burden of persuasion. In special education due process hearings, the burden of persuasion lies
with the party seeking relief. Schaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 62 (2005); L.E. v. Ramsey Board
of Education, 435 F.3d 384, 392 (3d Cir. 2006). The party seeking relief must prove entitlement
to their demand by preponderant evidence and cannot prevail if the evidence rests in equipoise.
See N.M,, ex rel. M.M. v. The School Dist. of Philadelphia, 394 Fed.Appx. 920, 922 (3rd Cir.
2010), citing Shore Reg'l High Sch. Bd. of Educ. v. P.S., 381 F.3d 194, 199 (3d Cir. 2004). In
this particular case, the Parent the party seeking relief and must bear the burden of persuasion.

Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE)

As stated succinctly by former Hearing Officer Myers in Student v. Chester County Community
Charter School, ODR No. 8960-0708KE (2009):

Students with disabilities are entitled to FAPE under both federal and state law.
34 C.F.R. 88300.1-300.818; 22 Pa. Code 8814.101-14 FAPE does not require
IEPs that provide the maximum possible benefit or that maximize a student’s
potential, but rather FAPE requires IEPs that are reasonably calculated to enable
the child to achieve meaningful educational benefit. Meaningful educational
benefit is more than a trivial or de minimis educational benefit. 20 U.S.C. §1412;
Board of Education v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176, 73 L.Ed.2d 690, 102 S.Ct. 3034
(1982); Ridgewood Board of Education v. M.E. ex. rel. M.E., 172 F.3d 238 (3d
Cir. 1999); Stroudsburg Area School District v. Jared N., 712 A.2d 807 (Pa.
Cmwith. 1998); Polk v. Central Susquehanna Intermediate Unit 16, 853 F.2d 171
(3rd Cir. 1988) Fuhrmann v. East Hanover Board of Education, 993 F.2d 1031
(3d Cir. 1993); Daniel G. v. Delaware Valley School District, 813 A.2d 36 (Pa.
Cmwlth. 2002)

The essence of the standard is that IDEA-eligible students must receive specially designed
instruction and related services, by and through an IEP that is reasonably calculated at the time
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it is issued to offer a meaningful educational benefit to the Student in the least restrictive
environment.

Compensatory Education

Compensatory education is an appropriate remedy where a LEA knows, or should know, that a
child’s educational program is not appropriate or that he or she is receiving only a trivial

educational benefit, and the LEA fails to remedy the problem. M.C. v. Central Regional Sch.
District, 81 F.3d 389 (3d Cir. 1996). Compensatory education is an equitable remedy. Lester H.
v. Gilhool, 916 F.2d 865 (3d Cir. 1990).

Courts in Pennsylvania have recognized two methods for calculating the amount of
compensatory education that should be awarded to remedy substantive denials of FAPE. The
first method is called the “hour-for-hour” method. Under this method, students receive one hour
of compensatory education for each hour that FAPE was denied. M.C. v. Central Regional,
arguably, endorsees this method.

More recently, the hour-for-hour method has come under considerable scrutiny. Some courts
outside of Pennsylvania have rejected the hour-for-hour method outright. See Reid ex rel.Reid
v. District of Columbia, 401 F.3d 516, 523 (D.D.C. 2005). These courts conclude that the
amount and nature of a compensatory education award must be crafted to put the student in the
position that she or he would be in, but for the denial of FAPE. This more nuanced approach
was endured by the Pennsylvania Commonwealth Court in B.C. v. Penn Manor Sch. District,
906 A.2d 642, 650-51 (Pa. Commw. 2006) and, more recently, the United States District Court
for the Middle District of Pennsylvania in Jana K. v. Annville Cleona Sch. Dist., 2014 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 114414 (M.D. Pa. 2014). It is arguable that the Third Circuit also has embraced this
approach in Ferren C. v. Sch. District of Philadelphia, 612 F.3d 712, 718 (3d Cir. 2010)(quoting
Reid and explaining that compensatory education “should aim to place disabled children in the
same position that the would have occupied but for the school district’s violations of the IDEA.").

Despite the clearly growing preference for the “same position” method, that analysis poses
significant practical problems. In administrative due process hearings, evidence is rarely
presented to establish what position the student would be in but for the denial of FAPE — or
what amount of what type of compensatory education is needed to put the Student back into
that position. Even cases that express a strong preference for the “same position” method
recognize the importance of such evidence, and suggest that hour-for-hour is the default when
no such evidence is presented:

“... the appropriate and reasonable level of reimbursement will match the
quantity of services improperly withheld throughout that time period, unless the
evidence shows that the child requires more or less education to be placed in the
position he or she would have occupied absent the school district’'s deficiencies.”

Jana K. v. Annville Cleona Sch. Dist., 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 114414 at 36-37.

Finally, there are cases in which a denial of FAPE creates a harm that permeates the entirety of
a student’s school day. In such cases, full days of compensatory education (meaning one hour
of compensatory education for each hour that school was in session) may be warranted if the
LEA'’s “failure to provide specialized services permeated the student’s education and resulted in
a progressive and widespread decline in [the Student’s] academic and emotional well-being”
Jana K. v. Annville Cleona Sch. Dist., 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 114414 at 39. See also Tyler W.
ex rel. Daniel W. v. Upper Perkiomen Sch. Dist., 963 F. Supp. 2d 427, 438-39 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 6,
2013); Damian J. v. School Dist. of Phila., Civ. No. 06-3866, 2008 WL 191176, *7 n.16 (E.D. Pa.
Jan. 22, 2008); Keystone Cent. Sch. Dist. v. E.E. exrel. H.E., 438 F. Supp. 2d 519, 526 (M.D.
Pa. 2006); Penn Trafford Sch. Dist. v. C.F. ex rel. M.F., Civ. No. 04-1395, 2006 WL 840334, *9
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(W.D. Pa. Mar. 28, 2006); M.L. v. Marple Newtown Sch. Dist., ODR No. 3225-11-12-KE, at 20
(Dec. 1, 2012); L.B. v. Colonial Sch. Dist., ODR No. 1631-1011AS, at 18-19 (Nov. 12, 2011).

Whatever the calculation, in all cases compensatory education begins to accrue not at the
moment a child stopped receiving a FAPE, but at the moment that the LEA should have
discovered the denial. M.C. v. Central Regional Sch. District, 81 F.3d 389 (3d Cir. 1996).
Usually, this factor is stated in the negative — the time reasonably required for a LEA to rectify
the problem is excluded from any compensatory education award. M.C. ex rel. J.C. v. Central
Regional Sch. Dist., 81 F.3d 389, 397 (3d Cir. N.J. 1996)

In sum, | subscribe to the logic articulated by Judge Rambo in Jana K. v. Annville Cleona. If a
denial of FAPE resulted in substantive harm, the resulting compensatory education award must
be crafted to place the student in the position that the student would be in but for the denial.
However, in the absence of evidence to prove whether the type or amount of compensatory
education is needed to put the student in the position that the student would be in but for the
denial, the hour-for-hour approach is a necessary default — unless the record clearly establishes
such a progressive and widespread decline that full days of compensatory education is
warranted. In any case, compensatory education is reduced by the amount of time that it should
have taken for the LEA to find and correct the problem.

Meaningful Parental Participation

The IDEA requires schools to use procedures that afford parents an “opportunity ... to
participate in meetings with respect to the identification, evaluation, and educational placement
of the child, and the provision of a free appropriate public education to such child...” 20 U.S.C. §
1415(b)(1). Similarly, parents must receive prior written notice whenever a school district
proposes to the educational placement of a child. 20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(3). The IDEA explicitly
details the type of information that must be contained in such prior written notice. See, e.g. 20
U.S.C. § 1415(c)(1)(A)-(B), (E)-(F). This includes an explanation of why the change is proposed,
what other options were considered and why those other options were rejected. Id. These
participation requirements are in addition to the procedural safeguards notice requirements
found at 20 U.S.C. § 1415(c)(2)(C).

In Pennsylvania, the NOREP is the document that provides the prior written notice to parents
that is contemplated by the IDEA. As explained by the Pennsylvania Training and Technical
Assistance Network (PaTTAN), “The NOREP explains the recommended educational
placement or class for [a] child, and explains [parental] rights.”
http://parent.pattan.net/iep/WhatisaNOREP.aspx. Moreover, the United States Supreme Court
has recognized that parents have a right to receive prior written notice whenever a school
district intends to alter a student’s “program or placement.” Honing v. Doe, 484 U.S. 305, 311-12
(1988); see also Petties v. District of Columbia, 238 F.Supp.2d 114, 123 -124 (D.D.C., 2002).

Parent’s Native Language
The notification required by 20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(3) must be sent “in the native language of the
parents, unless it clearly is not feasible to do so.” 20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(4). The same is true for
the IDEA’s procedural safeguards. 20 U.S.C. § 1415(d)(2).

As applied individuals with limited English proficiency, the term “native language” is defined as
the “language normally used by that individual.” 34 C.F.R. § 300.29.

As drafted, these rules do not permit consideration of the individual’s ability to understand
written or spoken English. If the individual has limited English proficiency (as the Parent does in
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this case), procedural safeguards and prior written notices must be sent in the individual's native
language.

Evaluation Criteria — Language

The IDEA and its regulations set forth extensive criteria for evaluations and reevaluations See
20 U.S.C. § 1414. Of those, one is pertinent here:

Each local educational agency shall ensure that — assessments and other
evaluation materials used to assess a child under this section... are provided and
administered in the language and form most likely to yield accurate information on
what the child knows and can do academically, developmentally, and functionally,
unless it is not feasible to so provide or administer...

20 U.S.C. § 1414(3)(A)(ii).

In drafting this language, congress did not focus on any student’s native language. Rather,
congress explicitly instructs schools to administer tests in whatever language is most likely to
yield accurate results. Moreover — perhaps in recognition that not all tests are offered in multiple
languages — congress also instructs schools to administer tests in the form most likely to yield
accurate information. As such, given the choice between strict adherence to testing protocols, or
variation to assess a child’s actual abilities, the IDEA unsurprisingly favors accurate information.

Discussion
Meaningful Parental Participation

At the outset of this hearing, there was significant discussion about the District's obligation to
translate documents into [mother’s native language]. The District is correct that the IDEA’s
regulations require translation of only the procedural safeguards notice and the prior written
notices issued pursuant to 20 U.S.C. 8§ 1415(b)(3) — NOREPSs in Pennsylvania. The IDEA does
not explicitly require the translation of any other documents.

However, the IDEA requires schools to facilitate meaningful parental participation in the IEP
development process. Unlike the strict translation rules, meaningful participation requires inquiry
into the Parent’s ability to participate in meetings without translation. In this case, it is not
possible for the Parent to meaningfully participate in meetings concerning the provision of FAPE
to the Student unless the documents presented at that meeting are fully translated.

The purpose of an IEP meeting is to develop an IEP for the student. This requires more than a
recitation of an IEP. Rather, it requires a conversation about the Student’'s needs, and what
program and placement will satisfy those needs. Reading a mostly-English document in
[mother’s native language], is not the dialogue contemplated by the IDEA. The Parent’s ability to
follow along in documents while participating in the required dialogue is essential.

In this case, the District put people in place so that the Parent could engage in dialogue during
the meetings (either through Language Line or by having a BCA in the room). Moreover, the
District fully translated its evaluations, IEPs and NOREPs for the Parent. However, the IEP and
NOREP from the June 17, 2014 meeting ready in [mother’s native language], at the time of the
meeting, and were often provide later only after parental request.

District witnesses agreed, and | explicitly find, that having the documents in an accessible form
either during the meeting was critical to meaningful participation. (see, e.g. NT at 2995-2997).
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Given the parties’ vastly different views regarding the Student’s needs and abilities, the Parent
was placed at an obvious disadvantage.

The heavy participation of counsel for both parties at every turn is somewhat confounding. The
Parent’s attorneys speak English.? It is reasonable for the District to assume that anything
communicated to the Parent’s attorney will be relayed to the Parent in a way that the Parent will
understand the information. | also have no doubt that communicating via counsel was often the
fastest, easiest way for the parties to communicate with each other. Even so, it is the District’'s
obligation to ensure meaningful parental participation. The Parent has no obligation to retain
services, let alone hire an attorney, in order to meaningfully participate.

In sum, | find that the District satisfied the IDEA’s narrow translation requirements but, even in
doing so, did not satisfy the IDEA’s requirements for meaningful parental participation during the
June 17, 2014 meeting. The District put personnel in place so that the Parent could literally
speak during that meeting, but did not make meaningful accommodations so that the Parent
could prepare for it, or participate as it was happening. This is a violation of the Parent’s rights.

Denial of FAPE — 2013-14 School Year

When a student places a school district on notice that he or she will leave a charter school and
return to the district, the district is obligated to put an IEP in place for the Student’s return even
before the Student enrolls. See I.H. v. Cumberland Valley Sch. Dist., 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
101056 (M.D. Pa. July 20, 2012). This can be accomplished by simply offering to implement the
charter’s IEP until the district can evaluate and offer its own. However, even in those very rare
cases in which a school district is required to do something more than adopt the charter’s
program, districts have no liability to provide a FAPE to a student before the student enrolls in
the district. See id.2

In this case, tragically, the Student received nothing from the start of the 2013-14 school year
through December 4, 2013 (the date that the Student started attending school). During this
period of time, despite substantial communication between the District and the Parent — the bulk
of which was via counsel — the Parent never actually enrolled the Student. | do not question the
Parent’s choice to not enroll until acceptable services were in place, but that choice comes with
consequences. Even if the facts of this case were completely analogous to the facts of I.H. v.
Cumberland Valley (and they are not), the District’s only obligation is to say what program and

placement it would offer upon the Student’s enrollment. The District not only satisfied that
obligation, but went a step further to negotiate many placement options. As such, the District's
obligation to provide a FAPE was not triggered until December 3, 2013 (the date that the Parent
enrolled the Student).

From the time of the Student’s enroliment through this due process hearing, the District has
been obligated to implement the Charter's IEP because the Parent has rejected the District's
subsequent proposals.

From December of 2013 through March of 2014 the District insists that the Student made
progress. The question that | am called upon to answer, however, is whether the District
implemented the Charter’s IEP. | have no doubt that the Parent did not meaningfully participate
in the development of the Charter’'s IEP, and | question the appropriateness of that document.
However, again, the issue that | must resolve is whether the District implemented the Charter’s
IEP. If the District did not implement the Charter’s IEP, the Student’s right to a FAPE has been
violated per se.

2 1do not know if any of the Parent’s attorneys also speak [mother’s native language], but that
is not relevant.

3 InlL.H. v. Cumberland Valley, the school district was required to draft an IEP for a student
who was potentially returning to from a charter school. Even then, Cumberland Valley had no
obligation to actually provide a FAPE until the Student returned.

ODR No. 15181-1314KE Page 10 of 14



Case 2:15-cv-04782-MSG Document 48-3 Filed 03/27/17 Page 53 of 79

In this case, there is evidence that the District placed the student into learning support classes.
There is no evidence that the District provided any of the services explicitly required by the
Charter’s IEP. Technically, it is the Parent’s burden to establish what the District did not do. In
this case, the near-absolute lack of persuasive evidence suggesting that the Charter’s IEP was
implemented is more than ample proof of the District’s inaction.

This does not imply that the District made no effort to educate the Student. The record is to the
contrary. The District placed the Student into its own program and honestly thought that it was
doing right by the Student. But the District’s obligation was to implement the Charter’s program
until it evaluated the Student and offered its own program. The District’s failure to implement the
Charter’s program from December 3, 2013 through the end of the 2013-14 school year is a
violation of the Student’s right to a FAPE.

The exception to the foregoing is the period of time during which the Student received
homebound instruction after [redacted]. Although there is no extensive record about the
Student’s actual ability to attend school immediately after [that event], none is needed. It was
appropriate for the District to offer homebound instruction, and the District cannot be faulted for
any failure to implement the Charter’s IEP during this time.

Appropriateness of the District’s Evaluation

The District’s evaluation was inappropriate because it was conducted in English only. Per FF
#4, English is not the language most likely to yield accurate information about the Student.
Rather, permitting the Student to hear questions in both English and [mother’s native language],
and allowing the Student to respond to questions in English, [mother’s native language], or both
is the “language” that will yield the most accurate information.

Although this finding is based on the totality of the record, | make special note of the testimony
of an independent, bilingual evaluator who assessed the student on behalf of the parent and at
the District’s expense. This was the only person who testified who is bilingual and who
evaluated the Student. The District’s evaluators spoke English only, and consulted with bilingual
evaluators prior to evaluating the Student in English. This consultation did not give the District’s
evaluators any ability to determine how restricting the Student to English impacted upon the

Student’s ability to communicate. Further, none of the District’s bilingual evaluators evaluated
the Student. Their conclusion that a bilingual evaluation was not necessary is both conclusory
and, as presented in this case, mostly hearsay.

The record reveals that there are [mother’s native language], versions of some common,
standardized assessments. These [mother’s native language], versions are not literal
translations, but a [mother’s native language], version normed against a [mother’s native
language], speaking sample population. When administering either the English or [mother’s
native language], tests, translating or interpreting questions and answers from language to
language is (generally) a volition of testing protocols. Yet this is precisely the sort of deviation in
form that the IDEA contemplates. Deviation for the purpose of getting accurate information is
not only permitted, but required.

Whenever deviating from standardized testing protocols, evaluators are wise to proceed with
extreme caution. Deviation, and the reason for it, must be explicitly noted in the final evaluation
report. Also, the deviation must be carefully considered when an evaluator interprets the testing
results for the purposes of providing a diagnosis or educational recommendations.

In sum, the District failed to evaluate the Student in the language most likely to yield accurate
information, and failed to make necessary deviations from testing protocols to enable testing in
that language. As a result, the District’s evaluation was inappropriate, even assuming that all
other requirements of 20 U.S.C. § 1414 were met.

Intellectual Disability
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In substance, any student’s eligibility category is not determinative of what services the student
will receive. Programming is driven by need, not by label. This applies even to students with an
intellectual disability. However, unlike the other disability categories, students who are classified
as having an ID receive enhanced protections in disciplinary proceedings, and are evaluated
more frequently.

| do not discount the mental toll that hearing an ID diagnosis puts on parents. In this case, to
hear those words for the first time at the Student’s age was no doubt shocking to the Parent.
The Parent’s legitimate surprise, however, is not a factor in determining whether the District
applied the proper disability category.

In this case, the only evaluations concluding that the Student has an ID are the District's
evaluations. | have concluded that the District’s evaluations are inappropriate. Consequently,
the ID label must be removed immediately.

Both parties should note that my determination is based exclusively on the inappropriateness of
the District’s evaluation. It is possible that an appropriate evaluation could conclude that the
Student is a student with an ID. | find only that no such evaluation has occurred.

Denial of FAPE — 2014-15 School Year

The District was obligated to implement the Charter’s IEP until it evaluated the Student and
offered its own. After evaluating the Student, the District offered an IEP with a NOREP on June
17, 2014. That IEP was inappropriate.

The District's IEP was based on the District’s evaluation. The District’'s evaluation was not
calculated to yield accurate information about the Student. An IEP can only be as good as the
evaluation upon which it is based. The IEP in this case is inappropriate as a matter of law,
because it was based upon an inappropriate evaluation.

The fact that the District’'s only evaluation of the Student is inappropriate compels the conclusion
that all subsequently offered programs are inappropriate for the same reason. This makes the
District’'s subsequent offers irrelevant to show mitigation.

Current Placement

The issue of where the Student should go to school, and what services the Student must
receive, are properly before me. | have concluded that the District’s evaluations of the Student
were not appropriate and, as a result, the District's placement offers were not appropriate as a
matter of law.

The Parent urges that | should determine that IEE was appropriate, and that | should compel the
District to offer what the IEE recommends. | decline to do so. LEAs are obligated to consider
IEEs, they are not obligated to adopt them as their own. However, the IEE in this case satisfies
the deficiencies of the District’s evaluation. The District, therefore, is free to either adopt the IEE
and modify its IEP accordingly. The District may also consider the IEE and reevaluate the
Student in accordance with this decision. Either way, the ID label must be removed unless or
until an appropriate evaluation yields a conclusion that ID is the proper classification for the
Student.

Remedies

For reasons articulated above, the Student was denied a FAPE during these periods of time:
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. December 4, 2013 through April of 2014
May of 2014 through the end of the 2013-14 school year
The start of the 2014-15 school year through the present (ongoing).

Prior to June 17, 2014, the denial of FAPE was based on the District’s failure to implement the
Charter’'s IEP. With no better evidence, | find that the portions of the IEP that were not provided
come to 37 hours per month (33 hours per month of counseling in a counselor’s office and 1
hour per week of social skills training), or 1.85 hours per school day.

After June 17, 2014, the denial of FAPE was based on the District’s offer of programming based
on inappropriate evaluations. From the time of the District's own offer forward, the Charter’'s IEP
sheds no light on a compensatory education award. The standard is either what services it will
now take to remediate the Student, or how much the District failed to offer. With little evidence
to conduct the calculation either way, | find that the Student was denied 2.5 hours of
compensatory education per school day from June 17, 2014 though the present.

In addition, the Parent was denied meaningful participation during one IEP meeting. The IDEA
explicitly makes violation of meaningful participation rules a substantive violation. 20 U.S.C.
§ 1415(f)(3)(E)(ii)(I). Compensatory education is the remedy for substantive violations.

Neither party presented evidence as to how much compensatory education is owed to the
Student to compensate for the parental participation violation on its own. It could be argued that
this lack of evidence indicates that compensatory education should not be awarded at all, given
the Guardian’s burden of proof. | decline to reach this conclusion. In the absence of better
evidence, | look to the meeting that the Parent could not meaningfully participate in and award
one (1) additional hour of compensatory education as a remedy.

Regardless of whether the Student’s absences should have been excused or unexcused, in this
case | find that the District is not liable to provide services when the Student does not attend

school. Compensatory education shall be awarded only on the days that the Student actually
attended school, or will attend school until a FAPE is offered.

The Parent may decide how the hours of compensatory education are spent. The compensatory
education may take the form of any appropriate developmental remedial or enriching
educational service, product or device. The Compensatory education shall be in addition to, and
shall not be used to supplant, educational and related services that should appropriately be
provided through the Student’s IEP, or via dual enroliment or equitable participation should the
Student remain in private school, to assure meaningful educational progress.

ORDER

Now, May 26, 2015, it is hereby ORDERED as follows:

1. The Intellectual Disability classification shall be immediately removed from any IEP
offered by the District.

2. The District may either adopt the Parent’s IEE as its own evaluation, or may propose

a reevaluation of the Student consistent with this order. If choosing to reevaluate,
the District must complete its evaluation and offer programming expeditiously.
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3. The Student was denied a FAPE as described above.
4. The Parent was denied meaningful parental participation as described above.

5. The Student is awarded 1.85 hours of compensatory education for each day that the
Student attended school between December 4, 2013 and June 17, 2014, excluding
the period during which the Student received homebound instruction in April of
2014.

6. The Student is awarded 2.5 hours of compensatory education for each day that the
Student attended school between June 17, 2014 and the present.

7. The Student is awarded one (1) hour of compensatory education to remedy the
denial of meaningful parental participation during the June 17, 2014 IEP meeting.

8. Compensatory education is subject to the limitations described above.
9. Compensatory education shall continue to accrue at the rate of 2.5 hours for each

day that the Student attends school after the date of this order until the District
proposes programming in accordance with #2 of this order.

Itis FURTHER ORDERED that any claim not specifically addressed in this order is
DENIED and DISMISSED.

[s/ Brian Jason Ford
HEARING OFFICER
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This is aredacted version of the original decision. Select details have been removed
from the decision to preserve anonymity of the student. The redactions do not affect the
substance of the document.

Pennsylvania
Special Education Hearing Officer
DECISION

Child’s Name: A.G.

Date of Birth: [redacted]

Dates of Hearing: 7/28/2014, 7/29/2014, 8/1/2014, 9/3/2014, 9/4/2014, 9/5/2014, 9/29/2014,
9/30/2014, 10/1/2014, 10/2/2014, 11/3/2014, 11/7/2014, 11/10/2014, 11/12/2014, 1/21/2015,
1/22/2015, 1/23/2015, 1/26/2015, 1/27/2015, 1/28/2015, 1/30/2015, 2/23/2015, 2/27/2015,
3/17/2015, 3/23/2015, 3/25/2015, 3/26/2015, 3/31/2015, 4/6/2015 and 4/7/2015

CLOSED HEARING

ODR File No. 15166-13-14

Parties to the Hearing: Representative:

Parents Parent Attorney
Parent[s] Sonja Kerr Esq.
Public Interest Law Center
1709 Benjamin Franklin Parkway, 2nd Floor
Philadelphia , PA 19103
215-627-7100 x 229

Local Education Agency LEA Attorney

Philadelphia City School District Heather Matejik Esq.

Office of General Counsel Fox Rothschild LLP

Philadelphia, PA 19130 10 Sentry Parkway, Ste. 200, PO Box 3001

Blue Bell , PA 19422-3001
610-397-4433

Date Record Closed: May 4, 2015
Date of Decision: May 26, 2015
Hearing Officer: Mr. Brian Ford Esq.

ODR No. 15166-1314KE Page 1 of 13



Case 2:15-cv-04782-MSG Document 48-3 Filed 03/27/17 Page 59 of 79

Introduction

This matter arises under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. § 1400
et seq. and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504), 34 C.F.R. Part 104.4. It
is the companion to the case at ODR No. 15181-1314KE. Both hearing were heard together.

The Parent, who speaks [a language other than English], alleges that the District violated the
Parent’s right to meaningfully participate in meetings concerning the provision of FAPE to the
Student. The Parent also alleges that the District violated Child Find, failed to provide an
appropriate IEP, and denied the Student a FAPE.

Issues!?
1. Did the District violate its Child Find responsibilities?
2. Did the District deny the Guardian’s right to meaningful parental participation?

3. Did the District violate the Student’s rights by failing to provide an appropriate IEP or Section
504 plan?

4. Is the Student entitled to compensatory education?

Findings of Fact

The very large record of this hearing and its companion case was carefully reviewed in its
entirety. In special education due process hearings, there is a world of difference between what
is technically admissible and what is truly necessary to resolve the issues presented. | have
limited my findings of fact to what is necessary to resolve the parties’ dispute.

1. “Interpretation” describes the act of restating spoken language in a different language.
Interpretation can either be simultaneous (in which the interpreter restates the
communication as it is said) or consecutive (in which the interpreter restates the
communication just after it is said).

2. “Translation” describes the act of re-writing a document in another language.

3. “Sight translation” describes the act of reading text in one language out loud in another
language.

4. The Student’s native language is [not English]. The Student has limited English proficiency.
5. The Guardian is the Student’s legal guardian and “parent” for purposes of the IDEA.

6. The Guardian’s native language is [not English]. The Guardian has limited English
proficiency.

January 2011 to November 2012

1 The issues identified flow from the Guardian complaint and opening statement. The

Complaint includes claims regarding the District’s systemic practices, which were dismissed
at the start of this hearing, and a demand for IEE reimbursement that is now moot. The
Complaint does not include a demand for compensatory education. The Guardian argued at
the hearing that if the District was permitted to present evidence of mitigation arising after the
hearing was requested, the Guardian must also be permitted to include demands that were
not apparent at the time that the Complaint was filed. | accept this argument, as the Guardian
presents a new remedy, not a new issue, entitlement to which was not clear when the
Complaint was filed.
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7. The Student first arrived in Philadelphia from [another country] in January of 2011. NT 32,
832.

8. The student enrolled in 7th grade at [redacted parochial school] from February 21, 2011 until
March 30, 2011 S-42. The Student lived with the Student’s [relative] during this time.

9. From March 30, 2011 through sometime shortly prior to November 5, 2012, the Student
moved back to the [other country]. The Student did not attend school while in the [other
country].

November 2012 to February 2013

10. When the Student came back to Philadelphia, the Student lived with [another relative], who
was [the Student’s] guardian at that time.

11. On November 5, 2012, the Student enrolled in the District and was placed into [a District]
High School. S-29, S-30.

12. The Student stopped attending school on February 8, 2013. S-29.

13. During the 57 school days between the Student’s enrollment and withdraw, the Student was
absent or late on 28 days. S-29.

14. While enrolled at [the high school], the Student spent 90 minutes per day in English for
Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) classes.

15. The District did not identify the Student as in need of special education or propose to
evaluate the Student to determine a need for special education while attending [the high
school].

February 2013 to October 2013

16. On or around February 8, 2013, the Student moved back to the [the other country] and
stayed there for about a year. NT 836.2

October 2013 to End of 2013-14 School Year

17. On October 25, 2013, the Student re-enrolled in the District. The Student was re-enrolled by
the Guardian, who had become the Student’s legal guardian.

18. Upon re-enrollment, the Student was placed in [a second] High School. From enroliment
through the end of the school year, there were 148 days. The student was late or absent
during 97 of those days. S-29.

19. At [the second High School], the Student was placed in ESOL classes for three periods per
day. While the Student attended, teachers reported that the Student was able to
comprehend the classroom instruction and participate appropriately. S-29, NT 1839, 1851.

20. On March 28, 2014, the Guardian presented a letter and Court Order to [the second High
School] staff. In the context of an IDEA proceeding, these documents are tantamount to a
written request for a special education evaluation. S-22, S-23.

2 The timeline of the Student’s travels to and from the [other country] were highly disputed. |

find the Student’s testimony regarding the Student’s own whereabouts to be the most
persuasive. While testifying, the Student was forthright and honest about what the Student
could and could not remember. The Student is commended for this notable candor.
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21. On April 4, 2014, the District sent a permission to evaluate form (PTE), to the Guardian,
seeking consent to conduct a special education evaluation. S-19. The PTE was sent in
English. The Guardian denies receiving the PTE, but recalls attending meetings concerning
the evaluation request.

22. Between April of 2014 and the end of the 2013-14 school year the Student was absent or
late about 40 times. The Student’s attendance was such an issue that some of the Student’s
teachers wondered if the Student had withdrawn from school. S-29, NT 1840-1846.

Summer of 2014
23. On June 23, 2014 the Guardian requested this due process hearing.

24. The District employs Bilingual Counseling Assistants (BCA) who, among other job duties,
provide interpretation services. NT 14014-1405.

25. The Parties communicated, mostly via counsel, in the summer of 2014. It was agreed that
the District would fund an independent educational evaluation for the Student conducted by
a bilingual evaluator selected by the Guardian.

26. The IEE was completed on July 17, 2014 and was provided to the District shortly thereafter.
The evaluator concluded that the Student was eligible for special education as a student
with a specific learning disability (SLD). S-15.

27. The IEE mentions that the Student was scheduled for surgery during the week of July 21,
2014, to address an issue with the Student’s knee. According to the independent evaluator,
the Student’s knee never developed properly. Id.

28. The Student by that time had been diagnosed with Blount's Disease, a condition that causes
[a physical condition] and, in some cases, pain. Blount's Disease is corrected though a
complex surgical procedure followed by intense physical rehabilitation, both of which can be
painful. During rehabilitation, the patient’'s bones are screwed into a brace, which is adjusted
during rehabilitation and ultimately removed.

29. The Student was first diagnosed with Blount’s Disease sometime in 2014. NT 3268.

30. There is no preponderant evidence on the record to suggest when the Student first started
experiencing the symptoms of Blount’s Disease. The symptoms can appear in childhood or
adolescence, and may progress rapidly. There is no preponderant evidence that anybody at
[the second High School] noticed a problem with the Student’s mobility prior to the summer
of 2014. There is no preponderant evidence that the Guardian or Student alerted the District
to the Student’s condition prior to the IEE. NT, passim.

31. According to the Student’s surgeon, the Student’s case of Blount’s Disease may not have
been readily apparent to a layperson. NT 3268-3278.

32. The Student did not have surgery during the week of July 21. Some testimony indicates that
the District was under the impression that the Student had surgery during the week of July
21 up until the start of the 2014-15 school year.

33. On August 18, 2014, in response to the IEE, the District issued a Notice of Recommended
Educational Placement (NOREP) and another PTE. Both documents were provided in
English and in Spanish. The purpose of the NOREP was to obtain parental consent to
provide specially designed instruction in the areas of literacy and mathematics as a stopgap
until a full IEP could be developed. Literacy and math are areas identified in the IEE. The
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purpose of the PTE was to both enable the District to review and consider the IEE?, and to
conduct a bilingual speech evaluation recommended in the IEE. S-10.

2014-15 School Year

34. During the summer and early fall of 2014, the District and Parents continued to meet and
negotiation via counsel. Several placement options for the 2014-15 school year were
discussed. Ultimately, it was agreed that the Student should attend the [a] Learning
Academy (LA), which is housed within [a third] High School.

35. LA is a program primarily for students who have just immigrated to the United States from
other countries and have little to no English. LA is an ESOL placement, not a special
education placement. However, the District can provide special education to LA students.

36. The Student had surgery to correct Blount’s Disease just a few days after the start of the
2014-15 school year. The District was not immediately informed about the Student’s
surgery, but was aware of the Student’s absence from school. The District was notified
about the surgery in late September of 2014. NT 2069, 2685.

37. On October 6, 2014, the District provided forms in English and [Guardian’s native language]
so that the Student could receive homebound instruction. S-6. It is not clear whether these
forms were provided just before or just after the Guardian presented a doctor’s note
requesting homebound services. S-6. Regardless of the timing, the District informed the
Guardian that the doctor’s note was insufficient, and gave the Guardian the proper forms in
both English and [Guardian’s native language].

38. On October 6, 2014, the District also sent forms in English and [Guardian’s native language]
inviting the Parent to an IEP meeting. The purpose of the meeting was to review the
District’s reevaluation report (“RR” - mostly a copy of the IEE plus the bilingual speech
evaluation), and to draft an IEP. S-6.

39. The IEP meeting convened as scheduled on October 16, 2014. A [Guardian’s native
language] speaking BCA was in attendance, as was the Guardian and counsel for both
parties. S-44.

40. The District had a copy of its RR translated into [Guardian’s native language] and provided
that the Guardian. S-44.

41. The District agreed with the IEE’s conclusion that the Student was a student with a disability,
specifically SLD, as evidenced by the Student’s deficits in literacy and mathematics. S-3.
The District disagreed with the IEE’s conclusion that the Student should be placed in either
11th or 12th grade. Id.

42. The IEE recommended placement in 11th or 12th grade in consideration of the Student’s
age and to (in essence) foster the Student’s positive perception of both school and the
Student’s own abilities. Through March of 2015, the District refused this recommendation on
the basis that grade placement was only available to students who earned sufficient credits,

and the Student was lacking credits for an 11th or 12th grade placement. S-1, S-3, NT 1730-

1731.

43. From October 16, 2014 onward, the District has consistently proposed that the Student

should graduate on IEP goals, as opposed to academic credits. See, e.g. S-1. The Student’s

principal testified that students who graduate on IEP goals could be placed into any grade,

3 Itis a common misconception that LEAs need any further consent to “review” or “consider”
evaluations that are handed to them by parents. If review and consideration prompts the
need for more testing, further consent must be sought. This distinction is not entirely
pertinent to this case, as the District proposed a speech evaluation in the August 18, 2014
IEE.
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regardless of academic credits. This testimony notwithstanding, the District refused to place
the Student into 11th or 12th grade until May of 2015. NT 2669.

The District also disagreed with the IEE’s recommendation for “private language school
courses.” S-3. That recommendation was based on the independent evaluator's
understanding that the Student had not made progress towards mastery of English after two
years with ESOL services. Id. At the time of the IEE, based on number of days of full
attendance, the Student had spent less than one full school year in an ESOL (155 days).

For many of the same reasons, the District also disagreed with the IEE’s recommendation to
provide instruction to the Student in [Guardian’s native language]. During the hearing, the
independent evaluator clarified that her preference would be for the ESOL instructor to be
bilingual, but that actual instruction in ESOL programming need not be in [Guardian’s native
language]. S-4, NT 2278-2279.

During the October 16, 2014 IEP meeting, the District maintained that LA was an
appropriate placement for the Student. NT passim.

Although the District intended to discuss an IEP for the Student during the October 16, 2014
meeting, the Guardian had to leave after the evaluations were discussed and so an IEP was
not discussed in the Guardian’s absence. NT 1618.

On October 21, 2014 the District scheduled a second IEP meeting for October 28, 2014.
Invitations were sent in English and [Guardian’s native language] to the Guardian and
counsel. On the October 28, 2014, the Guardian was not able to attend and the meeting
was canceled. S-1, S-2.

On November 3, 2014, the Guardian returned the homebound instruction forms. S-50.

The Student’s surgeon testified that the Student could have returned to school in November
of 2014. NT 3279. It is not clear whether the Guardian knew this. This was never
communicated to the District prior to this hearing.

On November 19, 2014, the District scheduled a third IEP meeting for December 2, 2014.
Invitations were sent in English and [Guardian’s native language] to the Guardian and
counsel. A [Guardian’s native language] speaking BCA was present at the meeting. S-54.
The Guardian arrived late to the meeting and had to leave early. Consequently, the IEP
team could not review the entire IEP. NT 1624-1628.

The majority of the IEP meeting on December 2, 2014 was a discussion of the Student’s
need for, and the District’s obligation to provide, homebound instruction or instruction in the
home. NT 1626, P-25. The record does not enable a definite conclusion about which terms
were used during the meeting.

During the December 2, 2014 meeting, the parties agreed to meet again on December 17,
2014 (the District’s fourth attempt to discuss the IEP). S-55. The District issued invitations in
English and [Guardian’s native language]. S-55.

The Guardian canceled the December 17, 2014 IEP meeting due to illness. S-55.

On December 22, 2014 the District issued invitations in English and [Guardian’s native
language] to an IEP meeting on January 6, 2015 (the District’s fifth attempt to convene). The
Guardian canceled the meeting due to concerns about the weather. S-55.

Pursuant to its homebound instruction policy the District offered to provide three hours per
week of homebound instruction to the Student.
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57. The District’s policy permits certain District personnel to authorize up to three hours of
homebound instruction to high school students who are expected to be out of school for
more than four weeks. See NT at 2046, 2102, 2640-2643.

58. Despite the District’s policy, the District increased the Student’s level of homebound
instruction to four hours per week, and sometimes instructors stayed longer. As a result,
from December 2014 through February 2015, the Student received 3.5 to 4.5 hours of
homebound instruction per week. S-56.

59. In February of 2015, the Student returned to LA with bus transportation and elevator access,
but with no IEP in place. S-58.

60. The Student’s IEP team convened again in March of 2015. It is not clear if the IEP in its
entirety was reviewed during this meeting, which was the District’s sixth attempt to discuss
the IEP. NT 2669.

61. Starting with the first attempt to convene the Student’'s IEP team in October of 2014 through
its latest attempt in March of 2015, the District has always prepared a draft IEP to discuss at
the meetings.

62. In the course of six attempts to convene the IEP team in as many months, the District did
not fully translate the draft IEP into [Guardian’s native language]. Rather, the District relied
upon its IEP writing software to translate portions of the IEP. Specifically, in Pennsylvania,
IEPs are drafted on a form promulgated through PaTTAN. The District's software translated
the form, but not the content written on it. For example, the text identifying a section of the
IEP as goals was translated but the goals themselves were not. The District intended to rely
upon [Guardian’s native language] speaking BCAs to sight translate the English portions of
IEPs during IEP meetings. S-1, S-51, S-44; NT 161-167, 248, 256-258, 1614, 1625-1627.

63. Other than IEPs, all other IDEA documents were fully translated into [Guardian’s native
language].

Legal Principles
Credibility

During a due process hearing the hearing officer is charged with the responsibility of judging the
credibility of witnesses, weighing evidence and, accordingly, rendering a decision incorporating
findings of fact, discussion and conclusions of law. Hearing officers have the plenary
responsibility to make “express, qualitative determinations regarding the relative credibility and
persuasiveness of the witnesses”. Blount v. Lancaster-Lebanon Intermediate Unit, 2003 LEXIS
21639 at *28 (2003); See also generally David G. v. Council Rock School District, 2009 WL
3064732 (E.D. Pa. 2009).

In this case, | find that all witnesses testified to the best of their ability, relaying facts as they
recalled them. To whatever extent one witness’s testimony is inconsistent with another’s, they
legitimately remembered events differently.

As stated above, the Student’s candor is both noteworthy and commendable.
The Burden of Proof

The burden of proof, generally, consists of two elements: the burden of production and the
burden of persuasion. In special education due process hearings, the burden of persuasion lies
with the party seeking relief. Schaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 62 (2005); L.E. v. Ramsey Board
of Education, 435 F.3d 384, 392 (3d Cir. 2006). The party seeking relief must prove entitlement
to their demand by preponderant evidence and cannot prevail if the evidence rests in equipoise.
See N.M,, ex rel. M.M. v. The School Dist. of Philadelphia, 394 Fed.Appx. 920, 922 (3rd Cir.
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2010), citing Shore Reg'l High Sch. Bd. of Educ. v. P.S., 381 F.3d 194, 199 (3d Cir. 2004). In
this particular case, the Parent the party seeking relief and must bear the burden of persuasion.

Child Find

The IDEA statute and regulations require school districts to have in place procedures for
locating all children with disabilities, including those suspected of having a disability and
needing special education services although they may be “advancing from grade to grade.” 34
U.S.C. 8300.311(a), (c)(1).

Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE)

As stated succinctly by former Hearing Officer Myers in Student v. Chester County Community
Charter School, ODR No. 8960-0708KE (2009):

Students with disabilities are entitled to FAPE under both federal and state law.
34 C.F.R. 88300.1-300.818; 22 Pa. Code §8814.101-14 FAPE does not require
IEPs that provide the maximum possible benefit or that maximize a student’s
potential, but rather FAPE requires IEPs that are reasonably calculated to enable
the child to achieve meaningful educational benefit. Meaningful educational
benefit is more than a trivial or de minimis educational benefit. 20 U.S.C. §1412;
Board of Education v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176, 73 L.Ed.2d 690, 102 S.Ct. 3034
(1982); Ridgewood Board of Education v. M.E. ex. rel. M.E., 172 F.3d 238 (3d
Cir. 1999); Stroudsburg Area School District v. Jared N., 712 A.2d 807 (Pa.
Cmwith. 1998); Polk v. Central Susquehanna Intermediate Unit 16, 853 F.2d 171
(3rd Cir. 1988) Fuhrmann v. East Hanover Board of Education, 993 F.2d 1031
(3d Cir. 1993); Daniel G. v. Delaware Valley School District, 813 A.2d 36 (Pa.
Cmwlth. 2002)

The essence of the standard is that IDEA-eligible students must receive specially designed
instruction and related services, by and through an IEP that is reasonably calculated at the time
it is issued to offer a meaningful educational benefit to the Student in the least restrictive
environment.

Compensatory Education

Compensatory education is an appropriate remedy where a LEA knows, or should know, that a
child’s educational program is not appropriate or that he or she is receiving only a trivial
educational benefit, and the LEA fails to remedy the problem. M.C. v. Central Regional Sch.
District, 81 F.3d 389 (3d Cir. 1996). Compensatory education is an equitable remedy. Lester H.
v. Gilhool, 916 F.2d 865 (3d Cir. 1990).

Courts in Pennsylvania have recognized two methods for calculating the amount of
compensatory education that should be awarded to remedy substantive denials of FAPE. The
first method is called the “hour-for-hour” method. Under this method, students receive one hour
of compensatory education for each hour that FAPE was denied. M.C. v. Central Regional,
arguably, endorsees this method.

More recently, the hour-for-hour method has come under considerable scrutiny. Some courts
outside of Pennsylvania have rejected the hour-for-hour method outright. See Reid ex rel.Reid
v. District of Columbia, 401 F.3d 516, 523 (D.D.C. 2005). These courts conclude that the
amount and nature of a compensatory education award must be crafted to put the student in the
position that she or he would be in, but for the denial of FAPE. This more nuanced approach
was endured by the Pennsylvania Commonwealth Court in B.C. v. Penn Manor Sch. District,
906 A.2d 642, 650-51 (Pa. Commw. 2006) and, more recently, the United States District Court
for the Middle District of Pennsylvania in Jana K. v. Annville Cleona Sch. Dist., 2014 U.S. Dist.
LEXIS 114414 (M.D. Pa. 2014). It is arguable that the Third Circuit also has embraced this
approach in Ferren C. v. Sch. District of Philadelphia, 612 F.3d 712, 718 (3d Cir. 2010)(quoting
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Reid and explaining that compensatory education “should aim to place disabled children in the
same position that the would have occupied but for the school district’s violations of the IDEA.”).

Despite the clearly growing preference for the “same position” method, that analysis poses
significant practical problems. In administrative due process hearings, evidence is rarely
presented to establish what position the student would be in but for the denial of FAPE — or
what amount of what type of compensatory education is needed to put the Student back into
that position. Even cases that express a strong preference for the “same position” method
recognize the importance of such evidence, and suggest that hour-for-hour is the default when
no such evidence is presented:

“... the appropriate and reasonable level of reimbursement will match the
quantity of services improperly withheld throughout that time period, unless the
evidence shows that the child requires more or less education to be placed in the
position he or she would have occupied absent the school district’'s deficiencies.”

Jana K. v. Annville Cleona Sch. Dist., 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 114414 at 36-37.

Finally, there are cases in which a denial of FAPE creates a harm that permeates the entirety of
a student’s school day. In such cases, full days of compensatory education (meaning one hour
of compensatory education for each hour that school was in session) may be warranted if the
LEA’s “failure to provide specialized services permeated the student’s education and resulted in
a progressive and widespread decline in [the Student’'s] academic and emotional well-being”
Jana K. v. Annville Cleona Sch. Dist., 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 114414 at 39. See also Tyler W.
ex rel. Daniel W. v. Upper Perkiomen Sch. Dist., 963 F. Supp. 2d 427, 438-39 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 6,
2013); Damian J. v. School Dist. of Phila., Civ. No. 06-3866, 2008 WL 191176, *7 n.16 (E.D. Pa.
Jan. 22, 2008); Keystone Cent. Sch. Dist. v. E.E. exrel. H.E., 438 F. Supp. 2d 519, 526 (M.D.
Pa. 2006); Penn Trafford Sch. Dist. v. C.F. ex rel. M.F., Civ. No. 04-1395, 2006 WL 840334, *9
(W.D. Pa. Mar. 28, 2006); M.L. v. Marple Newtown Sch. Dist., ODR No. 3225-11-12-KE, at 20
(Dec. 1, 2012); L.B. v. Colonial Sch. Dist., ODR No. 1631-1011AS, at 18-19 (Nov. 12, 2011).

Whatever the calculation, in all cases compensatory education begins to accrue not at the
moment a child stopped receiving a FAPE, but at the moment that the LEA should have
discovered the denial. M.C. v. Central Regional Sch. District, 81 F.3d 389 (3d Cir. 1996).
Usually, this factor is stated in the negative — the time reasonably required for a LEA to rectify
the problem is excluded from any compensatory education award. M.C. ex rel. J.C. v. Central
Regional Sch. Dist., 81 F.3d 389, 397 (3d Cir. N.J. 1996)

In sum, | subscribe to the logic articulated by Judge Rambo in Jana K. v. Annville Cleona. If a
denial of FAPE resulted in substantive harm, the resulting compensatory education award must
be crafted to place the student in the position that the student would be in but for the denial.
However, in the absence of evidence to prove whether the type or amount of compensatory
education is needed to put the student in the position that the student would be in but for the
denial, the hour-for-hour approach is a necessary default — unless the record clearly establishes
such a progressive and widespread decline that full days of compensatory education is
warranted. In any case, compensatory education is reduced by the amount of time that it should
have taken for the LEA to find and correct the problem.

Meaningful Parental Participation

The IDEA requires schools to use procedures that afford parents an “opportunity ... to
participate in meetings with respect to the identification, evaluation, and educational placement
of the child, and the provision of a free appropriate public education to such child...” 20 U.S.C. §
1415(b)(1). Similarly, parents must receive prior written notice whenever a school district
proposes to the educational placement of a child. 20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(3). The IDEA explicitly
details the type of information that must be contained in such prior written notice. See, e.g. 20
U.S.C. § 1415(c)(1)(A)-(B), (E)-(F). This includes an explanation of why the change is proposed,
what other options were considered and why those other options were rejected. Id. These
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participation requirements are in addition to the procedural safeguards notice requirements
found at 20 U.S.C. § 1415(c)(2)(C).

In Pennsylvania, the NOREP is the document that provides the prior written notice to parents
that is contemplated by the IDEA. As explained by the Pennsylvania Training and Technical
Assistance Network (PaTTAN), “The NOREP explains the recommended educational
placement or class for [a] child, and explains [parental] rights.”
http://parent.pattan.net/iep/WhatisaNOREP.aspx. Moreover, the United States Supreme Court
has recognized that parents have a right to receive prior written notice whenever a school
district intends to alter a student’s “program or placement.” Honing v. Doe, 484 U.S. 305, 311-12
(1988); see also Petties v. District of Columbia, 238 F.Supp.2d 114, 123 -124 (D.D.C., 2002).

Parent’s Native Language

The notification required by 20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(3) must be sent “in the native language of the
parents, unless it clearly is not feasible to do so.” 20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(4). The same is true for
the IDEA’s procedural safeguards. 20 U.S.C. § 1415(d)(2).

As applied individuals with limited English proficiency, the term “native language” is defined as
the “language normally used by that individual.” 34 C.F.R. § 300.29.

As drafted, these rules do not permit consideration of the individual’s ability to understand
written or spoken English. If the individual has limited English proficiency (as the Parent does in
this case), procedural safeguards and prior written notices must be sent in the individual's native
language.

Discussion
Child Find

The District did not violate its child find obligations. There is no serious dispute in this case as to
whether the District has a system in place to identify students who may have disabilities. There
is a debate in this case as to whether the District’s child find materials are easily averrable in
[Guardian’s native language]. Regardless, it is the Student’s right to be found, not the
Guardian’s obligation to seek out child find information.

In this case, | accept the District and Student’s account of when the Student was in Philadelphia
and when the Student was in the [other country]. | also accept the District’s accounting of the
Student’s attendance. There was some dispute as to whether the District properly marked the
Student’s absences as excused or unexcused. Whether the Student’s absences were lawful
does not change the fact that the Student’s inconsistent school attendance inhibited the
District’s ability to form an opinion as to the need to evaluate any suspected disability.*

The Student did not enroll in the District until November 5, 2012, and left the District 57 school
days later. The Student was absent or late for much of those 57 days, but appear to participate
well when present. The record does not indicate any Child Find triggers during this time.

The Student re-enrolled in the District on October 25, 2013. The Guardian requested a special
education evaluation on April 4, 2014. The pertinent question, therefore, is whether the District
should have seen any child find triggers between those two dates. Again, the record does not
preponderantly reveal child find triggers or “red flags” during this period of time. Consequently,
the Guardian has not established by preponderant evidence that the District violated its child
find obligations.

Meaningful Parental Participation

4 In some cases, chronic absenteeism can be a child find trigger in and of itself. The evidence
in this case does not indicate that the Student’s absences were a child find trigger.

ODR No. 15166-1314KE Page 10 of 13



Case 2:15-cv-04782-MSG Document 48-3 Filed 03/27/17 Page 68 of 79

At the outset of this hearing, there was significant discussion about the District’s obligation to
translate documents into [Guardian’s native language]. The District is correct that the IDEA’s
regulations require translation of only the procedural safeguards notice and the prior written
notices issued pursuant to 20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(3) — NOREPs in Pennsylvania. The IDEA does
not explicitly require the translation of any other documents.

However, the IDEA requires schools to facilitate meaningful parental participation in the IEP
development process. Unlike the strict translation rules, meaningful participation requires inquiry
into the Parent’s ability to participate in meetings without translation. In this case, it is not
possible for the Parent to meaningfully participate in meetings concerning the provision of FAPE
to the Student unless the documents presented at that meeting are fully translated.

The purpose of an IEP meeting is to develop an IEP for the student. This requires more than a
recitation of an IEP. Rather, it requires a conversation about the Student’s needs, and what
program and placement will satisfy those needs. Reading a mostly-English document in
[Guardian’s native language] is not the dialogue contemplated by the IDEA. The Parent’s ability
to follow along in documents while participating in the required dialogue is essential.

In this case, the District put people in place so that the Parent could engage in dialogue during
the meetings. It is significant that the District went out of its way in its effort to schedule an IEP
meeting six separate times. | must note, however, that by the time that the team actually got to
addressing the IEP, that time would have been better spent discussing the draft IEP than
reading the English sections of the document to the Guardian out loud in [Guardian’s native
language]. To the extent that meetings were devoted to reading documents out loud in
[Guardian’s native language], the requisite discussion did not happen at all.

District witnesses agreed, and | explicitly find, that having the documents in an accessible form
either during the meetings, or prior to the meetings when mandated, is critical to meaningful
participation. (see, e.g. NT at 2995-2997). The Parent was placed at an obvious disadvantage
by effectively not having access to these documents.

The heavy patrticipation of counsel for both parties at every turn is somewhat confounding. The
Parent’s attorneys speak English.® It is reasonable for the District to assume that anything
communicated to the Parent’s attorney will be relayed to the Parent in a way that the Parent will
understand the information. | also have no doubt that communicating via counsel was often the
fastest, easiest way for the parties to communicate with each other. Even so, it is the District's
obligation to ensure meaningful parental participation. The Parent has no obligation to retain
services, let alone hire an attorney, in order to meaningfully participate.

In sum, | find that the District satisfied the IDEA’s narrow translation requirements but, even in
doing so, did not satisfy the IDEA’s requirements for meaningful parental participation. The
District put personnel in place so that the Parent could literally speak during meetings, but did
not make meaningful accommodations so that the Parent could prepare for meetings or
participate in meetings as they were happening. This is a violation of the Parent’s rights.

Provision of an Appropriate IEP

After accepting the IEE’s findings that the Student was a student with an SLD and in need of
special education, it was the District’s obligation to offer an appropriate IEP. The District drafted
an |IEP for the meeting on October 16, 2014 (S-1). There is some ambiguity in the record as to
when the District formally proposed that IEP with a NOREP, but the totality of the record leaves
no doubt whatsoever that the District was ready to implement that IEP the moment it received
parental consent.®

5 1do not know if any of the Parent’s attorneys also speak [Guardian’s native language], but
that is not relevant.

6 It must be noted that the District has no right to request a hearing to override parental
rejection of a proposed initial placement.
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The District has no right to request a hearing to override parental rejection of a proposed initial
placement. 22 Pa. Code § 14.162(c). Since the Guardian has never consented to the District’s
proposed IEP, the Student cannot claim a denial of FAPE if 1) the proposal was appropriate and
2) the District did not implement the IEP based on the Guardian’s rejection of it.

The District’s offered IEP was appropriate. It is derived in substantial part from the undisputed
portions of the IEE (which was most of the IEE), and paints an accurate picture of the Student’s
abilities and needs at the time the document was drafted. The IEP’s goals are directly related to
those needs, and present clear statements as to how the Student’s progress is to be
monitored.” The IEP also includes short term goals and objectives despite the fact that none are
technically required. Further, the IEP provides modifications and specially designed instruction,
both in an absolute sense and targeted on a goal-by-goal basis. In short, the IEP clearly
explains where the Student is, where the team wants the student to be by the expression of the
IEP, and what the District will do to get the Student from here to there. This is what the IDEA
requires.

The most significant testimony challenging the IEP came from the independent evaluator. | find
the independent evaluator’s critique to be hypercritical in the sense that her quarrel with the IEP
was that it is sub-optimal. Assuming arguendo that the independent evaluator is correct, the
independent evaluator argues for a standard beyond the District’s legal obligations. | am not
persuaded by this testimony. The Student could derive a meaningful educational benefit from
the District’s offered IEP.

The Guardian also challenges the IEP on the basis that it does not provide extended school
year (ESY) services. | find no preponderant evidence in the record to substantiate a claim that
the Student is entitled to ESY based on regression/recoupment data or that ESY services are
required in order for the Student to complete IEP goals.

| also consider whether the District should have provided instruction in the home. As discussed
at various points during this hearing, homebound instruction is a regular education service that
LEAs may provide to students who are unable to attend school for a finite period of time.

Instruction in the home is an IDEA placement (part of the IDEA’s continuum of placements) for
Students who cannot be educated in school. In this case, although unbeknownst to the parties,
the Student’s surgeon opined that the Student was able to attend school around the same time

that the Guardian was completing the homebound instruction forms. It is, therefore, unlikely that
the Student should have qualified for homebound instruction, let alone instruction in the home,
which is the most restrictive of all IDEA placements. When a student is able to attend school
and receive appropriate special education there, that student has no right to the IDEA’s most
restrictive placement option.

The District’s offered IEP is appropriate. By offering an appropriate IEP, the District has also
discharged its obligations under Section 504.

Compensatory Education

The Student is not entitled to compensatory education for any failure on the District’s part to
offer appropriate programming. However, the IDEA explicitly makes violation of meaningful
participation rules a substantive violation. 20 U.S.C. § 1415(f)(3)(E)(ii)(Il). Compensatory
education is the remedy for substantive violations.

Neither party presented evidence as to how much compensatory education is owed to the
Student to compensate for the parental participation violation on its own. It could be argued that
this lack of evidence indicates that compensatory education should not be awarded at all, given
7 The IEP is not flawless in regard to its measurability or objectivity, but that is not the

standard. The IEP’s goals are appropriately measurable, objective and baselined.
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the Guardian’s burden of proof. | decline to reach this conclusion. In the absence of better
evidence, | look to the meetings that the Parent could not meaningfully participate in. Of the six
scheduled IEP meetings, the Guardian attended three. | therefore award three hours of
compensatory education to the Student to compensate for the District’s denial of the Guardian’s
right to manfully participate in IEP meetings.

The Guardian may decide how the hours of compensatory education are spent. The
compensatory education may take the form of any appropriate developmental remedial or
enriching educational service, product or device. The Compensatory education shall be in
addition to, and shall not be used to supplant, educational and related services that should
appropriately be provided through the Student’s IEP, or via dual enrollment or equitable

participation should the Student remain in private school, to assure meaningful educational
progress.

ORDER

Now, May 26, 2015, it is hereby ORDERED as follows:
1. The Parent was denied meaningful parental participation as described above.

2. The Student is awarded three (3) hours of compensatory education as described
above.

3. Compensatory education is subject to the limitations described above.

4. All other claims are denied.

Itis FURTHER ORDERED that any claim not specifically addressed in this order is
DENIED and DISMISSED.

/s/ Brian Jason Ford
HEARING OFFICER
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M.P., Guardian
A.G., Student

V.
ODR No. 15166-1314KE
School District of Philadelphia

AND
AND
ODR No. 15181-1314KE
B.G., Parent
T.R., Student CONSOLIDATED

V.

School District of Philadelphia

CONSOLIDATED PRE-HEARING ORDER
Introduction and Procedural History

This consolidated pre-hearing order applies to both of the above-captioned due process
hearings. Those hearings, described briefly below, have been consolidated. This pre-hearing
order resolves two questions of law that are equally applicable in both cases. A third pre-hearing
issue that applies only in ODR No. 15181-1314KE is also resolved. To the extent that this order
applies to one case but not the other, that is explained herein. Prior pre-hearing orders in these
cases speak for themselves and are not discussed.

On June 23, 2014, M.P. requested Due Process Hearing No. 15166-1314KE against the School
District of Philadelphia (District). M.P. is the legal guardian of A.G., a student in the District.!
M.P.’s Compliant raises claims under three statutes: the Individuals with Disabilities Education
Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq; Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section
504), 34 C.F.R. Part 104.4; and the Americans with Disabilities Act as Amended (ADA), 42
U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.

On June 26, 2014, B.G. requested Due Process Hearing No. 15181-1314KE against the
District. B.G. is the parent and legal guardian of T.R., a student in the District. B.G.’s Complaint
raises claims under the same three statutes: the IDEA, Section 504, and the ADA.

M.P. demands, inter alia, a finding that the District “has a systemic practice of failing to timely
evaluate students who are English Language Learners and who may have a disability, and
further find that the [District] has a systemic practice of not informing parents of ELL students of
the process for an initial special education evaluation.” M.P. further demands a finding that the
District “fails to fully inform parents, including [M.P.], of their rights and the [District’s]
responsibilities in situations where the parent does not speak English as a first language, and
on information and belief, this is a systemic deficiency of the [District.]”

11t is not disputed that M.P. is A.G.’s “parent” for purposes of the IDEA.

ODR Nos. 15166-1314KE & 15181-1314KE Page 1 of 8



Case 2:15-cv-04782-MSG Document 48-3 Filed 03/27/17 Page 73 of 79

B.G. demands, inter alia, a finding that the District “fails to fully inform parents, including [B.G.],
of their rights and the [District’s] responsibilities in situations where the parent does not speak
English as a first language, and on information and belief, this is a systemic deficiency of the
[District.]”

On July 3, 2014, the District filed an Answer and Motion to Dismiss (MTD) in Hearing
15166-1315KE . Through the MTD, the District seeks dismissal of M.P.’s ADA claims and the
“systematic practice” claims. M.P. responded to the MDT on September 26, 2014.

On September 30, 2014, the District moved in Hearing 15181-1314KE to limit claims arising
before the first day of the 2013-14 school year, arguing that those claims are barred by the
IDEA’s two-year statute of limitations. B.G. responded to that motion on October 15, 2014.

These cases were consolidated on September 11, 2014. After consolidation, the District
essentially filed the existing MTD in both cases. The District also filed a reply to the Parent’s
response. The parents in both cases submitted a sur-reply to the MDT on October 15, 2014.

With this background, | now resolve questions of my authority to hear ADA claims in both cases,
my authority to hear claims of systemic violations in both cases, and the applicability of the
IDEA’s statute of limitations in Hearing 15181-1314KE.

Jurisdiction to Hear ADA Claims

In its motion, the District argues that ODR lacks jurisdiction over ADA claims. In making this
argument, the District points to 34 CFR §300.507(a)(1) as the basis of ODR’s jurisdiction. This is
an oversimplification. The referenced regulation establishes the right of a parent or public
agency to request a due process hearing to resolve IDEA disputes. Were that the sole basis of
ODR’s jurisdiction, ODR would have no authority to hear claims arising under Section 504. The
District does not challenge ODR’s authority to hear Section 504 claims.

It is instructive, however, examine the basis of ODR’s jurisdiction to hear IDEA claims as a
starting point for an analysis of ODR’s authority to hear ADA claims. Although the IDEA
establishes the right to a due process hearing, much is left to the states to create a system of
administrative dispute resolution. In Pennsylvania, the Commonwealth’s special education
regulations empower the Secretary of Education to establish such a system. See 22 Pa. Code
§ 14.162. Pursuant to this authority, Pennsylvania created ODR both to adjudicate IDEA claims,
and to provide resources for parents and educational agencies to resolve educational disputes
for children served by the early the intervention system, students who are gifted, and students
with disabilities.

As with the IDEA, Pennsylvania also has its own regulations for the implementation of Section
504. These regulations cite back to the Commonwealth’s special education regulations,
establishing that ODR has jurisdiction over Section 504 claims.2

2 Pennsylvania’s special education regulations, 22 Pa. Code § 14 (Ch. 14), has been updated
more recently than Pennsylvania’s regulations for “protected handicapped students,” 22 Pa.
Code § 15 (Ch. 15). As such, Ch. 15 cites to sections of Ch. 14 that are currently “reserved” but
served the same function as 22 Pa. Code § 14.162.
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Unlike the IDEA and Section 504, there is no clear statute or regulation that serves as the basis
of ODR’s jurisdiction to hear ADA claims. This conspicuous lack of authority strongly suggests
that ODR has no ADA jurisdiction.

In light of the nonexistent state-level statutory basis for ODR’s ADA jurisdiction, it is remarkable
that the IDEA’s federal regulations impose an administrative exhaustion requirement on ADA
claims whenever the IDEA is implicated. Whenever a parent or student may seek relief under
both the IDEA and the ADA, the parent or student must exhaust the IDEA’s administrative
procedures before brining an ADA civil action. 20 U.S.C. § 1415(l) provides:

Rule of Construction

Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to restrict or limit the rights,
procedures, and remedies available under the Constitution, the Americans with
Disabilities Act of 1990 [42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.], title V of the Rehabilitation Act
of 1973 [29 U.S.C. 790 et seq.], or other Federal laws protecting the rights of
children with disabilities, except that before the filing of a civil action under such
laws seeking relief that is also available under this subchapter, the procedures
under subsections (f) and (g) shall be exhausted to the same extent as would be
required had the action been brought under this subchapter.

See also, 34 C.F.R. § 300.516.

| do not construe this language as a requirement to pursue ADA claims within an IDEA hearing.
Rather, this provision stops ADA civil actions until IDEA claims are administratively exhausted.
As discussed in detail below, however, my interpretation of this language is not compatible with
current case law.

This case presents the circumstances anticipated at 20 U.S.C. § 1415(]). The Parent’s ADA
claims are entirely derivative of their Section 504 claims. Whether or not | dismiss the ADA
claims, | will hear all of the same evidence. Moreover, the Parents are not seeking remedies
under the ADA in addition to remedies under the IDEA and Section 504, with the exception of
declaratory relief. Consequently, resolving this jurisdictional issue will have no impact
whatsoever on what will actually happen during the hearing.3

Perhaps in recognition of this practical consideration, a number of judges have concluded that
when parents assert ADA violations that are coextensive with IDEA violations, they are required
to pursue the ADA claims during the special education due process hearing:

Parents of children with disabilities are not limited to suing local educational
authorities under the IDEA and may pursue actions under other laws, including
the ADA and Section 504. However, “when parents choose to file suit under
another law that protects the rights of handicapped children—and the suit could
have been filed under the [IDEA]—they are first required to exhaust the [IDEA's]

3 This is not to minimize the importance of declaratory relief. A declaration that the District has or
has not violated the ADA may have a real-world impact upon the parties, and it is not proper for
me to make such a determination absent jurisdiction to do so.
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remedies to the same extent as if the suit had been filed originally under the
[IDEA's] provisions.” Mrs. W. v. Tirozzi, 832 F.2d 748, 756 (2d Cir.1987); see also
20 U.S.C. § 1415()).

R.B. ex rel. L.B. v. Board of Educ. of City of New York, 99 F.Supp.2d 411, 415 (S.D.N.Y., 2000).
See, also, Hesling v. Avon Grove School Dist., 428 F.Supp.2d 262, 276 -277 (E.D. Pa., 2006):

In count five of her complaint, Ms. Hesling asserts an attendant claim under
§1983 for violation of the IDEA (as well as claims under §1983 for violations of
the ADA and Section 504, discussed infra). She seeks both monetary damages
and declaratory relief for violation of § 1983. Here again, some of the relief Ms.
Hesling seeks is available under the IDEA and exhaustion is therefore required
for Ms. Hesling to proceed with this claim. Cf. W.B., 67 F.3d at 495 (finding that
money damages are available in a § 1983 action premised on a violation of the
IDEA, but “observ[ing] that the exhaustion requirement may not be circumvented
by casting an IDEA claim as a § 1983 action predicated on IDEA”).

Another clear indication that ODR has jurisdiction to hear ADA claims is found in Swope v.
Central York School District, 796 F.Supp.2d 592 (M.D. Pa. 2011). In Swope, the parent
requested a due process hearing, and raised only IDEA claims during the hearing. After the
hearing, the parent raised derivative Section 504 and ADA claims for the first time in the district
court. The district court dismissed the Section 504 and ADA claims because Parent had not
included those claims in the due process complaint. In doing so, the district court explicitly
rejected the parent’s argument that administrative exhaustion of ADA claims was not required
because he hearing officer lacked jurisdiction over the ADA. To the contrary, as in the Hesling
case, the court concluded that administrative exhaustion was required if some of the relief
demanded under the ADA was also available under the IDEA. Id at 599-600.

It would be exceedingly weird for a court to force parents to present ADA claims within a special
education due process hearing if ODR had no jurisdiction over ADA claims. Such a result would
place parents in an awkward position: they would have to present ADA claims to hearing officers
knowing that those hearing officers had no jurisdiction to hear those claims, or risk losing the
right to bring an ADA civil action at the conclusion of the due process hearing.

The Swope court never explicitly says that ODR has jurisdiction to hear derivative ADA claims
(meaning that the ADA claims arise out of the exact same actions or omissions as the IDEA and
§ 504 claims, and the same relief is sought). However, the only logical way to read Swope — the
only way that avoids an absurd result — is that parents do not get two bites at the apple. If relief
is available under the IDEA or Section 504, parents may not double their total remedy by
seeking the same relief a second time through an ADA civil action. For this reason, ADA claims
that are derivative of IDEA or Section 504 claims must go to ODR first. That way, a hearing
officer may award all of the relief that a parent may be entitled to at the administrative level,
satisfying all administrative exhaustion requirements in one fell swoop.

The focus on the coextensive relief available for derivative ADA claims is apparent not only in
Swope, but also in every other case in Pennsylvania to consider the issue. All of the case law on
this issue clearly indicates that when the entirety of the demanded relief can be obtained
administratively, all claims must proceed through a due process hearing before going to court. In

ODR Nos. 15166-1314KE & 15181-1314KE Page 4 of 8



Case 2:15-cv-04782-MSG Document 48-3 Filed 03/27/17 Page 76 of 79

Batchelor v. Rose Tree Media Sch. Dist., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44250(E.D. Pa., 2013), the
court dismissed ADA and Section 504 claims for failure to exhaust administrative remedies
because the parents could obtain all relief through an IDEA due process hearing. This focus on
the availability of relief at the administrative level is further emphasized in Gaudino v.
Stroudsburg Area Sch. Dist., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 102382 (M.D. Pa., 2013). In Gaudino, the
court found that a parent could bring a civil action under the ADA and Section 504 without first
going through ODR only because the parent was seeking relief that is not available under the
IDEA. Id at 23-24.

The most blunt statement on the issue is found in D.F. v. Red Lion Area Sch. Dist., 2012 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 6925, 2012 WL 175020, (M.D. Pa., 2012):

Defendants contend, and Magistrate Judge Methvin agreed, that because
Plaintiffs did not raise their ADA or Rehabilitation Act claims at their due process
hearing, that those claims are now barred. Plaintiffs counter that they were not
required to exhaust their ADA and Rehabilitation Act claims at the IDEA due
process hearing because the IDEA claims raised at the due process hearing
were nearly identical to the ADA and Rehabilitation Act claims. The Court cannot
agree. The statute and case law make clear that "IDEA-related claims brought
under the ADA or the Rehabilitation Act [must] be submitted in the first instance
to administrative review." R.R. v. Manheim Twp. Sch. Dist., 412 F. App'x 544,
549-50 (3d Cir. 2011); see also Swope v. Cent. York Sch. Dist., No. 1:10-
cv-02541, 796 F. Supp. 2d 592, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 65804, at *19 (M.D. Pa.
June 21, 2011)

D.F. at *184

Apart from one unpublished decision, this issue has not been addressed by Pennsylvania state
courts. The unpublished decision, however, is in total agreement with the referenced federal
cases. Collins v. State, 2013 Pa. Commw. Unpub. LEXIS 797(Pa. Commw. Ct.2013).

In sum, there is no explicit statutory or regulatory foundation for ODR’s jurisdiction to hear ADA
claims. However, every court in Pennsylvania to have considered the issue has concluded that
when ADA claims are entirely derivative of IDEA or Section 504 claims, the ADA claims must go
through ODR before going to court. Although my reading of the applicable statutes and
regulations may differ from the analysis of the various courts (particularly in regard to 20 U.S.C.
§ 1415(1); 34 C.F.R. § 300.516), | will not substitute my own legal analysis for the analysis of
every judge to consider the issue. Consequently, the District’s motion to dismiss the ADA claims
is denied in both cases.

Systematic Violations

There is a world of difference between consolidating two cases for the sake of efficiency and
convenience, and certifying a class action at the administrative level. In her complaint, M.P. asks
me to find that the District violated not only her rights, but the rights of all other similarly situated
parents. M.P. demands remedies not only for herself, but for all parents within the District who

4 R.R. v. Manheim Twp. Sch. Dist. is not precedential, per Rule 5.7. The same is not true for D.F.
v. Read Lion Area Sch. Dist.
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do not speak English as a first language. Similarly, B.G. seeks a finding that the District
systemically violates the rights of parents who do not speak English as a first language. Both
case include allegations that the District not only violated the rights of the named students, but
also of other similarly situated students.

| have no authority to make such findings. The scope of claims that | may hear may be broader
that what is indicated in a strict reading of applicable statutes (e.g. ADA claims, discussed
above). Yet for each type of claim that | have jurisdiction over, my inquiry is limited to whether
the rights of an individual student or parent have been violated.

The IDEA gives parents, not classes of parents, the right to request a due process hearing. 34
CFR §300.507(a)(1). If a systemic policy or practice yields a violation of an individual student or
parent’s rights, it is within my purview to take evidence regarding the policy or practice. Further,
it is appropriate for me to enjoin schools from implementing a policy that yields a violation. 20
U.S.C. § 1415(f)(3)(E)(iii). However, at the administrative level, such remedies must be awarded
on a student-by-student or parent-by-parent basis. See, e.g., M.M. v. Sch. Dist. of Phila., ODR
No. 01539-1112KE (Ford, 2011); P.V. v. Sch. Dist. of Phila., ODR No. 01541-1112KE (Ford,
2011). See also P.V. v. Sch. Dist. of Phila., 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 125370 (E.D. Pa. Oct. 31,
2011) (in which Judge Davis took note of my conclusion that | lacked authority to order
wholesale changes to the District’s procedures) and P.V. v. Sch. Dist. of Phila., 289 F.R.D. 227
(E.D. Pa. 2013) (in which Judge Davis did what | lacked authority to do: certifed a class).

In both of these cases, if the District’s policies or practices violated either parent/guardian or
either students’ rights, evidence of those polices or practices my be relevant — along with other
evidence to show how those polices or practices were applied to the individual complainants.
Further, if a policy or practice resulted in a violation, | am empowered to order the District to
correct procedural violations on a case-by-case basis. | have no authority to find that a policy or
practice results in violations per se, or results in violations for all similarly situated students or
parents. Similarly, | have no authority to order wholesale changes in the District’s policies or
practices. Therefore, | grant the District’s motion to dismiss claims of systemic violations.

Statute of Limitations - Hearing 15181-1314KE

In sum, the IDEA imposes a two-year statute of limitations, and then carves out two exceptions
to the statute of limitations. The Third Circuit has resolved exceptions are narrowly construed.
D.K. v. Abington Sch. Dist., 696 F.3d 233 (3d Cir. Pa. 2012). Currently, in the Third Circuit, there
is much debate over whether the statute of limitations bars claims arising more than two years
before a due process hearing is requested, or if the IDEA should be construed to create a longer
period of time. This debate is coming to a head in the Third Circuit Court of Appeals.? In this
case, none of this matters, given B.G.’s claims and demanded relief.

The IDEA’s statute of limitations never precludes evidence or testimony per se. Evidence that
falls outside of the potential liability period is always admitted to establish necessary
background and context. Rather, the statute of limitations bars relief that accrues outside of the
liability period. In this case, the Complaint was filed on June 6, 2014. By the District’s method,

5 An appeal of a decision from the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania,
G.L. v. Ligonier Valley Sch. Dist. Auth., 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 180923, 2013 WL 6858963 (W.D.
Pa.Dec. 30, 2013), is currently pending in the Third Circuit Court of Appeals.
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claims arising before June 6, 2012 are barred. Assuming, arguendo, that the District is correct,
the first inquiry is whether B.G. seeks a remedy that accrued before June 6, 2012.

None of B.G.’s demands specify a period of time. For example, B.G. demands a finding “that the
[District] has wholly failed to comply with its responsibilities to provide [T.R.] a free appropriate
public education designed to meet [T.R.’s] unique educational needs and order compensatory
education accordingly.” That demand, by itself, sheds no light on when compensatory education
allegedly began to accrue.

The complaint alleges that T.R. attended school in the District from kindergarten through the
present, although a portion of that time was spent in a District school that became a charter
school. It is not clear exactly when T.R. started attending the charter school, but T.R. returned to
the District sometime in the first half of the 2013-14 school year, according to the Complaint.
There is also no dispute that T.R. is currently a 17 year old high school student. This information
is presented in a portion of the Complaint titled “[T.R.’s] Educational Background.” Complaint at
5-9. The next section of the Compliant is titled “Nature of the Problem.” Complaint at 9-10. In
this section, B.G. alleges a denial of FAPE during the fall term of the 2013-14 school year
through the present (ongoing). All of this falls within the statute of limitations, according to the
District. The “Nature of the Problem” section also alleges that the District denied B.G.
meaningful participation in the IEP development process, but this section concerns the period of
time starting in the fall of 2013. This time period syncs with the time period referenced in the
section of the Complaint titled “Claims.”

Despite the extensive background information, in the language of the IDEA, the Complaint
includes a description of the nature of the problem occurring from the fall of 2013 through the
present.6 The entirety of this period falls within the IDEA’s statute of limitations, according to the
District’s calculation. Therefore, the District’s motion to limit claims is denied as moot.

An order consistent with the foregoing follows.

6 In her “Answer to District’s Motion to Limit,” B.G. argues that the District’s obligations to T.R.
are not limited by T.R.’s enroliment, and that the District’s interpretation of the IDEA’s statute of
limitations is wrong. This Answer does not specifically allege violations occurring before the fall
of 2013 and, moreover, | am confined by the four corners of the Complaint. 20 U.S.C. § 1415(f)
(3)(B). Although claims can be amended, B.G.’s Answer is not an amendment. See 20 U.S.C. §
1415(c)(2)(E).
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ORDER
Now, October 22, 2014, it is hereby ORDERED as follows:

1. The District’s motion to dismiss ADA claims is DENIED in both ODR No.
15166-1314KE and ODR No. 15181-1314KE.

2. The District’'s motion to dismiss claims of systemic violations is GRANTED in both
ODR No. 15166-1314KE and ODR No. 15181-1314KE.

3. The District’s motion to dismiss claims falling outside of the IDEA’s statute of
limitations in ODR No. 15181-1314KE is DENIED as moot.

/s/ Brian Jason Ford
HEARING OFFICER
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

T.R., a minor, individually, by and through
her parent, Barbara Galarza, and on behalf
all others similarly situated,

Barbara Galarza, individually, and on behalf
of all others similarly situated,

A.G., a minor, individually, by and through
his parent, Margarita Peralta, and on behal
all others similarly situated,

Margarita Peralta, individually, and on beha
of all others similarly situated,

L.R., a minor, individually, by and through h
parent, Madeline Perez, and on behalf of al
others similarly situated,

D.R., a minor, individually, by and through
her parent, Madeline Perez, and on behalf
all others similarly situated,

J.R., a minor, individually, by and through h
parent, Madeline Perez, and on behalf of al
others similarly situated,

line Perez individually, and on behalf g

all others similarly situated,

R.H., a minor, individually, by and through
his parent, Manging Lin, and on behalf of al
others similarly situated,

Manqing Lin, individually, and on behalf of
all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,
V.

The School District of Philadelphia,

Civil Action No. 15-04782-MSG

of

EIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION
COMPLAINT

of

is

—
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Defendant. |
l. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. The School District of Philadelphia (“District”)iké the City of Philadelphia, is a
richly diverse community and includes at least 26,8tudents from families who speak
languages other than English. A significant petaga of these families include children with
disabilities who are entitled to individualized edtion programs. Yet, the parents are unable
to participate meaningfully in the development ledit children’s education programs, because
the District has systematically failed in its legaity to translate essential planning documents
and to provide sufficient interpretation services.

2. Plaintiff T.R., who does not speak English fluentiyas improperly evaluated
only in English, leading to her being incorrectlemtified as having an intellectual disability.
Her parent, Barbara Galarza, was deprived of gifficoral interpretation and translation of
that evaluation. As a result, T.R. did not recappropriate educational services and was left
without any educational services for a prolongedopleof time.

3. In the case of Plaintiff A.G., the District did nevaluate him for disabilities
until after a Family Court order notified the Distrthat A.G.’s family was Spanish speaking
and that A.G. needed to be evaluated. Despite patce from A.G.’s family requesting that
documents be sent home in Spanish, the Distrigidfad0 communicate with his family in
Spanish. Meanwhile, A.G. was wrongly retained imtgrade, deprived of special education
services, and left without any schooling for selvaranths while recuperating from leg surgery.

4, The District has also failed to provide Plaintifialeline Perez with Spanish

translations of the District’'s evaluations and etdiomal plans for her son, Plaintiff L.R. Ms.
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Perez requested complete translations, but theiddisas only translated section titles of some

documents. Although the District had been inforrteat L.R. was diagnosed as autistic in

2012, Ms. Perez did not learn until 2016 that autid not been addressed in L.R.’s non-

translated educational plans.

5. Ms. Perez is also the mother of Plaintiffs D.R. drd., who, like L.R., have

disabilities and are entitled to special educasiervices. As with L.R.’s educational plans, the
District has refused to translate into Spanish l@ngtmore than section titles of the plans it
has provided for D.R. and J.R., despite Ms. Penegated requests for complete

translations.

6. Plaintiff R.H. is a kindergarten student who hasrbdiagnosed with autism and
is gifted in mathematics, and he has a number efigbeducation needs. Mandarin is the
language spoken in R.H.’s home, and both of R.plaients have limited English proficiency.
Although the District agreed to translate somel fitecuments into Mandarin, it refuses to
provide translations of more than the headingstidad other limited information for R.H.’s
proposed re-evaluation and proposed individuale@gcation program. The District’s refusal
has left his mother, Plaintiff Manging Lin, unahée participate meaningfully in the planning

rocess for her son.

7. 3-This case is filed on behalf of thousands of sttgléke Plaintiffs A.G-and

T.R.L.R, D.R, J.R., and R.Hwith disabilities who have parents like PlaigtiBarbara

Galarzaand Margarita PeraltaMadeline Perez, and Manging Luwwho are “Limited English

Proficient” (“LEP”).! To communicate effectively with school personitle¢se LEP parents

! The term “Limited English proficient” is the terndlogy used in both the Elementary and Secondary
Education Act, § 9101(25) and the Individuals widisabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1401(184)hen
applicable to a student, the term LEP, or its deiwe, student with “Limited English Proficiencys i

88144459:1
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and their children, who often have limited Englmioficiency themselves, need oral
interpretation services (the act of restating spdkeguage in a different language) and
translation services (the act of rewriting a docoime another languagé).Yet, despite the
overwhelming and accumulating evidence of needDistrict has systematically and with
deliberate indifference denied essential transiadéind interpretation services to LEP parents of
children with disabilities, as well as to the cheld themselves.

8. 4By law, meeting the educational needs of childreth @isabilities occurs
within a process of written notice, parent consanton-discriminatory evaluation, creation and
review of documents, development of a plan, andtingse with school staff and parents — all
of which is outlined in the Individuals with Diséties Education Act (“IDEA”), 20 U.S.C. §
1400 et seq., and is referred to as the IndividedlEducation Program (or “IEP”) process.
LEP parentsand their children with disabilities have beenrileggl of meaningful participation
in the IEP process because the District providssficient oral interpretation services and
refuses to timely provide completely translateduwtoents. These deficiencies violate the
IDEA, 20 U.S.C. 8§ 1400 et seq.; 34 C.F.R. Part 3DPa. Code Chapter 14; the Americans
with Disabilities Act as Amended; Section 504 od tRehabilitation Act; 22 Pa. Code Chapter

15; the Equal Opportunities Act; and Title VI oktiCivil Rights Act of 1964.

synonymous with English Language Learner (“ELL")Emglish Learner (“EL"). While the term ELL or Bk
favored and should be used because it accuratelyotes that a student is learning English rathan tlabeling
the student limited or deficient, the term LEP ra@maapplicable to parents in the context of idgmg and
addressing language barriers to ensure parencipatibn. The term “native language,” when usethwi
respect to an individual who is limited English ficient, means the language normally used by tlévidual
or, in the case of a child, the language normadlgduby the parents of the child. 20 U.S.C. § 120)1(

2SeeEx. A, FF 1 1, 2. References to the Hearing @fficexplicit findings in the decisions are referite as
“FF” (findings of fact) or as “CL” (conclusions d&hw). References to the underlying administrahearing
transcript are “N.T.” for Notes of Transcript.

3 The word “parent” or “parents” as used in this @tmnt includes all persons included in the defamtof
parent set forth in the IDEA at 20 U.S.C. § 140)(23
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9. 5-Because the special education process is a pargatrédystem, LEP parents,
like all parents, must be fully informed in order provide consent. They also must be able to
participate meaningfully in the IEP process throtig timely receipt of completely translated
documents and sufficient interpretation servicEarent participation is essential to ensuring
that a child with a disability receives a free ayprate public education in the least restrictive
environment.

10. 6-Throughout the IEP process, school staff and panesty on certain IEP
documents. These documents include the IndivicklEducation Programs (“IEPS”), Notices
of Recommended Educational Placement (“NOREP”)fRAfpitten Notice, Procedural
Safeguards Notice, IEP Team Meeting Invitationsniféatation Determinations, Permission to
Evaluate, Permission to Re-Evaluate, EvaluationoRep Re-Evaluation Reports,
Psychoeducational Reports, progress reports, articklé Consent Forms (referred to
collectively as “IEP process documents”). In addit certain regular education form
documents which are readily available to non-LERepis are critical to the parent’s
knowledge of his or her child’s educational progrgdacement, and services. These include:
report cards, homebound forms, pre-English Langudages placement letters, and progress
reports (referred to collectively as “regular edimaforms”).

11. #-These documents are so essential that they mystob@led in writing and in
the native language of the parent or other modeoafmunication used by the parent, unless it
is clearly not feasible to do so. In contraventidrthese requirements, the District has refused
to timely and completely translate IEP process dums and regular education forms. The

District also has failed to provide sufficient camipensive oral interpretation services and to

conduct bilingual evaluations as required by lafs a result, LEP parents of children with
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disabilities have been shut out of the IEP proeeskdenied their right to notice, informed
consent, and meaningful participation, in violatmingoverning laws and to the significant
detriment of their children.

12.  8-Named Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and timusands of members of
the “Parent Class” and the “Student Class,” defibeldw, file this action to require the
District to provide legally-mandated translatiordanterpretation services, so that LEP parents
and their children can participate meaningfulythe IEP process. Plaintiffs also seek to
ensure that all students who have disabilitiespaoperly evaluated in their native language as

required by law.

Il. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

13. 9-The claims in this action arise under the IDEA,2&.C. 88 1400 et seq.,
and 34 C.F.R. Chapter 300; Section 504 of the Righ&ibn Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794, the Equal
Education Opportunities Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1703(fitleTVI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42
U.S.C. 8§ 2000d; and 22 Pa. Code Chapter 14. Tdwsthas subject matter jurisdiction over
the federal law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 188d 20 U.S.C. 88 1415(i)(2) and
1415(i)(3)(A).

14. 10-The claims for declaratory and injunctive relie¢ authorized by 28 U.S.C.
88 2201 and 2202.

15. 1E-This Court may exercise supplemental jurisdictieerathe state law claims
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. Chapter 14 of then&dvania Code is the state special
education law which implements the IDEA and corgadditional provisions concerning

education for students with disabilities. 22 Pad€ § 14.1 et seq.

16. 12-Venue in this district is proper under 28 U.S.CL3®1(b).
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17. 13-Plaintif's A.G. and T.R.have exhausted administrative remedies to thenexte
required by the IDEA, 20 U.S.C. 8§88 1415(i)(2) artla(i)(3)(A). Plaintifs-A-G—and
F-R.Theyhave completed the IDEA hearing process, eacharhtreceiving a due process
hearing decision dated May 26, 2015, attached tiaagtEx. A and Ex. B, respectivel\bee
Ex. A, T.R. v. SDPODR No. 15181-13-14 and Ex. B,G. v. SDP ODR No. 15166-13-14.

In those decisions, the Hearing Officer held thiain@ff Parents Barbara Galarza and
Margarita Peralta were denied meaningful participain the federally mandated IEP process,
due to the District’s failure to provide timely andmplete translations of vital IEP documents.
Specifically, the Hearing Officer concluded:

The purpose of an IEP meeting is to develop anftiERhe student. This requires

more than a recitation of an IEP. Rather, it rezgia conversation about the Student’s

needs, and what program and placement will satiefge needs. Reading a mostly-

English document in [Spanish], is not the dialogoetemplated by the IDEA. The

Parent’s ability to follow along in documents whiarticipating in the required dialogue
IS essential.

District witnesses agreed, and | explicitly findat having the documents in an
accessible form either during the meeting, or ptiothe meetings when mandated, is
critical to meaningful participation. The Paremisaplaced at an obvious disadvantage
by effectively not having access to these documents

Ex. B, CL at 11 (citations omittedyee alsdEx. A, CL at 9-10.

The Hearing Officer also concluded, however, thatdid not have the power to order
a District-wide systemic change, which is the nsagsand appropriate remedfeeEx. C,
Consolidated Pre-Hearing Orddr,R. v. SDPODR No. 15181-13-14 andl.G. v. SDPODR
No. 15166-13-14. As a result, the Hearing Offiaararded limited compensatory education of
one hour of time for each IEP process team mestimgre he determined there were violations

of the parents’ meaningful participation due tanglation issues, but did not order any
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corrective action, including requiring the District timely and completely translate IEPs and

other documents for Plaintiffs in the future. B%.CL at 13 (awarding one hour); Ex. B, CL,

at 13 (awarding three hoursjrhis-Complaint-constitutes-an-appealtfrom-the-ahtnative
preceedings-bPlaintiffs A.G. and T.R-whe-remain-subject-to-the-District's-legally-defnt

{EPproeess—as-well @ppeal from the administrative proceedings by Amgended

Complaint, which also constitutesclass action lawsuit on behalf of LEP parent stadents
with disabilities who are similarly situated.

18. 14-Exhaustion of administrative remedies is not rexgiior L.R, D.R, J.R., and

R.H. andfor other class members because, as the admivistfgoceedings of A.G. and T.R.
reflect, administrative remedies are inadequataddress Plaintiffs’ allegations of systemic
failures and to afford the system-wide relief resjad.

19. 15-The Americans with Disabilities Act as Amended ahe Rehabilitation Act
incorporates the remedies and procedures of Titlef\the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42
U.S.C. 88 2000d et sedSee29 U.S.C. § 794a; 42 U.S.C. § 12133. The EEOATEtid VI
have no exhaustion requiremersee20 U.S.C. 8§ 1706Herring v. Chichester Sch. DistNo.
06-5525, 2007 WL 3287400 (E.D. Pa. Nov. 6, 2007).

Il THE PARTIES

20. i6-Plaintiff T.R.iswasa 17-year-old tenth grade student living withie th

boundaries of the Districit the time the Complaint was filedShe is not fluent in either
English or Spanish, speaking a mix of the two laggps. Ex. A, FF 41 3, 4. T.R. has

ADHD, a learning disability, and Mood Disorder, asiok is currently a special education

student. T.R. is enrolled in English for Speakers of Othangjuages ("ESOL") classes.
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21. 17-Plaintiff Barbara Galarza (“Ms. Galarza”) is T.Rr®ther. Her native
language is Spanish and she is limited Englishipeot. Ex. A, FF 1 3. Ms. Galarza speaks
and reads Spanish.

22.  18-Plaintiff A.G. iswasan 18-year-old twelfth grade student living withire
boundaries of the Districit the time the Complaint was filedA.G.’s native language is
Spanish and he is limited English proficient withie meaning of the IDEASee34 C.F.R. §
300.27, incorporating by reference 8 9101(25) ef Beementary and Secondary Education
Act; Ex. B, FF § 4. A.G. has a Specific Learningdbility and a Speech and Language

Disorder, and he is currently a special educatiodent. A.G.is-enrelledir-ESOL

classestruggled to graduate from school and is in thec@se of seeking to enroll in an

accelerated educational program in the Districbrer to obtain a diploma

23.  19-Plaintiff Margarita Peralta (“Ms. Peralta”) is A/&.aunt and legal guardian.
Her native language is Spanish and she is limitegligh proficient. Ex. B, FF § 6. Ms.
Peralta speaks and reads Spanish.

24. Plaintiff L.R. is a 13-year-old 7th grade studewing within the boundaries of
the District. L.R.’s native language is Spanighd &de was enrolled in ESOL classes for
several years. L.R. has autism and ADHD, and fweirigently a special education student

placed by the District in a private school.

25.  Plaintiff D.R. is a 14-year-old 9th grade studevih¢ within the boundaries of

Oppositional Defiant Disorder (“*ODD”) and ADHD, arsthe is currently a special education

student. D.R. is enrolled in ESOL classes.
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26. Plaintiff J.R. is a 16-year-old 11th grade studemtig within the boundaries of

the District. J.R.’s native language is Spanisid ke is limited English proficient. J.R. has

ODD and ADHD, and he is currently a special edocattudent. J.R. is enrolled in ESOL

classes.

27.  Plaintiff Madeline Perez (“Ms. Perez”) is L.R., D.Bnd J.R.'s mother. Her

native language is Spanish, and she is limited ieingiroficient. Ms. Perez and her children

speak Spanish in her home, and Ms. Perez readssBpan

28.  Plaintiff R.H. is a five-year-old Kindergarten serd living within the boundaries
of the District. R.H.'s native language is Mandam&and he is limited English proficient within
the meaning of the IDEA. R.H. has autism, for Whie requires substantial language therapy
and specially designed instruction to address aubat weaknesses in expressive and
pragmatic language skills, social skills deficasnd significant behavioral issues that undermine
learning. R.H. is currently a special educatiardstt. R.H. is also intellectually gifted in
Math, having tested in the 99th percentile for Mptbblem solving and 99.5th percentile in
overall cognitive functioning.

29.  Plaintiff Manqging Lin (*Ms. Lin") is R.H.'s mother. Her native language is

Mandarin, and she is limited English proficient.s.M.in and R.H. speak Mandarin in their

home, and Ms. Lin reads Mandarin.

30. 20-T.R-and AG.,L.R, D.R, J.R., and R.+are referred to collectively as the

“Student Plaintiffs”; Ms. Galarzand Ms. PeraltaMs. Perez, and Ms. Liare referred to
collectively as the “Parent Plaintiffs.”
31. 23i-Defendant, the School District of Philadelphiagischool district within the

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania organized pursuamhéoPublic School Code of 1949, Act of
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March 10, 1949, P.L. 30, as amended, 24 P.S. 88llel seq. The District’'s headquarters
and principal place of business is located at 44@Bmdad Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.
The District receives federal funds pursuant tolDEA and is bound by the IDEA. The
District is the Local Educational Agency (“LEA”) sponsible for ensuring that Plaintiffs

receive a free appropriate public education purst@imhe IDEA and Chapter 14. The

District, as a public entity, receives federal farahd is subject to the Americans with
Disabilities Act as Amended, Section 504 of the &uxitation Act, the Equal Education
Opportunities Act, and Title VI of the Civil Rightsct of 1964. The District is also required
to comply with state education law within 22 Chaptd and 22 Chapter 4 of the Pennsylvania
Code.

V. STATUTORY FRAMEWORK

IDEA Statutory Framework

32. 22-The IDEA requires LEAs and other public agenciepttovide a free

appropriate public education (“FAPE”) to all stutkemwith disabilities ages 3 to 21. By
definition, a FAPE requires adherence to state @geducational standards. The IDEA seeks
to prepare students with disabilities for furthdueation, employment, and independent living,
and specifically delineates the rights of childweith disabilities and their parents in the special
education IEP process and based on IEPs develbpedgh that processSee20 U.S.C.
§§ 1401, 1402, 1412(a)(1)(A), 1414(d), 1415; 34.R.FPart 300. The IEP is the “modus
operandi” of the IDEA that is to be developed jlyiwith the parent, the student, and the
school staff. Sch. Comm. of Burlington, Mass. v. Mass. Dep't @i 471 U.S. 359, 368
(1985). The IEP is the “primary vehicle” for impienting the IDEA. Honig v. Doe 484

U.S. 305, 311 (1988).
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33. 23-Student Plaintiffs and members of the Student Glasdify as “child[ren]
with a disability” under the IDEA statute, and edbbrefore must be provided with an IEP
that governs his or her education and afforded mghu participation in the IEP process.
See20 U.S.C. 88 1401(3), 1414(d), 1415.

34. 24-Parent Plaintiffs and members of the Parent Clasdifg as “parents” of a
child with a disability as defined by 20 U.S.C. 401(23), which includes a natural, adoptive,
foster parent, legal guardian or person acting parant in the absence of a parent with whom
the child lives or individual assigned as a surtegaarent.

35.  25-Each Student Plaintiff and member of the Studeas£has or should be
provided with an IEP team that is comprised ofdridher parent and school staff who are to
work collaboratively together to make educatioratisions for the child.

36. 26-The IDEA requires that educational decisions al@uohild’s evaluation,
educational program, and school placement are itadegh the IEP team process with the
parent’s meaningful involvement. 20 U.S.C. § 149ek alsad. § 1415; 34 C.F.R. § 300.327.
The educational program is then detailed in the édBBument which is legally defined as “a
written statement for each child that is developed, revieeared revised” through the mandated
notice and meeting process. 20 U.S.C. 8§ 1414(@)@) (emphasis added). The District
must give the parera copyof the child’s IEP at no cost to the paremtl. 81414(d)(1)(B)(i);
34 C.F.R. 8 300.322(f). If changes are made tolEfE and upon request, the parent must be
provided with arevised copyof the IEP with the amendments incorporated. 29.C.
§1414(d)(3)(F).

37. 27-The IDEA expressly includes certain procedural gaadeds, requirements,

and duties of the LEA to ensure meaningful parepgaticipation, notification, and consent
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throughout the special education process, inclugiagections for parents whose native
language is not English. 20 U.S.C. 88 1400, 1412414, 1415see also34 C.F.R. Part
300.

38.  28-The District must obtain informed written parentahsent in order to
support an initial evaluation of a student andahiprovision of special education services.
Parental consent is required to continue to prosjuecial education services and re-
evaluations. Parental consent means the parerttess“fully informed of all information
relevant to the activity for which consent is sotigi his or her native languager through
other mode of communication” and that the paremd&rstands and agrees” in writing to the
carrying out of the activity for which his or heorsent is soughtSee20 U.S.C.

§ 1414(a)(1)(D); 34 C.F.R. § 300.9 (emphasis added)

39. 29-The District must ensure that the parents of alahith a disability are
invited to each IEP team meeting to decide the gamogand placement of a child and that the
parents are afforded the opportunity to participateluding: (1) notifying parents of the
meeting early enough to ensure that they will haveopportunity to attend; (2) providing
information to parents; and (3) affording parefits bpportunity to know the purpose of the
meeting, who will participate, and to identify othepresentatives who should be invited. 20
U.S.C. 88 1400, 1412(a), 1414, 14%Be alsa34 C.F.R. 8§ 300.321, 300.327, 300.501(c).

40. 30-The District must takewhatever action is necessaty ensure that the
parent understands the proceedings of the IEP teaating,including arranging for an
interpreterat the IEP team meeting for pareméth deafness owhose native language is

other than Englishand the District must give the parentopyof the child’s IEP. See20

U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(B)(i); 34 C.F.R. § 300.322 (&wapis added).
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41. 31-The IDEA also requires that parents of a child vathisability receive prior
written notice within a reasonable time before plwblic agency (1) proposes to initiate or
change the identification, evaluation, or educatigiacement of the child or the provision of
FAPE to the child; or (2) refuses to initiate omanbe the identification, evaluation, or
educational placement of the child or the provisid=APE to the child.See20 U.S.C.

8 1415(b)(3). In Pennsylvania, the form utilizedprovide prior written notice is called a
Notice of Recommended Educational Placement (“NOREP

42.  32-Such required prior written notice must be (1) tentin language
understandable to the general public; andpf®yided in the native language of the parent or
other mode of communication used by the pareniess it is clearly not feasible to do sBee
20 U.S.C. § 1415(b)(4); 34 C.F.R. 8 300.503(c) th# native language or other mode of
communication of the parent is not a written larggyahe public agency must take steps to
ensure that (1) the notice is translated orallypyiother means to the parent in his or her
native language or other mode of communication;tli2) parent understands the content of the
notice; and (3) there is written evidence thatribéce requirements have been m&ee34
C.F.R. § 300.503(c).

43. 33-The IDEA also requires that a child suspected te @ disability must be
evaluated “in the child’s native language or otirerde of communication and in the form most
likely to yield accurate information on what theldtknows and can do academically,
developmentally, and functionally, unless it isach not feasible to so provide or administer.”

20 U.S.C. § 1414(b)(3)(A); 34 C.F.R. 8§ 300.304({)j()1 Federal regulations require an IEP

team to take the language needs of the child inbount. 34 C.F.R. 8 300.324(a)(2)(ii).
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Section 504 and ADA Statutory Framework

44.  34-Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act prohibitsatidity discrimination in
federally funded programs. It mandates that “[ofberwise qualified individual with a
disability in the United States . . . shall, solblyreason of her or his disability, be excluded
from the participation in, be denied the benefitsom be subjected to discrimination under any
program or activity receiving Federal financialisissice.” 29 U.S.C. § 794(a). The District is
a federal funds recipient within the meaning ofl2%.C. § 794(b)(2)(B). Student Plaintiffs
and members of the Student Class are entitledegtbtection of Section 504.

45. 35-The Americans with Disabilities Act prohibits didép discrimination,
including discrimination against those who are asged with individuals having or suspected
of having disabilities. 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et sd@de District is subject to the ADA. Student

Plaintiffs and members of the Student Class ar#lezhto the protection of the ADA.

EEOA Statutory Framework

46. 36-The Equal Education Opportunities Act provides tifiajo State shall deny
equal educational opportunity to an individual @ecaunt of his or her race, color, sex, or
national origin, by . . . the failure by an educatl agency to take appropriate action to

overcome language barriers that impede equal pmatiicn by its students in its instructional

programs.” 20 U.S.C. § 1703(f).
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Title VI Statutory Framework

47.  37-Title VI of the Civil Rights Act prohibits discrimation within any program
or activity receiving federal financial assistandé.states that “[n]Jo person in the United States
shall, on the ground of race, color, or nationagior be excluded from participation in, be
denied the benefits of, or be subjected to disoation under any program or activity receiving
Federal financial assistance.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000de District specifically receives federal

funding for participating in the IDEA, a programstied to assist students with disabilities.

Pennsylvania State Code Statutory Framework

48. 38 Title 22, Chapter 14 of the Pennsylvania Code gwaill Pennsylvania
school districts and is the Commonwealth’s affinoratthat it will fully implement the IDEA
statute and accompanying regulations. SectionOP4siates that Pennsylvania will adopt
federal regulations to satisfy “the statutory reemnents under the IDEA.” Sections 14.123
(governing evaluations) and 14.124 (governing ra@wtions) both require that “Copies of the
evaluation report and re-evaluation report shaltlisseminated to the parents at least 10
school days prior to the meeting of the IEP teantgss this requirement is waived by a parent
in writing.” Section 14.131(a) of Title 22 ado@4 C.F.R. § 300.320(a), which defines an
IEP as “a written statement for each child withisalility that is developed, reviewed, and
revised in a meeting,” and 34 C.F.R. § 300.27-300.3

49. 39 Title 22, Chapter 15 of the Pennsylvania Code gwveill Pennsylvania
school districts and requires them to not discrat@nagainst students with disabilities. Chapter
15 operationalizes Section 504 and the ADA for sthiistricts in Pennsylvania and sets forth

specific protections and procedures to inform paramd students of their rights to be

provided an education free from discrimination llasea their disabilities.
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50. 40-Title 22, Chapter 4 of the Pennsylvania Code gav@gademic standards

and curriculum requirements generally in PennsydvarSections 4.26 and 4.52 of Title 22,
respectively, express the state standards for #nfgihguage instruction and assessments and
are clarified by the Commonwealth in official guda. SeeBasic Educ. Circular, “Educating
Students with Limited English Proficiency (LEP) aBdglish Language Learners (ELL),” Pa.
Dep’t of Educ. (July 1, 2001) (hereinafter “BasidUg. Circular”).

V. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

51. 441-Plaintiffs bring this suit individually and as aaS$ Action pursuant to Rule

23(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedurebahalf of all similarly situated individuals.
The classes that Plaintiffs seek to represent amgposed of:

A. All parents as defined by 34 C.F.R. 8§ 300.30(ajwihited English
proficiency andwhose children now or in the future are enroliedhe School District
of Philadelphia and identified or eligible to bemdified as children with a disability
within the meaning of the IDEA and/or Section 504l aelated state laws (“Parent
Class”); and

B. All students who now or in the future are enroliedhe School District
of Philadelphia in grades kindergarten throughdge of legal entitlement who are
identified or eligible to be identified as childrenth a disability within the meaning of
the IDEA and/or Section 504 and related state lawsther or not they are classified
as English language learners amdose parents as defined by 34 C.F.R. § 300.206)
persons with limited English proficiency (“Studedlass”).

52. 42-Each class is so numerous that joinder of all mesniseimpracticable.
During the 2013-2014 school year, the District mégd that there were approximately 19,670
families who requested to receive documents imguage other than English; approximately
25,990 families who had a primary home languagerotiian English; over 1,500 ELL
students receiving special education services;1a887 students with IEPs whose documents

stated that their home language was not Englishe @xact number of members of each class
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is not fully known to Plaintiffs at the current #mnbut the members of each class can be
ascertained by the District.

53. 43-There are questions of law and fact common to etds. Specifically,
there are questions as to whether the Districts$esyic refusal to provide sufficient
interpretation services and to completely and gntednslate IEP process documents and
regular education forms for parents who are LERatés the IDEA, ADA, Section 504, the
EEOA, Title VI, and provisions of Chapter 14, Chapl5, and Chapter 4 of the Pennsylvania
School Code. Another common question of law istiwiethe failure to provide an evaluation
of a child with a disability in that child’s natiManguage violates the IDEA.

54. 44-Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of tetasses as all members are
similarly treated and affected by the District’sndact in violation of the law that is

complained of herein.

55. 45 Plaintiffs T.R-ard A.G..L.R., D.R., J. R., R.Hand their guardians seek

common injunctive relief to have the District ad@ptd implement a new written special
education plan and policy to (1) provide legallynatated translation and interpretation services
to members of the Parent Class and the Studens,Gtecduding the timely and complete
translation of IEP process documents; and (2) regewaluations to be conducted in a child’s
native language unless it is clearly not feasibleld so.

56. 46-Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect theterests of the classes.
Student Plaintiffs each qualify as a “child wittdgability” under the IDEA, and each has or
should be provided an IEP that governs his or decation. 20 U.S.C. 88 1401(3), 1414(d),
1415. Parent Plaintiffs each qualify as “paremfta child with a disability. Id. § 1401(23).

All individually named students and parents aratdich English proficient and have experienced
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a common harm and seek a common remedy. The dDstiilure to provide sufficient
interpretation services and to completely and gntednslate IEP process documents extends to
all foreign languages, including but not limited $panish.

57. 47-Counsel for Plaintiffs are experienced in handhederal class action
litigation and will adequately and zealously représthe interests of the classes. The Public
Interest Law Center and Education Law Center hiigated numerous civil rights claims on
behalf of persons and children with disabilitid3rinker Biddle & Reath LLP is likewise
experienced in complex federal litigation and clasgon litigation, including representing
plaintiffs in class actions asserting civil rigltiaims.

58.  48-The District has acted or refused to act on grouhes apply generally to
the classes, so that final injunctive relief or ldestory relief is appropriate respecting the
classes as a whole. T.R. and A.G. filed admirtisgéhearings in June 2014 challenging the
legality of the District’s policy regarding suffemcy of interpretation and the translation of
IDEA-related documents. On May 26, 2015, the HepOfficer found that the District
violated the IDEA Dby failing to translate a varieif documents during the IEP process. Ex.
A, CL at 10; Ex. B, CL at 11. The Hearing Officalso expressly found that his authority was
limited, and that he could not issue systemic freliéx. C. Subsequently, the District has not
changed its policy regarding the sufficiency oenpiretation or the complete and timely
translation of documents critical to the IEP praces

59.  49-Upon information and belief, no similar litigati@m@oncerning the claims
herein has already begun by any Class Member.

60. 501t would be futile to require these named Plaistéi other members of the

Classes to exhaust or re-exhaust administratived&s, pursuant to the IDEA, since the
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District has adopted a systemic policy of failimygdrovide sufficient interpretation services and
to timely and completely translate IEP process dwmnis and regular education forms. As a
result, Pennsylvania’s special education admirtiggahearing system cannot, as expressly
noted by the Hearing Officer, adequately remedysystemic problem. Furthermore, upon
information and belief, there are not enough spedacation hearing officers available to
handle the number of due process hearing requestsvould be necessary.

VI. FACTS

General Facts and District Practices and Policies.

61. 5%-As of November 2013, the District reported thatréheere approximately
25,990 families whose primary home language wasEmgfish and some 19,670 families of
students in the District who had expressly requedgtmuments in a language other than
English.

62. 52-As of November 2013, the District also reported tih@re were more than
1,500 ELL students receiving special educationisesvacross the District. At that time, the
District acknowledged that there was a higher thaticipated number of students who had
IEPs and whose parents were LEP and required &tamsland interpretation services. As of
November 2013, there were 1,887 students with Nglsse records indicated that their home
language was not English, but it is not clear th& number captured all of the students with
IEPs whose LERarents required sufficient oral interpretation and trabstl IEP process
documents.

63. 53-The District’s data reported that, during the 2@02-3 school year, only

487 special education documentsaofy typehad been orally interpreted. The District’'s oral

interpretation services are provided primarily binBual Counseling Assistants (“BCAS”).

881444591
20



Case 2:15-cv-04782-MSG Document 48-4 Filed 03/27/17 Page 22 of 45

The District employs only 54-55 BCAs to serve alhcols across the District. BCAs, among
other job duties, provide limited interpretatiomaees but do not provide translation services.
SeeEx. B, FF 1 24.

64. 54-Additional special education documents might haeenbtranslated by an
outside contractor during the 2012-2013 school,ylear upon information and belief, the
outside contractor did not translate IEP processunhents for all of the parents who are LEP.
Further, by the 2013-2014 school year (and dedgitknowledge that a large number of
parents needed IEP process documents translatedeioy, the District no longer had
arrangements with that outside contractor to asatst translation. While the District has a
Translation and Interpretation Center which rolyineanslates documents used throughout the
school district for students without disabiliti¢kis office has never completely translated an
IEP in its entirety. N.T. 422, 461. Moreover, gatis cannot request translation services.

65. 55-Despite these numbers and its knowledge of thelgmmolihe District has
adopted a policy in which it does not timely ananpdetely translate IEPs, NOREPSs,
evaluations, re-evaluations, progress reports,sassnts, and other IEP process documents
outlining students’ procedural and educationaltsghto the native languages spoken and/or
read by LEP students and their parents.

66. 56-Further, the District does not provide completegnslated evaluations and
re-evaluations to parents at least ten school dags to IEP team meetings, in contravention
of 22 Pa. Code Chapter 14, the state’s specialatiduclaw.

67. 57-As evidenced by the experience of Parent Plairdifid Student Plaintiffs,

the District has attempted to provide some or@rpretation during some IEP team meetings,

but this incomplete, inconsistent effort has nad aannot facilitate the requisite meaningful
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parent participation. It also does not comporhvetate law requirements that parents have
copies of the multiple-page evaluations and reuatans at least ten school days prior to IEP
team meetings.

68. 58-In the absence of receiving required informatiom imanner they can
comprehend, uninformed parents enter meetings matknowledge of evaluation reports,
IEPs, and other documents and are unable to mékened decisions or provide legally viable
consent. The District’s policy has denied Pardainkffs and members of the Parent Class
their right to informed consent, notice, decisioaking regarding program and placement, and
meaningful participation in the IEP process, ineclgdEP team meetings.

69. 59-The District also has thereby denied members ofStiuelent Class who are
LEP equal educational opportunities to particigatly and equally in the IEP process and in
the District’s educational programs, including mags to address the student’s disabilities.
The District’'s policy also has resulted in the iigbof Student Plaintiffs and members of the
Student Class to receive adequate IEP-relatedcesrand has significantly undermined and
impaired the ability of members of the Student €lasreceive a FAPE or other educational
services available to other students.

70. 60-The District deliberately and inexplicably choosed to utilize TransAct,
which is a translation program provided by the Camwealth of Pennsylvania to school
districts to enable them to translate documents.

1. 61-Upon information and belief, the District condubingual evaluations for

some but not all LEP students in contraventionhef lDEA.
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Class Representatives’' Experiences — T.R. and BarzaGalarza.

72. 62-T.R. attended elementary school in the Districterghshe was instructed
only in Spanish, and then attended a charter sdhowl 5th to 8th grade. The charter school
conducted a bilingual evaluation of T.R. in theirgprof 2013, determined that T.R. qualified
for special education services under the “OtherltHdenpairment” category based on an
ADHD diagnosis, and created an IEP for her. The f& T.R. included goals for improving
her reading and math skills and to decrease truahty2013, Ms. Galarza sought to transfer
T.R. back to the District. Despite making thisuest in writing, there was a delay in
arranging for T.R. to return to the District, dumepart to the promise of translating IEP
process documents. Throughout the fall of 201R. Tvas deprived entirely of any
educational programming at all, and the partieddcoat come to an agreement regarding her
high school placement. Additionally, in the fafl2013, T.R. became pregnant and needed
services at home, which were delayed.

73. 63-On February 26, 2014, the District's non-bilingsahool psychologist and
non-bilingual speech therapist evaluated T.R. igl&m. The District's Reevaluation Report
and the psychologist’'s Psycho Educational Evaloateport were provided to Ms. Galarza in
English only. The report determined that T.R. had‘Intellectual Disability,” a substantial
change from her prior designation of “Other Heaitipairment.” A follow-up meeting was
held nearly a month later, on March 25, 2014, scuBs the Reevaluation Report and the
Psycho Educational Evaluation. Despite a spewifiten request for the evaluation and all
documents to be provided in Spanish, the Distridtndt provide the Meeting Invitation,

Psychoeducational Report, or Evaluation Report & @Glalarza in Spanish either before or

during the meeting. Ms. Galarza was therefore lenbparticipate fully in the meeting,
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during which an oral interpreter informed her foe ffirst time that T.R. had an intellectual
disability. Additionally, at the meeting, Ms. Gada requested home instruction for T.R. due
to complications related to her pregnancy. Therbisprovided a Physician's Referral Form
for homebound instruction in English only, caustdeay in the services.

74. 64-Despite the District's awareness that Ms. Galarmig spoke and read
Spanish, at a subsequent IEP meeting on June 12, #te District provided Ms. Galarza
with a 52-page draft IEP, again in English onlyheTDistrict proposed an Approved Private
School for T.R., removing her from a regular highaol. An interpreter was present at the
meeting via telephone but did not orally interpited entire 52-page IEP and other documents
or completely translate the IEP. The District dat provide documents related to T.R,’s
placement, such as the NOREP/PWN, APS Recommendabion, or APS Directory in
Spanish. Ms. Galarza was therefore unable to staled the IEP or the placement options
provided to her and was unable to participate medully in the meeting.

75. 85-The District provided a NOREP to Ms. Galarza oneliid, 2014 in English
only. Ms. Galarza rejected the NOREP and filedue Process Complaint.

76. 66-0On June 27, 2014, four months after the February20&4 evaluation
identifying her daughter as having an intellectiability, the District finally provided Ms.
Galarza a Spanish version of the District's Fely 2814 Evaluation Reports of her daughter.

77. 6&7-Throughout the 2014-2015 school year, and despjteated parental
requests, the District did not completely transl&P process documents in a timely manner,

such that Ms. Galarza was unable to participatenmgtully in the IEP process. The District

also provided insufficient oral interpretation seeg during the IEP team meetings; in
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particular, the interpreters did not fully and cdetely orally interpret each IEP process
document.

78. 68-As part of T.R.’s IEP, she was entitled to receavétransition assessment”
by the District. Transition services are desighee@nsure a coordinated set of activities to
help the student move on to postsecondary educaiibemployment. The student’s and
parent’s involvement is an important part of thisqess. No information, however, about
transition services, including a transition sersigacket or handout, was provided to T.R. or
Ms. Galarza in Spanish, and T.R.’s transition assest was completed by an English speaking
teacher.

79. 69-Ms. Galarzavasas beerdenied sufficient oral interpretation services to

enable her to speak with school personnel aboubuseveryday educational problems, such
as transportation and math class issues that WwaEhasexperiengiged Ms. Galarza was
denied translation of report cards and ESOL pragreports.

Class Representatives’ Experiences — A.G. and Margt Peralta.

80. 7O6-A.G. was born in the Dominican Republic on Septanil#e 1996. He was
enrolled in ninth grade in the Dominican Republicerw his mother passed away in August
2010. He came to the United States in 2011 andiveas in Philadelphia continuously since
the fall of 2012.

81. #i-The District refused to place A.G. into eleventhtwelfth grade until May
2015. Instead, A.G. was assigned to ninth gradiP-2013 at one high school, and again
assigned to ninth at another high school for the322014 school year. Although A.G. was

enrolled in English language classes in the faR@t2, he was never formally tested for
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English language placement until the following yaarNovember of 2013. In addition,
progress testing for his ESOL classes was donericidy.

82. 72-A.G.’s Parent (first his uncle, and currently M&r#ita, his aunt and legal
guardian), notified the District in October 2012an September 2013, by way of the
District’'s Home Language Questionnaire, that thmilfais Spanish speaking and requested
documents be provided in their native languagepainh. In March 2014, Ms. Peralta
provided an order from a Philadelphia Family Cqudge and a letter to the District
requesting that A.G. be evaluated for special etlutaervices and again explicitly informing
the District that the family’s native language w&sanish.

83. #3-Despite the family’s notifications to the Distriabout their native language
and need for language assistance, and despitesAp@rticipation in ESOL classes, the District
failed to provide sufficient oral interpretationdatimely and complete translation of IEP
process documents. For example, in response teetheest for special education evaluation,
Ms. Peralta met with a non-Spanish speaking tea&®OL grade reports were provided only
in English, and communications about evaluating .Xds special education were conducted
primarily in English.

84. 7#4-On June 23, 2014, Ms. Peralta filed a Due Processpaint on behalf of
A.G., resulting in the decision at Ex. B.

85.  7#5-Even after the filing of the Due Process Complaing District continued to
issue documents to Ms. Peralta in mostly Englispantially in English. Throughout the
2014-2015 school year, Ms. Peralta attended IERimgsefor A.G. in an effort to establish a

program for him. Despite both oral and writtenuests, the District repeatedly refused to

provide complete and timely translations of IEPgass documents and regular education
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forms and refused to provide sufficient oral intetption services. On September 3, 2014, the
District sent Ms. Peralta a letter, in Englishtisgathat A.G. would be attending another high
school “due to ESOL services [A.G.] require[d]During the 2014-2015 school year, A.G.
underwent intensive surgery on his leg, necessijdtis need for homebound instruction
provided by the District. Information about homehd instruction was initially not provided
completely in Spanish, causing a substantial deldfie provision of services. In addition, Ms.
Peralta was not provided a Spanish version of A.@valuation report prior to the October
16, 2014 IEP team meeting, and at the meetingresdteved a draft IEP in English, with only
the generic headings of the paragraphs translatedSpanish. On November 21, 2014, the
District created an updated IEP and NOREP, whictevegain only partially translated.
Despite a prior written request for a completefnsiated IEP, on December 2, 2104, the
District once again provided an IEP with headimg$panish and the majority of the IEP in
English. A District employee provided on-the-spoial interpretation (also referred to as
“sight translation”) during the December 2, 2014#|Eeeting. Because the “sight translation”
process took so long, the District’s employee haly tsight translated” three of the forty-four
pages of the IEP by the end of the meeting. Tlyepahat were sight translated related to
the Medical Assistance Program Billing Notice, anslard form, rather than the substantive
content of the IEP addressing A.G.’s special edoisateeds and proposals to meet those
needs. At the end of the meeting, Ms. Peralthdtilnot have a completely translated IEP or
a translated copy of the Medical Assistance Prodgsding Notice to read at the meeting or
take home to review.

86. #6-As part of A.G.’s IEP, he was entitled to receivétransition assessment”

by the District, which was completed in January®20No information, however, about
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transition services, including a transition sersipacket or handout, was provided to A.G. or

Ms. Peralta in Spanish-—Fhe-Districtcontinuestorefuse-to-proviles. stopped attending
school in 2016, but he is considering a returndiwosl to earn his high school diploma. At

the time A.G. stopped attending school, the Dis8idl refused to provide hinwith a

completely translated IEP and to ensure such aamsswould be providedn the future.
| Representatives’ Experien — L.R., D.R. nd M line Perez

87. L.R.. D.R. and J.R. attended school in Puerto Rietl they moved to

Philadelphia in 2012. All three received spec@l@tion services in Puerto Rico and had

IEPs from Puerto Rico when they enrolled in thetridis

88. L.R. has ADHD. In 2012, L.R. was evaluated at @enter for Autism and

additionally diagnosed with autism. The Districhswnotified of this evaluation and diagnosis,
which were provided to Ms. Perez in Spanish. Ths#riot then undertook to create a
separate Evaluation Report for L.R. in 2012, budidk not translate its own evaluation into
Spanish for Ms. Perez.

89. L.R. was enrolled in two elementary schools and mwiuglle school in the
District between 2012 and 2016, and the Distrig gigen him a private school placement.
The District has refused to translate L.R.'s IEBgass documents into Spanish for Ms. Perez,
despite her requests that the District do so. rAfeeiving some IEP documents with section
titles translated into Spanish, she asked thaDibeict translate the entire documents but was
told that the District could not provide any funthieanslation.

90. Because Ms. Perez is limited English proficient and only read simple words
or phrases in English, she could not understancevhiation of L.R. or the IEP process

documents provided to her. As a result, she hadv@en able to understand what services the
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District was providing to L.R., and she has notrbeble to participate meaningfully in the IEP

process for L.R. Furthermore, the District hadteedi L.R.'s 2012 diagnosis of autism from

his IEPs. Because Ms. Perez did not understandrittanslated IEP documents, she was

unaware of this omission until 2016.

91. Like L.R., D.R. and J.R. also attended two elemgnsahools in the District.

D.R. and J.R. are now enrolled in two differenttfg$ high schools. D.R. and J.R. have both

been diagnosed with ODD and ADHD.
92. Ms. Perez has attended |IEP meetings for D.R. dd As with L.R.'s IEP
documents, the District did not translate D.R.’'sl drR.’s IEP_process documents into Spanish

for Ms. Perez, even though she requested that igteidD do so.

3. Ms. Perez's most recent IEP meeting for J.R. oecuimm January 2017. At this

meeting, she reiterated her request for a fullgdleed |IEP for J.R. The District told her that

it could only provide translated caption headings.

94. Ms. Perez's most recent IEP meeting for D.R. o@miwn March 6, 2017. At
this meeting, Ms. Perez understood the Districhdge agreed to provide a translated copy of
D.R.’s IEP by March 15, 2017. She still has natereed a translated copy of D.R.’s IEP.

95. Absent translations of the IEP process documettsSipanish, Ms. Perez has
difficulty understanding what services D.R. and. AR receiving and is unable to participate
meaningfully in the IEP planning process for heiidcan.

96. The District also provided insufficient oral integpation services to Ms. Perez
during the IEP team meetings. At some meetings District did not provide any interpreter.
At other meetings, the interpreters did not fulhdacompletely interpret the IEP process

documents orally for Ms. Perez. As a result, MsteP could not understand what was
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included and what services her child was being idemly and she was unable to participate

meaningfully in the IEP planning process for heitdcan.

Class Representatives’ Experiences — R.H. and Manu Lin

97. R.H. is a Kindergarten student at an elementargaich the District.
98. In 2014, R.H. underwent several evaluations and witasately diagnosed with

Autism Spectrum Disorder. As an infant and toddieH. received early intervention services

that included speech, special instruction, and patanal therapy, and independently received
physical therapy services for poor muscle tone.

99. In a subsequent 2015 evaluation, R.H. was alsodfdarbe Mentally Gifted
according to the Kaufman Assessment Battery foid@hm, with a non-verbal standard score
placing R.H. in the 99.9% superior range for ag#tin math and at the age equivalent of a 9-
year-old.

100. Beginning with R.H.’s transition to Kindergartemin early intervention
services, the District has failed to provide Msa Wwith translations of forms, evaluations, and
IEP_documents into Mandarin or to provide suffitienal interpretation services. Although

Ms. Lin is able to understand and speak some Englards, she has limited English

proficiency and speaks only Mandarin at home witH.R father and their children. R.H.’s

father understands very little English and doesreat or write English.

101. At the first meeting Ms. Lin attended in FebruaBi@ regarding R.H.'s
transition to Kindergarten, the District gave Msn forms, including a “Permission to
Evaluate” (“PTE”) form, in English only and providieo translation at all and no oral
interpretation prior to the meeting. Ms. Lin hadrely on a friend and an interpreter provided

by R.H.’s early intervention provider for oral inpeetation at the meeting, whose assistance
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was nevertheless insufficient to assist her in tgtdading how to answer the questions in the

PTE form or whether she had any choice about whethe@ermit the proposed evaluation of

her son. She later signed the PTE form withouteustdnding that this gave consent for the
District to conduct a limited evaluation of R.H.

102. Furthermore, due to the lack of translation andrmtetation services, Ms. Lin
had to request assistance from R.H.'s preschochézan completing the required forms she
received. Because she could not understand thisnwithout translation to Mandarin, she
only learned later that the teacher had omittedrmétion that was needed to develop
appropriate programming for R.H.

103. After the District conducted its evaluation of R.ll.sent Ms. Lin an Evaluation
Report in English and only later in Mandarin. Tre@ort concluded only that R.H. qualified
for speech services, and it omitted his needs doupational therapy and physical therapy, a
functional behavior assessment or a behavior jgiad.gifted programming in math.

104. As a result of a mediation regarding the Distriei@luation of R.H. and the
need for an Independent Educational EvaluationE")Ethe District agreed to provide
translated copies of the IEE and other document&hnallowed Ms. Lin and her husband to
understand R.H.'s diagnosis and complex acadentdiahavioral needs. The District,

however, has refused to provide translations ofhemy other than the “final” Re-Evaluation

Report and *final” IEP, and continues to refuseptovide translated versions of its proposed
Re-Evaluation and IEP to Ms. Lin.

105. On or about March 3, 2017, the District providedraposed IEP that is to be
discussed at the next IEP meeting for R.H. ThériDisranslated only the section titles and a

few sentences regarding R.H.’s placement into MamddWVhen Ms. Lin requested that the
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proposed IEP be fully translated, the District ok that it had only agreed to translate the

“final” IEP, and the section titles were the mas¢ District would translate.

106. In the absence of a fully translated proposed Raldation Report and

proposed IEP, Ms. Lin is unable to participate nregually in [IEP meetings for R.H. and to

ensure that the District addresses his specialatidimcneeds.

VII.  LEGAL CLAIMS

Count One: Violation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act:
Failure to Provide Meaningful Parental and StudentParticipation
(On Behalf of the Parent Class and Student Class)

107. ##-Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphshisf Complaint as if set
forth in full herein.

108. “8-Parent Plaintiffs and members of the Parent Class hot received legally-
mandated written information regarding their clallls education in their native language and
at times, if written information was received ireithnative language, it was not provided at the
same time the rest of the IEP team received tleenrdtion and in a manner to ensure
meaningful parent and student participation inl&E process. These documents include IEP-
process documents and regular education forms fexedidnerein.

109. ¥9-Student Plaintiffs and members of the Student Glsm® injured by the
inability of their LEP parents to participate mewyiully in the IEP process. In addition,
Student Plaintiffs and members of the Student Glss are LEP have been deprived of
legally-mandated written information, including &wations, re-evaluations, transition services
information, assessments relating to transitiommpfay and services, and their IEPs, prohibiting

them from participating in the IEP process, inahgdengaging in transition planning.
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110. 806-The practice of providing sporadic and incompletal mterpretation of IEP
process documents during an IEP meeting is nodaquate substitute for timely receipt of
completely translated, IEP process documentss diso contrary to 22 Pa. Code 4.26 and
state educational standard interpretatioBgeBasic Educ. Circular.

111. 81-The District has denied Parent Plaintiffs and memioé the Parent Class
the right to participate meaningfully in their ciigén’s IEP process.

112. 82-The District’s refusal to translate |IEPs and otlt&? process documents has
resulted in a lack of special education servicesSkudent Plaintiffs and members of the
Student Class. As a result of the inability ofdarPlaintiffs and members of the Parent Class
to participate adequately in the formation and etea of their IEP plans, Student Plaintiffs
and members of the Student Class have been deffied appropriate public education
guaranteed to them under the IDEA. Many studeat® lbeen denied special education
services designed to enable them to make progsash, as specially designed instruction,
transition planning services, related services, @uagher school placement to meet the students’
academic needs.

113. 83-Plaintiffs T.R. and A.G.secured the services of the Public Interest Law
Center of Philadelphia and Drinker Biddle & ReattPLto represent them in the due process
hearings and are entitled to their fees at sangeaailing parties, in part. 20 U.S.C. §
1415(c). The Law Center incurred approximately(3127.00 in representing T.R. and
$78,724.00 in representing A.G. in the administeatiue process hearings. Drinker Biddle &
Reath incurred approximately $264,617.50 in reprtsg T.R. and A.G. in the due process
hearings. As Plaintiffs were prevailing parties part, the District is responsible for these fees,

which can be resolved after the merits of this aratt
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114. 84-Wherefore, Parent Plaintiffs, members of the Pa@ass, Student Plaintiffs,
and members of the Student Class demand judgmeheinfavor and against the District for
declaratory and injunctive relief, as set forthder

Count Two: Violation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act:

Failure to Conduct Evaluations of Students in Natie Language
(On Behalf of the Parent Class and Student Classlddes Who Are LEP)

115. 85-Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphshisf Complaint as if set
forth in full herein.

116. 86-Student Plaintiffs and some members of the StuGéags who are LEP
were never evaluated or were not timely evaluabedspecial education services in their native
language. The District’s failure to conduct timelyaluations for every LEP child in his or her
native language to determine eligibility for spée@ducation services deprived Student Plaintiffs
and members of the Student Class who are LEP ofrigats under the IDEA to receive a
non-discriminatory, accurate evaluation to infotme {EP process. As a result, Student
Plaintiffs and members of the Student Class whoL&® were inappropriately assessed and
failed to receive needed special education servcesaid services were wrongfully delayed.

117. 8%-The District’s failure to conduct evaluations irstaident’s native language
and in the form most likely to yield accurate imf@tion violated the IDEA.See20 U.S.C.
81414(b)(3)(A); 34 C.F.R. § 300.304(c)(1)(ii).

118. 88-Wherefore, Student Plaintiffs and members of thed&nt Class who are
LEP demand judgment in their favor and againstDistrict for declaratory and injunctive

relief, as set forth herein.
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Count Three: Violation of the Section 504 of the Bhabilitation Act, Americans with
Disabilities Act as Amended, and 22 Pa. Code Chapt&5
(On Behalf of the Student Class)

119. 89-Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphghisf Complaint as if set
forth in full herein.

120. 90-Student Plaintiffs and members of the Student Glassstudents with
disabilities who were otherwise qualified to pap#te in school activities and receive equal
benefit from them as non-disabled students purstmatite protection of Section 504.

121. 91 By failing to translate regular education forms tbe members of the Parent
Class, including homebound forms and informatioaualihose services, the District has
substantially undermined the ability of membergh&f Student Class to receive equal access to
education services on the same basis as studetksutvdisabilities.

122. 92-Wherefore, Student Plaintiffs and members of thed&ntt Class demand
judgment in their favor and against the Distriat feclaratory and injunctive relief, as set forth
herein.

Count Four: Violation of the Equal Education Opportunity Act
(On Behalf of the Student Class)

123. 93-Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphshisf Complaint as if set
forth in full herein.

124. 94-Federal law provides that: “No State shall denyatg@ducational
opportunity to an individual on account of his @r lmace, color, sex, or national origin, by . . .
the failure by an educational agency to take appatgaction to overcome language barriers
that impede equal participation by its studentagsinnstructional programs.” 20 U.S.C. §

1703().
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125. 95-National origin discrimination has been definedrtclude but is not limited
to, the denial of equal opportunities due to anviddal's, or his or her ancestor’s, place of
origin; or because an individual has the physicakural, or linguistic characteristics of a
national origin group, including limited Englishgficiency. The District has denied equal
education opportunity to Student Plaintiffs and rbers of the Student Class on account of
their race and/or national origin or that of the@irents by failing to take appropriate action to
overcome language barriers of these students atti#orparents. This failure has impeded
equal participation by Student Plaintiffs and themmbers of the Student Class in the District’s
special education and other instructional programs.

126. 96-Wherefore, Student Plaintiffs and members of thed&tt Class demand
judgment in their favor and against the Districat @eclaratory and injunctive relief, as set forth
herein.

Count Five: Violation of Title VI of the Civil Rig hts Act of 1964
(On Behalf of the Parent Class and Student Classlddes Who Are LEP)

127. S97-Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphshisf Complaint as if set
forth in full herein.

128. 98-The District has been aware of the widespread o¢edP parents and
LEP students to obtain timely and complete traimsiatof IEP process documents in order to
participate meaningfully in the IEP process anemsure access to appropriate education
services for their children. Despite this knowledthe District has acted intentionally,
repeatedly, and with deliberate indifference byisefg to timely and completely translate IEP

process documents and by refusing to provide sariticoral interpretation services, in order to
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ensure meaningful participation by Parent Plag&fhd members of the Parent Class and in
order to ensure access to appropriate educatienatss for their children.

129. 99-The District has been and continues to be awarelfBR parents and LEP
students need timely and complete translationggiilar education forms that pertain to their
children’s educational placement and needs, sudioa® instruction forms, ESOL placement
letters, and progress reports. Instead, the Bidtas adopted a policy and procedures which
are ineffective to provide adequate support ancthvhiknows does not fulfill its obligations
or fails to meet the needs of Parent Plaintiffsmimers of the Parent Class, Student Plaintiffs,
and members of the Student Class who are LEP.

130. 100-The failure to assist Parent Plaintiffs, membershef Parent Class, Student
Plaintiffs, and members of the Student Class wieolL&P to participate effectively in or
benefit from federally assisted programs and d&s/iviolate the prohibition under Title VI of
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000ddafritle VI regulations prohibiting
discrimination against LEP persons on the basiaoé and national origin. Recipients must
take appropriate action to ensure that such pernsavs meaningful access to the programs,
services, and information those recipients provi&ee, e.q.34 C.F.R. Part 100.

131. 16i-Regulations promulgated pursuant to Section 602itt VI forbid the
District from utilizing methods of administrationhigh subject individuals to discrimination
because of race and/or national origin or that hbheeeffect of defeating or substantially
impairing accomplishment of the objectives of tegram as respects individuals of a
particular race, color, or national origin. Thesgulations provide in part that no person shall,
on the ground of race or national origin, be exetldrom participation in, be denied the

benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to disciatmm under any program; be denied a benefit
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which is different, or is provided in a differentanmer, from that provided to others under the
program; or restrict an individual from receivingyaservice, financial aid, or other benefit
under the program. 34 C.F.R. § 100.3.

132. 102-The District failed in its obligation to avoid dignination against LEP
persons on the grounds of race and/or nationainolig failing to take reasonable steps to
ensure that such persons have meaningful accdbe forograms, services, and information the
District provides to others.

133. 103-By refusing to completely and timely translate Ig®cess documents
necessary for Parent Plaintiffs, members of thematlass, Student Plaintiffs, and members of
the Student Class who are LEP to participate mgariyn in the District’s IEP process on the
same basis as their counterparts who speak andemgdh, refusing to provide sufficient oral
interpretation, and refusing to provide them whle nhecessary regular education forms in their
native language, the District has intentionallycdmeinated against Parent Plaintiffs, members of
the Parent Class, Student Plaintiffs, and membktiseoStudent Class who are LEP on
account of their race and/or national origin. Sachions are also contrary to 22 Pa. Code §
4.26 and state educational standard interpretati@eeBasic Educ. Circular.

134. 104-Wherefore, Parent Plaintiffs, members of the Pa@ass, Student
Plaintiffs, and members of the Student Class wieolL&P demand judgment in their favor and
against the District for declaratory and injunctiedief, as set forth herein.

Count Six: Violation of 22 Pennsylvania Code Chater 14
(On Behalf of the Student Class and Parent Class)

135. 105-Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphghisf Complaint as if set

forth in full herein.
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136. 2106-By failing to provide complete and timely transthtevaluations and re-
evaluations ten days prior to IEP team meetingspanake any attempt to interpret
evaluations at any time prior to the IEP team mestithe District has violated 22 Pa. Code
88 14.123 and 14.124.

137. 107-By its failure to provide sufficient oral interpation and complete and
timely translated IEP process documents, the Dishas violated and is continuing to violate
the IDEA and Chapter 14, especially the state’scational standards for special education.
20 U.S.C. § 1401(9)(A-D); 22 Pa. Code Chapter 24Pa. Code § 4.26.

138. 108-Wherefore, Parent Plaintiffs, members of the Pa@ass, Student
Plaintiffs, and members of the Student Class demaaiginent in their favor and against the
District for declaratory and injunctive relief, ast forth herein.

Count Seven: Violation of 22 Pennsylvania CodeHapter 15
(On Behalf of the Student Class and Parent Class)

139. 109-Plaintiffs incorporate the preceding paragraphghisf Complaint as if set
forth in full herein.

140. 110-By failing to provide complete and timely transthteegular education
forms as defined herein, including those for honsruction, the District has violated 22 Pa
Code Chapter 15.

141. 13ii-Wherefore, Parent Plaintiffs, members of the Pa@ass, Student
Plaintiffs, and members of the Student Class demaatginent in their favor and against the

District for declaratory and injunctive relief, ast forth herein.

88144459:1
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VIIl. RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court:

1.

2.

88144459:1

Assert jurisdiction over this matter and certife ttwo classes as defined herein.
Order that the District adopt and implement a nentten special education

plan and District policy to provide legally mandatiganslation and sufficient
interpretation services to members of the Pareas<Chnd the Student Class.
This policy shall delineate all documents to be pletely and timely translated
and the protocol for requesting and obtaining ledizss and interpretation
services.

Order that the District develop a method and wrifpeotocol to proactively
identify all LEP Parents who may need translatiod mterpretation services.
Order that the District timely translate and delia# IEP process documents to
all members of the Parent Class and the Studests @ls needed in the
appropriate native language in advance of IEP mgetio ensure meaningful
participation.

Order that the District notify all parents at tlme of enrollment of their right

to receive translated IEP process documents aadcpnetation services if their
child is entitled to services as a student withsaldlity. This notice shall be
provided in the parent’s native language if theepainotifies the District that he
or she does not read English but does read antathguage. Alternatively, if
the parent notifies the District that he or shesdoet read or speak English and

speaks a language that is not a written langudige notice and future
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88144459:1

communications shall be provided through sufficierdl interpretation, recorded
for the parent, and a copy of the recording praVitte the parent.

Order that, at any time a student becomes entitleah evaluation for special
education services pursuant to IDEA, or becomeslezhto a 504 Plan, the
District shall provide notice to the LEP parent atddent that they are
members of, respectively, the Parent Class an&thdent Class, and are
entitled to certain documents in his or her nalarguage pursuant to court
order.

Order that the District shall conduct evaluatioosdetermine eligibility for
special education services in the native langudgbeoLEP student to the
extent required by the IDEA and shall revise ite&g Education Plan and

policies accordingly.
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10.

11.

12.

88144459:1

Appoint Plaintiffs’ counsel to monitor the Ordelertified above.

After adjudication of the merits, award Plaintiffeeir costs and attorneys’ fees
for the underlying required due process administeatearings.

Award to Plaintiffs their costs and attorney fees the bringing of this action.
Retain jurisdiction over this matter until such ¢iras the District demonstrates
full compliance.

Grant such other and further relief as may be gust proper.
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Dated: August-2March 27 2015017

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Paul H. Saint-Antoine

Sonja Kerr (1.D. No. 95137)
Michael Churchill (1.D. No. 04661)

Dan Urevick-Ackelsberg (I.D. No. 307758)

PUBLIC INTEREST LAW CENTER
Y

1709 Benjamin Franklin Parkway
Second Floor

Philadelphia, PA 19103
Telephone: (215) 627-7100
Facsimile: (215) 627-3183
skermchurchil@pilcop.org
mehurehildackelsber@pilcop.org

Maura Mclnerney (I.D. No. 71468)
EDUCATION LAW CENTER

1315 Walnut Street, 4th Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19107
Telephone: 215-238-6970
mmcinerney@elc-pa.org

88144459:1

Paul H. Saint-Antoine (1.D. No. 56224)
Chanda A. Miller (1.D. No. 206491)
Aviva—H-—ReinfeldCarol F. Treveyl.D. No.
31440812087

Lucas B. Michelen (I.D. No. 318585)
DRINKER BIDDLE & REATH LLP
One Logan Square, Suite 2000
Philadelphia, PA 19103-6996
Telephone: (215) 988-2700
Facsimile: (215) 988-2757
paul.saint-antoine@dbr.com
chanda.miller@dbr.com
avivecarolreinfeldrevey@dbr.com
lucas.michelen@dbr.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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